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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

x  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011
or

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission File Number: 000-52811

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 77-0683487
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

10880 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 2150
Los Angeles, CA 90024
(424) 248-6500

(Address, including zip code, and telephone numbeincluding area code, of registrant’s principal exeutive offices)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which register¢
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per sl None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) tfie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405co8#turities Act. Yes™ No x
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes™ No x

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastié@s. Yesx No ~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lidisnitted electronically and posted on its corpokieb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted juntsto Rule 405 of Regulation 5¢8 232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gnonth
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). Yes No ~

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K it aontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgealdfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part IIl of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, @-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting

company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.

Large accelerated file ~ Accelerated file

Non-accelerated file (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar X
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantseell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the ActYyes © No x

State the aggregate market value of the votingnandvoting common equity held by non-affiliates garted by reference to the price at
which the common equity was last sold, or the ayetasid and asked price of such common equity, &lseofast business day of the registrant’s
most recently completed second fiscal quaitiet. applicable.

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of e&tiearegistrant’s classes of common stock, ab@fdtest practicable dat0,040,000
shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per shamgere outstanding as of March 23, 2012.



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Stamnt for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockholderkjol will be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission no later than 120 daysthieclose of the registrant’s fiscal year endeddénber 31, 2011, are incorporated by
reference in Part Il hereof.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statatsewithin the meaning of Section 27A of the SetgesiAct of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Seasiixchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exehaay Any statements about our
expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumgtin future events or performance are not hisbfacts and may be forward-looking. These
forward-looking statements include, but are noitieh to, statements about:

» the development of our drug candidates, includihgmwe expect to undertake, initiate and compliéteal trials of our product
candidates

» the regulatory approval of our drug candida

» our use of clinical research centers and othermraotars;

» our ability to find collaborative partners for raseh, development and commercialization of potéptieducts;
* our ability to market any of our produc

» our history of operating losse

e our expectations regarding our costs and expe

e our anticipated capital requirements and estimagarding our needs for additional financi
» our ability to compete against other companiesrasdarch institution:

» our ability to secure adequate protection for otellectual property

» our ability to attract and retain key personnef

» our ability to obtain adequate financir

These statements are often, but not always, madegh the use of words or phrases such as “ant&ipa@stimate,” “plan,” “project,”
“continuing,” “ongoing,” “expect,” “believe,” “intad” and similar words or phrases. Accordingly, thetatements involve estimates,
assumptions and uncertainties that could causalaetsults to differ materially from those expresgethem. Discussions containing these
forward-looking statements may be found throughbist Annual Report, including Part Il, the sectiamtitled “Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations.” These forward-looking stegats involve risks and uncertainties,
including the risks discussed in Item 1A of thisnAial Report, that could cause our actual resultifter materially from those in the forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligationpiate the forward-looking statements or to reféaents or circumstances after the date of
this document. The risks discussed in this Annwegddrt should be considered in evaluating our pratspend future financial performance.

Part |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Company Overview

The Company was originally incorporated in the &ttDelaware in April 2007 under the name “Inndx@tAcquisitions Corp.”
Innovative Acquisitions Corp. was a “shell” comparygistered under the Exchange Act with no spebifisiness plan or purpose until it
acquired Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a privately-Hetdaware corporation, or Puma, through a revemeyer transaction, or the Merger, on
October 4, 2011. Puma, a development-stage compasyformed in September 2010 to focus primarilyaoquiring and developing
pharmaceutical technologies. As a result of thegderPuma became our wholly-owned subsidiary. Iniately following the Merger, Puma
merged with and into us, leaving us as the surgigiorporation. As a result of this subsequent Mergethe Short-Form Merger, we changed
our name to “Puma Biotechnology, Inafid adopted the business of Puma. The Merger wasiaied for as a reverse acquisition with Pun
the



Table of Contents

accounting acquirer and IAC as the accounting aequiThe merger of a private operating companyarmon-operating public shell
corporation with nominal net assets is consideodaeta capital transaction, in substance, rattzar ghbusiness combination, for accounting
purposes.

Unless otherwise provided in this Annual Repoffgmences to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “oweéfer to Puma Biotechnology, Inc.
Delaware corporation formed on April 27, 2007 aodrferly known as Innovative Acquisitions Corp., atlideferences to “Puma” refer to
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a privately-held Delaweoeporation formed on September 15, 2010, pri@iting effect to the Merger and the
Short-Form Merger.

We are a developmestage biopharmaceutical company that acquires enelaps innovative products for the treatment ofotes forms
of cancer. We focus on in-licensing drug candidétes are undergoing or have already completethirlinical testing for the treatment of
cancer and then seek to further develop those ciindidates for commercial use. We currently liceghserights to three drug candidates:

» PB272 (neratinib (oral)), which we are developiogthe treatment of advanced breast cancer paaetgastric cancer patien
* PB272 (neratinib (intravenous)), which we are depig for the treatment of advanced cancer patiamis

« PB357, which we believe can serve as a backup contbto PB272, and which we plan to evaluate fathierrdevelopment in
2012.

We are initially focused on developing neratinib tioe treatment of patients with human epidermaigh factor receptor type 2, or
HERZ2, positive metastatic breast cancer. Studiew shat approximately 20% to 25% of breast cangerars have an over-expression of the
HER?2 protein. Women with breast cancer that ovgresses HER?2, referred to as HER?2 positive breamster, are at greater risk for disease
progression and death than women whose tumors tdoveoexpress HER2. Therapeutic strategies, such assthefurastuzumab, or Hercey
produced by Genentech, given in combination withnesbtherapy have been developed to improve theresdtof this cancer by blocking
HER2. Based on pre-clinical and clinical studieglate, we believe that neratinib may offer an athge over existing treatments by more
potently inhibiting HER?2 at a different site andngsa different mechanism than trastuzumab.

Data from a recently completed Phase Il clinical of neratinib administered as a single agematients with HER2 positive metastatic
breast cancer demonstrated an objective respotesefrad% and median Progression Free SurvivadlR®8, of 22.3 weeks for patients who |
previously been treated with trastuzumab, and gectiee response rate of 56% and median PFS of\88eks for patients who had not
previously been treated with trastuzumab. Additignalata from over 3,000 patients treated withati@ib, either as a single agent or in
combination with other antiancer drugs, also suggests a manageable saféitg.ddearrhea has been the most common side effedtappeal
to be manageable with antidiarrheal agents and mhoskfication.

We license the exclusive worldwide rights to ourrent drug candidates from Pfizer Inc., or Pfizejch had previously been respons
for the clinical trials regarding neratinib. We expto modify Pfizer’s clinical development strateand during the next 12 to 18 months plan
to:

» commence Phase Il clinical trials evaluating the afsneratinib in combination with chemotherapy atfier anti-cancer drugs as a
second or thir-line treatment for HER2 positive breast can

» initiate Phase Il clinical trials to evaluate theewf neratinib for the treatment of HER2 positiiastric cancer; an

» continue to evaluate the application of neratinilthie treatment of other forms of HER resistanteasm where there may be unmet
medical needs

Our President and Chief Executive Officer, or CB@n Auerbach has extensive experience in idemtifyaind developing drug
candidates for use in the treatment of cancer. betive founder and CEO of Cougar
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Biotechnology, Inc., or Cougar, where he was resjida for in-licensing and developing abirateronetate for the treatment of advanced
prostate cancer. Mr. Auerbach progressed abiragesoatate into two Phase Il clinical trials bef@®ugar was purchased by Johnson &
Johnson in 2009.

Our executive offices are located at 10880 WilsBioeilevard, Suite 2150, Los Angeles, California2000ur telephone number is (424) 248-
6500 and our internet addressvew.pumabiotechnology.com

Our Strategy
Our strategy is to become a leading oncology-fodusepharmaceutical company. The key elements péwategy are as follows:

» Advance PB272 (neratinib (oral)), our lead drug datate, toward regulatory approval and commerciatian. We are primarily
focused on developing neratinib for the treatmématients with HER2 positive metastatic breastteanWe plan to modify the
previous clinical development strategy that Pfeeployed by focusing our planned Phase Il and Phiasknical trials on the use
of neratinib as a second- or third-line treatmegtiam, which we believe may be underserved by cutreatment alternatives and
where clinical trials have shown substantial lewélactivity.

» Expand our product pipeline by pursuing additioapplications of neratinil. We believe there are additional applications
neratinib in HER2 positive gastric cancer, whichalso believe may be underserved by current traataiternatives, and tumor
types where HER2 is ov-expressed, and we intend to further evaluate tleysand efficacy of neratinib for treating thesmcers

» Focus on developing innovative cancer thera. We focus on oncology drug candidates in ordeagture efficiencies ar
economies of scale. We believe that drug developfioercancer markets is particularly attractive dese relatively small clinical
trials can provide meaningful information regardpagient response and safety. Furthermore, weuveetteat our capabilities are
well suited to the oncology market and represestirdit competitive advantage

» Build a sustainable pipeline by employing multiflerapeutic approaches and disciplined decisiotecia based on clearly define
proof of principal goal:. We seek to build a sustainable product pipelyneraploying multiple therapeutic approaches and by
acquiring drug candidates belonging to known diagses. In addition, we employ disciplined decigidteria to assess drug
candidates, favoring drug candidates that havergode at least some clinical study. Our decisiolicense a drug candidate will
also depend on the scientific merits of the tecbgyl the costs of the transaction and other econtenins of the proposed license;
the amount of capital required to develop the tetidgy; and the economic potential of the drug cdatd, should it be
commercialized. We believe this strategy minimiaasclinical development risk and allows us to deede the development and
potential commercialization of current and futuragicandidates. We intend to pursue regulatorya@bfor a majority of our dru
candidates in multiple indication

» Evaluate the commercialization strategies on a pit-by-product basis in order to maximize the valueaxth.As we move our
drug candidates through development toward regylapproval, we will evaluate several options facte drug candidate’s
commercialization strategy. These options includiding our own internal sales force; entering iatint marketing partnership
with another pharmaceutical company or biotechnplomgmpany, whereby we jointly sell and market thedpict; and out-licensing
our product, whereby another pharmaceutical compatyotechnology company sells and markets oudgecband pays us a
royalty on sales. Our decision will be made sepdydor each product and will be based on a nunobéactors including capital
necessary to execute on each option, size of thkemthat needs to be addressed and terms of paitefiers from other
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. tiasearly for us to know which of these options wk pursue for our drug
candidates, assuming their successful developr
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Product Development Pipeline
Breast Cancer Overview

Breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer éeadimg women worldwide, with approximately 1 millioeaw cases reported each year
and more than 400,000 deaths per year. Approxign2@®¥ to 25% of breast cancer tumors show overesgion of the HER2 protein. Women
with breast cancer that overexpresses HER2 aneateg risk for disease progression and deathwimainen whose tumors do not over-express
HER2. Therapeutic strategies have been developeldt& HER2 in order to improve the treatment a$ tancer.

Trastuzumab is a monoclonal antibody that binds¢oHER?2 protein and thereby causes the cellsaseceeproducing. Trastuzumab
given in combination with chemotherapy is the coritandard of care for HER2 positive metastatgabt cancer. Unfortunately, most patients
with HER2 positive breast cancer eventually devebgistance to this treatment, resulting in disgasgression. For these reasons, there is a
need for alternatives to block HER2 signaling itigrats who fail trastuzumab. PB272 is an orallynacsmall molecule that inhibits HER2 at a
different site and uses a different mechanism trestuzumab. As a result, we believe that PB272 naaye utility in patients with HER2
positive metastatic breast cancer who have failestment with trastuzumab.

PB272 (neratinib (oral))—Breast Cancer

Neratinib is a potent irreversible tyrosine kinasbitor, or TKI, that blocks signal transductithrough the epidermal growth factor
receptors, or EGFRs, HER1, HER2 and HER4. We beli@ratinib has clinical application in the treatinef several cancers, including breast
cancer and gastric cancer and other tumor typeotesexpress HER2. Our initial focus is on thealepment of neratinib as an oral treatment
of patients with HER2 positive metastatic breasicea.

Advantages of Neratinib

Based on pre-clinical and clinical studies to dete believe that neratinib may offer an advantager existing treatments that are used in
the treatment of patients with HER2 positive mettistoreast cancer who have failed first-line tpgrancluding treatment with trastuzumab.
Currently, the treatment of metastatic breast capatents who have failed first-line therapy witastuzumab involves continuing treatment
with trastuzumab and chemotherapy. We believelthamore potently inhibiting HER2 at a differentesééind using a different mechanism than
trastuzumab, neratinib may have potential advastager these existing treatments, most notablytalits increased selectivity and stronger
inhibition of the HER2 target enzyme.

Clinical Trials of Neratinib in Patientsith Metastatic Breast Cancer

Trials of Neratinib as a Single Aget. 2009, Pfizer presented data at the CTRC-AACR Aatonio Breast Cancer Symposium from a
Phase Il trial of neratinib administered as a @rggient to patients with HER2 positive metastat@st cancer. Final results from this trial w
published in theddournal of Clinical Oncologyn March 2010.

The trial involved a total of 136 patients, 66 dfam had received prior treatment with trastuzunrab @ of whom had not received
prior treatment with trastuzumab. The results efstudy showed that neratinib was reasonably wigtdted among both the pretreated pati
and the patients who had not received prior treatwéth trastuzumab. Diarrhea was the most comnida esffect, but was manageable with
antidiarrheal agents and dose modification. Effycasults from the trial showed that the objectiegponse rate was 24% for patients who had
received prior trastuzumab treatment and 56% ftepts with no prior trastuzumab treatment. Furhane, the median PFS was 22.3 weeks
for the patients who had received prior trastuzuanath 39.6 weeks for the patients who had not redeprior trastuzumab.
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Trials of Neratinib in Combination with Other Ar@iancer Drugsin 2010, at the San Antonio Breast Cancer SymposRfiner
presented data from Phase Il trials of neratinienvbgiven in combination with other anti-cancer drtigat are currently used for the treatment
of HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer. Oned”hdsal evaluated the safety and efficacy ofaimib given in combination with the anti-
cancer drug paclitaxel in patients with HER2 pesitinetastatic breast cancer. The results presshtaded that for the 66 patients in the trial
who had previously been treated with at least aite ine of therapy, the combination of neratimifih paclitaxel was shown to have a
favorable safety profile that was similar to theieach drug when given alone. The efficacy redubts the trial demonstrated an objective
response rate of 74% and PFS of 63.1 weeks.

Pfizer also presented data from a second Phasal lat the 2010 San Antonio Breast Cancer Symmoswhich evaluated the safety and
efficacy of neratinib when given in combination kvthe antiecancer drug vinorelbine in patients with HER2 pesiimetastatic breast cancer
the 56 patients who had not been previously treatddthe anti-HER2 therapy lapatinib, treatmenttvthe combination of vinorelbine plus
neratinib resulted in an overall response rate7éb 5For those patients who had received priorimeat with lapatinib, the overall response
was 50%. The combination of vinorelbine and neflatimas generally well tolerated.

Data from a third Phase Il study, in which patiemith confirmed ErbB2+ (HER2+) metastatic breastasa who had failed treatment
with trastuzumab and taxane chemotherapy were ghB#v?2 in combination with capecitabine, was presgbat the 2011 San Antonio Breast
Cancer Symposium. The results of the study shohaithe combination of PB272 and capecitabine lcadable tolerability. The efficacy
results from the trial showed that for the 61 paten the trial who had not been previously trdatéth the HER2 targeted anticancer drug
lapatinib, there was an overall response rate & 64d a clinical benefit rate of 72%. In additifor, the seven patients in the trial who had
previously been treated with lapatinib, there wagwerall response rate of 57% and a clinical bierete of 71%. The median PFS for patients
who had not received prior treatment with lapatinds 40.3 weeks and the median PFS for the patiérashad received prior lapatinib
treatment was 35.9 weeks.

In 2010, Pfizer also initiated a Phase I/l trikheratinib in combination with the anti-cancer gltemsirolimus, or Torisel, in patients
with HER2 positive metastatic breast cancer whaeHailed multiple prior treatments. The study eletlpatients with either HER2 positive
metastatic breast cancer and disease progressimastazumab or with triple negative breast cance?011, the preliminary Phase Il results
this trial were presented at the San Antonio Br€asicer Symposium. The results of the study shdhettthe combination of PB272 and
temsirolimus had acceptable tolerability. The effig results from the trial showed that for the afignts with HER2 positive disease, 9
patients, or 60%, experienced a partial respondel gratient, or 7%, experienced stable diseasgréater than 6 months, which translates to a
clinical benefit rate of 67%. Patients who expecetha partial response to the combination of natafilus temsirolimus demonstrated a
maximum change in the size of their target lesaizetween 33% and 83%. None of the 5 patients trijtke negative breast cancer
demonstrated a partial response or stable diseagedater than 6 months. We expect additional flata this trial to be presented in 2012. "
National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Prgj@ctNSABP is also running a separate Phase | stfidgratinib given in combination wi
the anticancer drug paclitaxel and the anticanogg trastuzumab in patients who have failed mudtyiior regimens. We anticipate that data
from this trial will be presented in 2012.

In 2010, Pfizer, in collaboration with the NSABPglaical trials cooperative group supported by Neional Cancer Institute, or NCI,
initiated a study to investigate the use of neiatas a neoadjuvant (preoperative) therapy for pelidgnosed HER2 positive breast cancer. In
this trial, patients are randomized to receiveegitieratinib plus the chemotherapy drug paclitaxetastuzumab plus paclitaxel prior to having
surgery to remove their tumors. The purpose ofghigly is to test whether adding neratinib to paxél chemotherapy is better than
trastuzumab plus paclitaxel chemotherapy beforénlgasurgery. We anticipate that this trial will bedified in 2012 to include a third
treatment arm where patients will receive the coration of neratinib plus trastuzumab plus paclitgx®r to having surgery to remove their
tumors. We anticipate that enroliment in all thaeens of this trial will continue in 2012.

5
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Also in 2010, the Foundation for the National IngBs of Health initiated the I-SPY 2 TRIAL (Inviggttion of Serial Studies to Predict
Your Therapeutic Response with Imaging and Molec@italysis 2). Patients with newly diagnosed HERZifive breast cancer are
randomized to receive either neratinib plus thenabtberapy drug paclitaxel or trastuzumab plus p@ad prior to having surgery to remove
their tumors (neoadjuvant therapy). The purposiisfstudy is to test whether adding neratinibdoljpaxel chemotherapy is better than
trastuzumab plus paclitaxel chemotherapy beforénlgasurgery. We anticipate that this trial will bedified in 2012 to include a third
treatment arm where patients will receive the coratidn of neratinib plus trastuzumab plus paclitgxsr to having surgery to remove their
tumors. We anticipate that enrollment in all thaems of this trial will continue in 2012.

Discontinued Studie®fizer had previously been sponsoring two additiafinical trials of neratinib. The first trial, ferred to as the
NEfERTT ™trial, was a Phase Il randomized trial of neratinitombination with the anti-cancer drug paclifaxersus trastuzumab in
combination with paclitaxel for the treatment ofipats who have not received previous treatmenHBR2 positive metastatic breast cancer.
The second trial, referred to as the ExteNET tvi@s a Phase Il study investigating the effectseshitinib after adjuvant trastuzumab in
patients with early stage breast cancer. On Octop2011, we announced that enrollment in the EkfENial was terminated and that both the
NEfERTT and the ExteNET trials were going to be ndulown. We are responsible for any activities eiséed with winding down these tri
during 2012 and beyond.

PB272 (neratinib (intravenous))

We also plan to develop neratinib as an intravelyaadministered agent. In pre-clinical studiesititeavenous version of neratinib
resulted in higher exposure levels of neratiniprie-clinical models. We believe that this may resuhigher blood levels of neratinib in
patients, which may translate into better efficatAe plan to file the Investigational New Drug apption, or IND, for the intravenous
formulation of neratinib in 2012.

PB357

PB357 is an orally administered agent that is savarsible TKI that blocks signal transduction thgb the epidermal growth factor
receptors, HER1, HER2, and HER4. PB357 is struttyusamilar to PB272. Pfizer completed single dédease | trials of PB357. We are
evaluating PB357 and considering options relativiistdevelopment in 2012.

Plan of Development

We plan to conduct additional clinical trials ofratnib in patients with HER2 positive metastatiedst cancer over the next 12 to 18
months. In one trial we plan to further investigdtte efficacy of neratinib when given in combinatiwith chemotherapy in patients with HER2
positive metastatic breast cancer who have prelyjidieen treated with at least one prior line oatmeent. In another, we plan to investigate the
efficacy of neratinib in patients with HER2 poséimetastatic breast cancer with brain metastasesviialso continue the ongoing trial of
neratinib in combination with the anti-cancer dtemsirolimus in patients with HER2 positive met#isthreast cancer.

We also plan to conduct a Phase Il clinical triaheratinib in HER2 positive metastatic gastric @ampatients during 2012.

Clinical Testing of Our Products in Development

Each of our products in development, and likelyf@tlire drug candidates we in-license, will requrtensive pre-clinical and clinical
testing to determine the safety and efficacy ofptfauct applications prior to seeking and obtajnmiegulatory approval. This process is
expensive and time consuming. In completing theakst we are dependent upon third-party consigtasgnsisting mainly of investigators and
collaborators, who will conduct such trials.
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We and our third-party consultants conduct preicdintesting in accordance with Good LaboratorycBeas, or GLP, and clinical testing
in accordance with Good Clinical Practice standand$sCP, which are international ethical and ddfierquality standards utilized for pre-
clinical and clinical testing, respectively. GCRhe standard for the design, conduct, performamoajtoring, auditing, recording, analysis ¢
reporting of clinical trials, and is required byetb.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, tofokkowed in conducting clinical trials.
Additionally, our pre-clinical and clinical testirgpmpleted in the European Union is conducted aoatance with applicable EU standards,
such as the EU Clinical Trials Directive (Directi2801/20/EC of April 4, 2001), or the EU Clinicalidls Directive, and the national laws of
the Member Estates of the EU implementing its miowvis.

Competition

The development and commercialization of new prigitatreat cancer is highly competitive, and wpest considerable competition
from major pharmaceutical, biotechnology and spsc@ancer companies. As a result, there are alidikély continue to be extensive
research and substantial financial resources iadéastthe discovery and development of new canaedyzts. Our potential competitors
include, but are not limited to, Genentech, Glax@BKline, Roche, Boehringer Ingelheim, Takeda, ArBiopharma and Ambit Biosciences.
We are an early-stage company with no history efrafions and we only recently acquired the righthe drug candidates we expect to
develop. Many of our competitors have substantiagre resources than we do, including both findrasid technical. In addition, many of our
competitors have more experience than we haveektlprical and clinical development, manufacturirggulatory and global
commercialization. We are also competing with aosidénstitutions, governmental agencies and priagnizations that are conducting
research in the field of cancer. We anticipate #atvill face intense competition.

We expect that our products under developmentmactnical trials will address major markets withire cancer sector. Our competition
will be determined in part by the potential indioas for which drugs are developed and ultimatglgraved by regulatory
authorities. Additionally, the timing of market intluction of some of our potential products or @ihpetitors’ products may be an important
competitive factor. Accordingly, the speed with atiwe can develop products, complete pre-cliniestithg, clinical trials and approval
processes, and supply commercial quantities to enane expected to be important competitive facks expect that competition among
products approved for sale will be based on varfao®rs, including product efficacy, safety, rbilay, availability, price, reimbursement and
patent position.

Intellectual Property and License Agreements

We hold a worldwide exclusive license under ougrise agreement with Pfizer to four granted UnitedeS, or U.S., patents and nine
pending U.S. patent applications, as well as foremunterparts thereof and other patent applicatéon patents claiming priority therefrom.

In the U.S., we have a license to an issued patgnth currently will expire in 2025, for the congition of matter of neratinib, our lead
compound. We have a license to an issued U.S. tpadgaring a family of compounds including nerdiiras well as equivalent patents in the
European Union and Japan, that currently expi0it9. We also have a license to an issued U.Sntpfatethe use of neratinib in the treatment
of breast cancer, which currently expires in 2@#% an issued U.S. polymorph patent for neratintidich currently expires in 2028. In
jurisdictions which permit such, we will seek patarm extensions where possible for certain ofgatents. We plan to pursue additio
patents in and outside the U.S. covering addititedapeutic uses and polymorphs of neratinib ftloese existing applications. In addition,
will pursue patent protection for any new discogerdr inventions made in the course of our devetayiraf neratinib.

If we obtain marketing approval for neratinib ohet drug candidates in the U.S. or in certain flicisons outside the U.S., we may be
eligible for regulatory protection, such as fiveayg of new chemical entity
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exclusivity, and as mentioned above, up to fiveryed patent term extension potentially availabl¢hie United States under the Hatch-
Waxman Act. In addition, eight to 11 years of datal marketing exclusivity potentially are availafile new drugs in the European Union; up
to five years of patent extension are potentialigilable in Europe (Supplemental Protection Cexdife), and eight years of data exclusivity are
potentially available in Japan. There can be narasse that we will qualify for any such regulatewclusivity, or that any such exclusivity

will prevent competitors from seeking approval ol the basis of their own studies. See “Goveminegulation” below.

Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce papeatection for our products, formulations, procasseethods and other proprietary
technologies, preserve our trade secrets, and tepgithout infringing on the proprietary rights ather parties, both in the United States and in
other countries. Our policy is to actively seelobtain, where appropriate, the broadest intelldgit@perty protection possible for our current
product candidates and any future product candidateprietary information and proprietary techmgidthrough a combination of contractual
arrangements and patents, both in the United Saagsibroad. However, even patent protection maglaays afford us with complete
protection against competitors who seek to circumheer patents. See “Risk Factors—Risks Relatéduolntellectual Property—Our
proprietary rights may not adequately protect otellectual property and potential products, andéfcannot obtain adequate protection of our
intellectual property and potential products, weymat be able to successfully market our potemtiatiucts.”

We depend upon the skills, knowledge and experieficer scientific and technical personnel, as aslthat of our advisors, consultants
and other contractors, none of which is patentdlehelp protect our proprietary know-how, whicm@ patentable, and inventions for which
patents may be difficult to obtain or enforce, Wl on trade secret protection and confidentiaijyeements to protect our interests. To this
end, we require all of our employees, consultadsjsors and other contractors to enter into cemtfiglity agreements that prohibit the
disclosure of confidential information and, whepplicable, require disclosure and assignment tof tise ideas, developments, discoveries
inventions important to our business.

License Agreements

In August 2011, Puma entered into an agreementigant$o which Pfizer agreed to grant to Puma advade license for the
development, manufacture and commercializationeo&tinib (oral), neratinib (intravenous), PB357d @ertain related compounds. Pursual
the terms of the license, it would not become éffecuntil Puma closed a capital raising transactiowhich it raised at least $25 million in
aggregate net proceeds and had a net worth cdisit$22.5 million. Upon the closing of the finangihat preceded the Merger, this condition
was satisfied.

We assumed the license, in accordance with itsgeimthe Merger. The license is exclusive wittpezs to certain patent rights owned or
licensed by Pfizer. Under the license agreemeizePis obligated to transfer to us certain infotim®, records, regulatory filings, materials ¢
inventory controlled by Pfizer and relating to eetul for developing these compounds, and to caatto conduct certain ongoing clinical
studies until a certain time. After that time, we abligated to continue such studies pursuant tapgproved development plan, at our expense,
including after the license agreement terminatesdfasons unrelated to Pfizer’s breach of the §eeagreement, subject to certain specified
exceptions. We are also obligated to commence acfimigal trial for a product containing one of gsecompounds within a specified period of
time and use commercially reasonable efforts topteta such trial and achieve certain milestongzragided in a development plan. If certain
of our out-of-pocket costs in completing such stsdixceed a mutually agreed amount, Pfizer willfpagertain additional out-of-pocket costs
to complete such studies. We must use commercigdiyonable efforts to develop and commercializeysts containing these compounds in
specified major-market countries and other coustinewvhich we believe it is commercially reasonablelevelop and commercialize such
products.

As consideration for the license, we are requicechéke payments totaling $187.5 million upon thiei@ement of certain milestones if
all such milestones are achieved. Should we conialeee any of the
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compounds licensed from Pfizer or any productsaiointg any of these compounds, we will be obligdteday to Pfizer incremental annual
royalties between approximately 10% and 20% ofaéds of all such products, subject to certaincdos and offsets in some circumstances.
Our royalty obligation continues, on a product-bgguct and country-by-country basis, until thedati(i) the last to expire licensed patent
covering the applicable licensed product in suamtry, or (ii) the earlier of generic competitiocor such licensed product reaching a certain
level of sales in such country or expiration okatain time period after first commercial sale ofls licensed product in such country. In the
event that we sublicense the rights granted tondeiuthe license agreement with Pfizer to a thadyp the same milestone and royalty
payments are required.

We can terminate the license agreement at wilhgttieme after April 4, 2013 or for safety concerimsgach case upon specified advance
notice. Each party may terminate the license agee¢ihthe other party fails to cure any breacla ofiaterial obligation by such other party
within a specified time period. Pfizer may termin#te license agreement in the event of our bamgyupeceivership, insolvency or similar
proceeding. The license agreement contains ottstommary clauses and terms as are common in siagl@ements in the industry.

Government Regulation
United States—FDA Process

The research, development, testing, manufactuselitey, promotion, advertising, distribution andriketing, among other things, of drug
products are extensively regulated by governmenttiorities in the United States and other cousittiethe United States, the FDA regulates
drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmeticok¢he FDCA, and its implementing regulationailére to comply with the applicable
U.S. requirements may subject us to administratijedicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to apprpending New Drug Application, or
NDAs, warning letters, fines, civil penalties, puootl recalls, product seizures, total or partiapsusion of production or distributio
injunctions and/or criminal prosecution.

Drug Approval ProcessNone of our drug product candidates may be meadkiet the United States until the drug has recer2a
approval. The steps required before a drug maydr&eted in the United States generally includefoliewing:

» completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratoryt¢egnimal studies, and formulation studies in ataoce with the FDA’'s GLP
regulations

* submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinieagting, which must become effective before humiical trials may begin

« performance of adequate and well-controlled hunfiaical trials to establish the safety and efficafythe drug for each proposed
indication;

» submission to the FDA of an NDA after completioratifpivotal clinical trials;

» satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval xsipon of the manufacturing facility or facilities which the active

pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, and finishedgdouoduct are produced and tested to assess comgheth current Good
Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs; ¢

» FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any aomercial marketing or sale of the drug in the UniBtdtes

The development and approval process requiresasuiattime, effort and financial resources, andoaenot be certain that any
approvals for our product candidates will be grdmie a timely basis, if at all.

Pre<linical tests include laboratory evaluation of gwot chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as wedlanimal studies. The conduct of
pre-clinical tests and formulation of the compoufatgesting must comply with federal regulatiomglaequirements. The results of the pre-
clinical tests, together with manufacturing
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information and analytical data, are submittechEDA as part of an IND, which must become effechiefore human clinical trials may
begin. An IND will automatically become effectiv® 8ays after receipt by the FDA, unless beforetiha the FDA raises concerns or
guestions about the conduct of the trial, such lastiaeer human research subjects will be exposed tmeeasonable health risk. In such a case,
the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any ontiitey FDA concerns or questions before clinical$rican proceed. The Company cannot
be sure that submission of an IND will result ie DA allowing clinical trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve administration of the int&gational drug to human subjects under the supemwiof qualified investigators. Clinic
trials are conducted under protocols detailingabjectives of the study, the parameters to be usatbnitoring safety and the effectiveness
criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must be&idea to the FDA as part of a separate submissidhe IND. Further, an Internal Review
Board, or IRB, for each medical center proposingdoduct the clinical trial must review and apprtive study protocol and informed consent
information for study subjects for any clinicaldrbefore it commences at that center, and it mastitor the study until it is completed. Study
subjects must sign an informed consent form bgfaréicipating in a clinical trial.

Clinical trials necessary for product approval tgliy are conducted in three sequential phaseghbythases may overlap. Phase |
usually involves the initial introduction of theviestigational drug into a limited population, tyglly healthy humans, to evaluate its short-term
safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism, pharmacassnatd pharmacologic actions, and, if possiblgaioa an early indication of its
effectiveness. Phase Il usually involves trialg iimited patient population to (i) evaluate dostgerance and appropriate dosage; (ii) identify
possible adverse effects and safety risks; ande(ijluate preliminarily the efficacy of the drugg Epecific targeted indications. Multiple Phase
I clinical trials may be conducted by the spongoobtain information prior to beginning larger amdre expensive Phase Il clinical trials.
Phase Il trials, commonly referred to as pivotatiges, are undertaken in an expanded patient ptpalat multiple, geographically dispersed
clinical trial centers to further evaluate cliniedficacy and test further for safety by using dineg in its final form. There can be no assurance
that Phase |, Phase Il or Phase Il testing wiltbepleted successfully within any specified peddme, if at all. Furthermore, the Compa
the FDA or an IRB may suspend clinical trials ag #me on various grounds, including a finding tHa subjects or patients are being exposed
to an unacceptable health risk. Moreover, the FD&y mpprove an NDA for a product candidate, butireghat the sponsor conduct additio
clinical trials to further assess the drug afterAN&pproval under a post-approval commitment. Pppraval trials are typically referred to as
Phase IV clinical trials.

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgaen an opportunity to meet with the FDA at certpoints. These points may be
prior to submission of an IND, at the end of Phasand before an NDA is submitted. Meetings ateottimes may be requested. These
meetings can provide an opportunity for the spotsshare information about the data gathered t®, dar the FDA to provide advice, and for
the sponsor and the FDA to reach an agreementeonetkt phase of development. Sponsors typicalljthesend of Phase Il meeting to discuss
their Phase Il clinical results and present thking for the pivotal Phase 11l clinical trial ththey believe will support approval of the new drug.
If a Phase Ill clinical trial is the subject of disssion at an end of Phase Il meeting with the FD#ponsor may be able to request a Special
Protocol Assessment, or SPA. The purpose of wisith reach an agreement with the FDA on the desigime Phase Il clinical trial protocol
design and analysis that will form the primary badian efficacy claim. If such an agreement ighed, it will be documented and made part
of the administrative record, and it will be bingian the FDA unless public health concerns unreizegnat the time of the protocol assessr
are evident, and may not be changed except unfégsy specific circumstances.

Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usuabmplete additional animal safety studies and ralsst develop additional information
about the chemistry and physical characteristidgh@fdrug and finalize a process for manufactuttiregproduct in accordance with cGMP
requirements. The manufacturing process must babdapf consistently producing quality batcheshef drug candidate and the manufacturer
must develop
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methods for testing the quality, purity and potentthe final drugs. Additionally, appropriate paging must be selected and tested and
stability studies must be conducted to demonstheethe drug candidate does not undergo unacdepdaterioration over its shelflife.

Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdihtesting, the results of pre-clinical studiesl f clinical studies, together with
other detailed information, including information the manufacture and composition of the drugsatemitted to the FDA in the form of an
NDA requesting approval to market the product fioe @r more indications. An NDA must be accompaibigd significant user fee, which
waived for the first NDA submitted by a qualifyisghall business.

The testing and approval process requires subataintie, effort and financial resources. The ageesyews the application and may
deem it to be inadequate to support the registratind companies cannot be sure that any appraldengranted on a timely basis, if at all.
The FDA may also refer the application to the appgede advisory committee, typically a panel ofidians, for review, evaluation and a
recommendation as to whether the application shioaldpproved. The FDA is not bound by the recommmas of the advisory committee,
but it typically follows such recommendations.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA usually will ingppehe facility or the facilities at which the drigmanufactured and will not appre¢
the product unless the manufacturing is in compkanith cGMPs. If the FDA evaluates the NDA and enufacturing facilities are deemed
acceptable, the FDA may issue an approval lettédn some cases an approvable letter followed bgpgroval letter. Both letters usually
contain a number of conditions that must be metrder to secure final approval of the NDA. When #rtlose conditions have been met to
FDA's satisfaction, the FDA will issue an approledter. The approval letter authorizes commerciatkating of the drug for specific
indications. As a condition of NDA approval, the &ADnhay require post-marketing testing and survedé&ato monitor the drug’s safety or
efficacy, or impose other conditions.

The FDA may deny approval of an NDA by issuing antete Response Letter if the applicable regulatoitgria are not satisfied. A
Complete Response Letter may require additionaloal data and/or additional pivotal Phase Il ida trial(s), and/or other significant,
expensive and time-consuming requirements relatetirtical trials, pre-clinical studies or manufadhg. Data from clinical trials are not
always conclusive and the FDA may interpret datizdintly than we or our collaborators interpretadalternatively, approval may occur w
Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies, or REM&jch limit the labeling, distribution or promoti®f a drug product. Once issued, the
FDA may withdraw product approval if ongoing regaly requirements are not met or if safety problewmsur after the product reaches the
market. In addition, the FDA may require testimgluding Phase IV clinical trials, and surveillamregrams to monitor the safety effects of
approved products that have been commercializebttrenFDA has the power to prevent or limit furthearketing of a product based on the
results of these post-marketing programs or ottiferrination.

Expedited Review and Approvahe FDA has various programs, including Fast Traciarity review and accelerated approval, whicé
intended to expedite or simplify the process foig@ing drugs, and/or provide for approval on tlaaib of surrogate endpoints. Even if a drug
qualifies for one or more of these programs, thé\Fay later decide that the drug no longer meetsctinditions for qualification or that the
time period for FDA review or approval will be skemed. Generally, drugs that may be eligible festhprograms are those for serious or life-
threatening conditions, those with the potentisdddress unmet medical needs, and those thatro#faningful benefits over existing
treatments. For example, Fast Track is a procesigrd to facilitate the development and expeti¢eréview of drugs to treat serious diseases
and fill an unmet medical need. Priority reviewdesigned to give drugs that offer major advancesegtment or provide a treatment where no
adequate therapy exists an initial review withireionths as compared to a standard review tim@® efdnths. Although Fast Track and
priority review do not affect the standards for epual, the FDA will attempt to facilitate early afr@quent meetings with a sponsor of a Fast
Track designated drug and expedite review of thmieation for a
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drug designated for priority review. Accelerategagval provides an earlier approval of drugs tatserious diseases, and to fill an unmet
medical need based on a surrogate endpoint, whiahaboratory measurement or physical sign used a&sdirect or substitute measurement
representing a clinically meaningful outcome. Asoadition of approval, the FDA may require thaparssor of a drug receiving accelerated
approval perform post-marketing clinical trials.

Post-Approval Requirement©ftentimes, even after a drug has been approydkedbFDA for sale, the FDA may require that certai
post-approval requirements be satisfied, includirggconduct of additional clinical studies. In didfi, certain changes to an approved product,
such as adding new indications, making certain r@amuring changes, or making certain additionaélady claims, are subject to further FDA
review and approval. Before a company can markadymts for additional indications, it must obtaddaional approvals from the FDA,
typically a new NDA. Obtaining approval for a nemdication generally requires that additional clatistudies be conducted. A company
cannot be sure that any additional approval for melications for any product candidate will be apfad on a timely basis, or at all.

If post-approval conditions are not satisfied, Ffi®A may withdraw its approval of the drug. In adutit holders of an approved NDA are
required to (i) report certain adverse reactionhéoFDA and maintain pharmacovigilance progranmart@actively look for these adverse
events; (ii) comply with certain requirements camigg advertising and promotional labeling for thgioducts; and (iii) continue to have
quality control and manufacturing procedures canfte cGMPs after approval. The FDA periodicallygasts the sponsor’s records related to
safety reporting and/or manufacturing facilitidgstlatter effort includes assessment of ongoinga@nce with cGMPs. Accordingly,
manufacturers must continue to expend time, moneyeffort in the area of production and quality ttohto maintain cGMP compliance. We
intend to use third-party manufacturers to produseproducts in clinical and commercial quantit@sd future FDA inspections may identify
compliance issues at the facilities of our contraahufacturers that may disrupt production or ifigtion, or require substantial resources to
correct. In addition, discovery of problems withraduct after approval may result in restrictionsaoproduct, manufacturer or holder of an
approved NDA, including recall of the product frehe market or withdrawal of approval of the NDA fbat drug.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivitgpending upon the timing, duration and specificBI@A approval of the use of our
drugs, some of our U.S. patents may be eligibldifiited patent term extension under the Drug P@oepetition and Patent Term Restora
Act of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amesithst The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a pagstoration term of up to five
years as compensation for patent term lost dunindyxt development and the FDA regulatory revieacpss. However, patent term restore
cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyotudal of 14 years from the product’s approvaed@he patent term restoration period is
generally one-half the time between the effectiggedf an IND and the submission date of an NDAs phe time between the submission date
of an NDA and the approval of that application. Yoohe patent applicable to an approved drug isbédidor the extension and the extension
must be requested prior to expiration of the pafEiné United States Patent and Trademark Offic€lSRIPTO, in consultation with the FDA,
reviews and approves the application for any patnt extension or restoration. In the future, mtemd to apply for restorations of patent t
for some of our currently owned or licensed patémizdd patent life beyond their current expiratilatte, depending on the expected length of
clinical trials and other factors involved in thebsnission of the relevant NDA.

Data and market exclusivity provisions under theCRDalso can delay the submission or the approvakdfin applications. The FDCA
provides a five-year period of non-patent datawsdeity within the United States to the first aplnt to gain approval of an NDA for a new
chemical entity. A drug is a new chemical entityhié FDA has not previously approved any other dawg containing the same active moiety,
which is the molecule or ion responsible for thiaacof the drug substance. During the exclusipigyiod, the FDA may not accept for review
an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, &0&(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for &eotversion of such drug where the
applicant does not own or have a legal right ofémexfice to all the data required for approval. Hevean application may be submitted after
four years if it contains a
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certification of patent invalidity or nomfringement. The FDCA also provides three yearmafketing exclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NC

or supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical@stigations, other than bioavailability studiesnducted or sponsored by the applicant are
deemed by the FDA to be essential to the apprdvthlecapplication, for example, for new indicatipdesages or strengths of an existing drug.
This three-year exclusivity covers only the cormis associated with the new clinical investigatiand does not prohibit the FDA from
approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs contaig the original active agent. Five-year and thyear exclusivity will not delay the
submission or approval of a full NDA; however, gpkcant submitting a full NDA would be requireddonduct, or obtain a right of reference
to all of the pre-clinical studies, adequate and-a@ntrolled clinical trials necessary to demoaggrsafety and effectiveness.

Foreign Regulatior

In addition to regulations in the United States,wi#be subject to a variety of foreign regulatiogoverning clinical trials and
commercial sales and distribution of our produdtether or not we obtain FDA approval for a produe must obtain approval by the
comparable regulatory authorities of foreign comastbefore we can commence clinical trials and @ygdrof foreign countries or economic
areas, such as the EU, before we may market podutiose countries or areas. The approval praredsequirements governing the conduct
of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing aneimbursement vary greatly from place to place, taiedime may be longer or shorter than that
required for FDA approval.

In the European Economic Area, or EEA, which is pdsed of the 27 member states of the EU, or MerSitates, plus Norway, Iceland
and Liechtenstein, medicinal products can onlydrarercialized after obtaining a Marketing Authotiaa, or MA. There are two types of
MAs:

e The Community MAs — These are issued by the Eum@sanmission through theentralized Procedurgbased on the opinion of
the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human UseCHMP, of the European Medicines Agency, or EMAd are valid
throughout the entire territory of the EEA. The @alized Procedure is mandatory for certain tygfggroducts, such as
biotechnology medicinal products, orphan medicpraducts, and medicinal products indicated forttbatment of AIDS, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorders, diabetes, antoune and viral diseases. The Centralized Proeedwptional for products containi
a new active substance not yet authorized in thé; gt products that constitute a significant thpatic, scientific or technical
innovation; or for products that are in the intégpublic health in the EL

* National MAs— These are issued by the competent authoritiftsedflember States of the EEA and only cover thesipective
territory, and are available for products not fajliwithin the mandatory scope of the CentralizestPdure. Where a product has
already been authorized for marketing in a MembateSof the EEA, this National MA can be recognirednother Member State
through theMutual Recognition Procedurdf the product has not received a National MAiy Member State at the time of
application, it can be approved simultaneouslyarious Member States through fbecentralized ProcedureUnder the
Decentralized Procedur, an identical dossier is submitted to the competathorities of each of the Member States in witiieh
MA is sought, one of which is selected by the aygpit as the Reference Member State. The compattmdrdy of the Reference
Member State prepares a draft assessment regiveiftasummary of the product characteristics, o€ S&hd a draft of the labeling
and package leaflet, which are sent to the othenbée States (referred to as the Member States @uexdefor their approval. If tt
Member States Concerned raise no objections, lasadyotential serious risk to public health, t #ssessment, SPC, labeling or
packaging proposed by the Reference Member Sketgyroduct is subsequently granted a National Mallithe Member States
(i.e., in the Reference Member State and the MerStaies Concernec

Under the above described procedures, before gratite MA, the EMA or the competent authoritieshaf Member States of the EEA
assess the risk-benefit balance of the producheiasis of scientific criteria concerning its diyakafety and efficacy.
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As in the United States, it may be possible inifpreeountries to obtain a period of market andatadcexclusivity that would have the
effect of postponing the entry into the marketplata competitor’s generic product. For exampleny of our products receive marketing
approval in the EEA, we expect they will benefirfr 8 years of data exclusivity and 10 years of mtimk exclusivity. An additional non-
cumulative one-year period of marketing exclusivétyossible if during the data exclusivity perigide first 8 years of the 10 year marketing
exclusivity period), we obtain an authorization éore or more new therapeutic indications that aeed to bring a significant clinical benefit
compared to existing therapies. The data exclyspatiod begins on the date of the product’s finsirketing authorization in the EU and
prevents generics from relying on the marketindiarzation holder’s pharmacological, toxicologieald clinical data for a period of 8 years.
After 8 years, a generic product application magullemitted and generic companies may rely on thiéetiag authorization holder’s data.
However, a generic cannot launch until 2 years l@tea total of 10 years after the first marketmghorization in the EU of the innovator
product), or 3 years later (or a total of 11 yesdtsr the first marketing authorization in the Efdtee innovator product) if the marketing
authorization holder obtains marketing authorizafior a new indication with significant clinical befit within the 8 year data exclusivity
period. In Japan our products may be eligible fghtyears of data exclusivity. There can be naiasxe that we will qualify for such
regulatory exclusivity, or that such exclusivityligrevent competitors from seeking approval solatythe basis of their own studies.

When conducting clinical trials in the EU, we madhere to the provisions of the EU Clinical TriBisective and the laws and
regulations of the EU Member States implementimgrthThese provisions require, among other thitgg,the prior authorization of an Ethics
Committee and the competent Member State authigriiptained before commencing the clinical trial.

Pricing and Reimbursemer

In the United States and internationally, salegrofiucts that we market in the future, and ouritgktib generate revenues on such sales,
are dependent, in significant part, on the avdilgtof adequate coverage and reimbursement frard4arty payors, such as state and federal
governments, managed care providers and privateanse plans. Private insurers, such as healthtemgince organizations and managed care
providers, have implemented casttting and reimbursement initiatives and likeljlwontinue to do so in the future. These includ&blishing
formularies that govern the drugs and biologics Wil be offered and the out-of-pocket obligatiasfsmember patients for such products. We
may need to conduct pharmacoeconomic studies touasnate the cost effectiveness of our productédionulary coverage and
reimbursement. Even with such studies, our prodmetg be considered less safe, less effective srclest-effective than existing products, and
third-party payors may not provide coverage anchbeirsement for our product candidates, in wholie gart.

In addition, particularly in the U.S. and increaginin other countries, we are required to prouigeounts and pay rebates to state and
federal governments and agencies in connectionpitbhases of our products that are reimbursedibly entities. It is possible that future
legislation in the United States and other jurisdits could be enacted to potentially impact reirsbment rates for the products we are
developing and may develop in the future and céwrdther impact the levels of discounts and rebptad to federal and state government
entities. Any legislation that impacts these aadd impact, in a significant way, our ability generate revenues from sales of products tt
successfully developed, we bring to market.

Political, economic and regulatory influences argjscting the healthcare industry in the United&&o fundamental changes. There
have been, and we expect there will continue tddggslative and regulatory proposals to changehtradthcare system in ways that could
significantly affect our future business. For exdénghe Patient Protection and Affordable Care Astamended by the Health Care and
Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or celttively, the PPACA, enacted in March 2010, suliithy changes the way healthcare is
financed by both governmental and private insurensong other cost containment measures, PPACA lestiab:

« an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufarures or imports certain branded prescriptiaugs and biologic agent
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* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discount programhich pharmaceutical manufacturers who wishawe their drug
covered under Part D must offer discounts to diglieneficiaries during their coverage gap perawdhe donut hole; an

« anew formula that increases the rebates a manuéaahust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Prog

In the future, there may continue to be additiggraposals relating to the reform of the U.S. health system. Future legislation,
including the current versions being considereth@atfederal level in the United States, or regujastions implementing recent or future
legislation may have a significant effect on ousibess. Our ability to successfully commercialiredpicts depends in part on the extent to
which reimbursement for the costs of our produnt$ related treatments will be available in the BadiStates and worldwide from government
health administration authorities, private heatisuirers and other organizations. The adoption mdiceproposals could limit the prices we are
able to charge for our products, the amounts ofilbersement available for our products, and limét dlcsceptance and availability of our
products. Therefore, substantial uncertainty exstto the reimbursement status of newly approeadtincare products by third-party payors.

Sales and Marketing

The FDA regulates all advertising and promotiorivaats for products under its jurisdiction priar &nd after approval, including
standards and regulations for direct-to-consumeeriging, dissemination of off-label informatiandustry-sponsored scientific and
educational activities and promotional activitiegdlving the Internet. Drugs may be marketed oplythe approved indications and in
accordance with the provisions of the approvedlldhether, if there are any modifications to thagl including changes in indications,
labeling, or manufacturing processes or facilities,may be required to submit and obtain FDA apalro¥ a new or supplemental NDA, whi
may require us to collect additional data or comnduiclitional pre-clinical studies and clinical tsiaFailure to comply with applicable FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverseqgiybkenforcement action by the FDA, corrective exdising, consent decrees and the full
range of civil and criminal penalties availablgte FDA.

Physicians may prescribe legally available drugsifes that are not described in the drug’s lagedimd that differ from those tested by
us and approved by the FDA. Such off-label usesanmemon across medical specialties, and oftenatedi@hysician’s belief that the off-label
use is the best treatment for the patients. The BB&s not regulate the behavior of physicianséir tthoice of treatments, but FDA
regulations do impose stringent restrictions on ufecturers’ communications regarding off-label us&slure to comply with applicable FDA
requirements may subject a company to adverseqgiybkenforcement action by the FDA, corrective exdising, consent decrees and the full
range of civil and criminal penalties availablgte FDA.

Outside the United States, our ability to markpt@duct is contingent upon obtaining marketing atitation from the appropriate
regulatory authorities. The requirements govermragketing authorization, pricing and reimbursememy widely from country to country.

We may also be subject to various federal and &ate pertaining to health care “fraud and abusgluding anti-kickback laws and
false claims laws. Anti-kickback laws make it illddor a prescription drug manufacturer to solioffer, receive, or pay any remuneration in
exchange for, or to induce, the referral of busshéeluding the purchase or prescription of aipaldr drug. Due to the breadth of the statutory
provisions and the absence of guidance in the ffrregulations and very few court decisions addngssdustry practices, it is possible that
our practices might be challenged under anti-kickbar similar laws. False claims laws prohibit angdrom knowingly and willingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, for paytoethird-party payors (including Medicare and Mzadd) claims for reimbursed drugs or
services that are false or fraudulent, claimstiEms or services not provided as claimed, or cldgnmedically unnecessary items or services.
Our activities relating to the sale and marketifigur products may be subject to scrutiny undesehaws.
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Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punighalplcriminal and/or civil sanctions, includingdgmand civil monetary penalties, the
possibility of exclusion from federal health caregrams (including Medicare and Medicaid) and coamintegrity agreements, which impc
among other things, rigorous operational and manigorequirements on companies. Similar sanctiosEenalties also may be imposed upon
executive officers and employees, including crimganctions against executive officers under thealed “responsible corporate officer”
doctrine, even in situations where the executifie@f did not intend to violate the law and waswaee of any wrongdoing. Given the penal
that may be imposed on companies and individualsriicted, allegations of such violations oftesulein settlements even if the company or
individual being investigated admits no wrongdoiSgttlements often include significant civil sanos, including fines and civil monetary
penalties, and corporate integrity agreementsidfgovernment was to allege or convict us or oecetive officers of violating these laws, our
business could be harmed. In addition, privateviddials have the ability to bring similar actio@ur activities could be subject to challenge
for the reasons discussed above and due to thd booge of these laws and the increasing attebgarg given to them by law enforcement
authorities. Further, there are an increasing nurobstate laws that require manufacturers to nrakerts to states on pricing and marketing
information. Many of these laws contain ambiguitessto what is required to comply with the lawsveBi the lack of clarity in laws and their
implementation, our reporting actions could be sabjo the penalty provisions of the pertinentestaithorities.

Manufacturing

We do not currently have our own manufacturinglfies. We intend to continue to use our financegources to accelerate development
of our drug candidates rather than diverting resesito establish our own manufacturing facilit® intend to meet our pre-clinical and
clinical trial manufacturing requirements by esistiihg relationships with third-party manufacturarsl other service providers to perform
these services for us. We do not have any long-égmaements or commitments for these serviceswlisiee we do not have any long-term
agreements or commitments with vendors to sup@ytiderlying component materials of our drug caatdis, some of which are available
from only a single supplier. While our drug candétawere being developed by Pfizer, both the dubgtance and drug product were
manufactured by third-party contractors. We intemdontinue those relationships to maintain oupsupf the drug candidates. We began this
process following the closing of the Merger, thowggcannot assure you that we will be successfalamtaining all or any of those
relationships.

Should any of our drug candidates obtain markedipgroval, we anticipate establishing relationshifik third-party manufacturers and
other service providers in connection with commarproduction of our products. We have some flditjbin securing other manufacturers to
produce our drug candidates; however, our alterestinay be limited due to proprietary technologiemethods used in the manufacture of
some of our drug candidates.

Other Laws and Regulatory Processes

We are subject to a variety of financial disclosame securities trading regulations as a publicgaomy in the United States, including
laws relating to the oversight activities of the@dties and Exchange Commission, or SEC, andyifad our capital stock becomes listed on a
national securities exchange, we will be subjethéoregulations of such exchange on which oureshare traded. In addition, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, the SEC, ahdrdodies that have jurisdiction over the forrd aontent of our accounts, our financial
statements and other public disclosure are comgtdistussing and interpreting proposals and exgspironouncements designed to ensure that
companies best display relevant and transparemtnivation relating to their respective businesses.

Our present and future business has been andosifinzie to be subject to various other laws andleggpns. Various laws, regulations
and recommendations relating to safe working camut laboratory practices, experimental use ofmais, and the purchase, storage,
movement, import and export, and use and
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disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardoustanbss used in connection with our research wagloamay be applicable to our activities.
Certain agreements entered into by us involvinduskee license rights or acquisitions may be sulfeoational or supranational antitrust
regulatory control, the effect of which cannot edicted. The extent of government regulation thigiht result from future legislation or
administrative action cannot accurately be predicte

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development activities, which incluglsonnel costs, research supplies, clinical aedipical study costs, are the primary
source of our overall expenses. Such expensegddiathe research and development of our produadidates totaled $0.8 million for the y
ended December 31, 2011, and $0.8 million from &aper 15, 2010, the date of inception, through Béoes 31, 2011.

Employees

As of December 31, 2011, we have 18 employeesf athom are full-time employees. We believe ouatiehs with our employees are
good. Over the course of the next year, we antieipaing up to 23 additional full-time employeesvdted to clinical activities, seven
additional full-time employees for the regulatondaquality assurance function, and three additifuiatime employees for general and
administrative activities. In addition, we interadontinue to use clinical research organizatiorsthird parties to perform our clinical studies
and manufacturing.

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reporid=orm 10-Q, current reports on FornkK&nd all amendments to these reports
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(dhefExchange Act are available free of charge uiranebsite (vww.pumabiotechnology.com
as soon as reasonably practicable after theylagk\iith, or furnished, to the SEC.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information contained ms Annual Report, the following risk factors shibbe considered carefully in evaluat
our company. Our business, financial conditionuidity or results of operations could be materiaigversely affected by any of these risks.

Risks Relating to our Business
We currently have no product revenues or producppeoved for marketing, and will need to raise addital capital to operate our business.

To date, we have generated no product revenues, &md unless, we receive approval from the FDA ather regulatory authorities
overseas for one or more of our drug candidates;amaot market or sell our products and will notéhproduct revenues. Currently, our only
drug candidates are neratinib (oral), neratinitrgenous) and PB357, and none of these produafpi®ved by the FDA for sale in the Uni
States or by other regulatory authorities for saitside the United States. Moreover, each of tdesg candidates is in the early stages of
development and will require significant time aragital before we can even apply for approval fromEDA. Therefore, for the foreseeable
future we do not expect to achieve any productmags and will have to fund all of our operationd aapital expenditures from cash on hand,
licensing fees and grants, and potentially futdferimgs of our securities. Currently, we beliethattour cash on hand is sufficient to fund our
operations for the next 12 months. However, changgg occur that would consume our available capiébre that time, including changes in
and progress of our development activities, actiois of additional drug candidates and changesgdnlation. We will need to seek additional
sources of financing, which may not be availabldasorable terms, if at all. If we do not succeediinely raising additional funds on
acceptable terms, we may be unable to completa@thpre-clinical and clinical trials or obtain apyal of any drug candidates from the FDA
and other regulatory authorities. In addition, weld be forced to discontinue product developmentfarego attractive business opportuni
Any additional sources of financing will likely inWwe the issuance of additional equity securitidsich will have a dilutive effect on our
stockholders.

We have a limited operating history and are not fitable and may never become profitable.

We were formed in April 2007 and were a “shell” quany with no specific business plan or purposd waiacquired Puma on
October 4, 2011. Puma was a development-stage confipaned in September 2010 and, prior to enteiritg the license agreement with
Pfizer in August 2011, its operations were limiteddentifying compounds for in-licensing. As aukswe have a history of operating losses
and no meaningful operations upon which to evaloatebusiness. We expect to incur substantial Base negative operating cash flow for
the foreseeable future as we commence developrient arug candidates, which we do not expect belicommercially available for a
number of years, if at all. Even if we succeedénaloping and commercializing one or more drug @atds, we expect to incur substantial
losses for the foreseeable future and may nevemherofitable. The successful development and carialization of any drug candidates
will require us to perform a variety of functionscluding:

» undertaking pr-clinical development and clinical trial
» hiring additional personne
» participating in regulatory approval process
» formulating and manufacturing produc
» initiating and conducting sales and marketing &itis; and
* implementing additional internal systems and irtfiagure.
We will likely need to raise additional capitalander to fund our business and generate signifieargnue in order to achieve and

maintain profitability. We may not be able to gaaterthis revenue, raise additional capital or achfgrofitability in the future. Our failure to
achieve or maintain profitability could negativétypact the value of our common stock.

18



Table of Contents

We are heavily dependent on the success of nerhat{pral), our lead drug candidate, which is stilhaler clinical development, and we
cannot be certain that neratinib (oral) will receévregulatory approval or be successfully commerizatl even if we receive regulatory
approval.

We currently have no products that are approveddarmercial sale and may never be able to devebmietable drug products. We
expect that a substantial portion of our effortd erpenditures over the next few years will be desddo our lead drug candidate, neratinib
(oral). Accordingly, our business currently depehdavily on the successful development, regulaapproval and commercialization of
neratinib (oral). We cannot be certain that neifat{oral) will receive regulatory approval or becsassfully commercialized even if we receive
regulatory approval. The research, testing, manuifeag, labeling, approval, sale, marketing andritistion of drug products are and will
remain subject to extensive regulation by the FDA ather regulatory authorities in the United Stated other countries that have differing
regulations which differ from country to country.evdre not permitted to market neratinib (oralhi@ United States until it receives approve
an NDA, from the FDA, or in any foreign countriestiliit receives the requisite approval from sucitries. We have not submitted an NDA
to the FDA or comparable applications to other faguy authorities and do not expect to be in dtwrsto do so for the foreseeable future.
Obtaining approval of an NDA is an extensive, l&éygexpensive and inherently uncertain processtlaa@&DA may delay, limit or deny
approval of neratinib (oral) for many reasons, udihg:

* we may not be able to demonstrate that neratindd)(& safe and effective as a treatment for atgdted indications to the
satisfaction of the FDA

» the results of our clinical studies may not meetlével of statistical or clinical significance teéged by the FDA for marketin
approval;

« the FDA may disagree with the number, design, siaeduct or implementation of our clinical studi

» the clinical research organization, or CRO, thatr&tain to conduct clinical studies may take actiontside of our control th
materially adversely impact our clinical studi

» the FDA may not find the data from pre-clinicaldigs and clinical studies sufficient to demonstthtd the clinical and other
benefits of neratinib (oral) outweigh its safetsks;

» the FDA may disagree with our interpretation ofadfsom our preclinical studies and clinical studies or may reguhrat we condu
additional studies

» the FDA may not accept data generated at our elisitidy sites

» if our NDA is reviewed by an advisory committeeg thDA may have difficulties scheduling an advisooynmittee meeting in
timely manner or the advisory committee may recomaregainst approval of our applicatic

» the advisory committee may recommend that the F&jdire, as a condition of approval, additiona-clinical studies or clinice
studies, limitations on approved labeling or disition and use restriction

» the FDA may require development of a Risk Evaluatiod Mitigation Strategy as a condition of appip
« the FDA may identify deficiencies in the manufagigrprocesses or facilities of our th-party manufacturers; «
» the FDA may change its approval policies or ad@yt negulations

If we are unable to hire additional qualified persmel, our ability to grow our business may be harch

As of December 31, 2011, we had 18 employees, diveduour President and Chief Executive Officer, 8enior Vice President, Finance
and Administration and Treasurer, and our Senice\Rresident, Regulatory Affairs, Quality Assuraand Pharmacovigilance. Our future
success depends on our ability to identify, atfract
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hire, train, retain and motivate other highly ®dllscientific, technical, marketing, managerial indncial personnel. Although we will seek to
hire and retain qualified personnel with experieand abilities commensurate with our needs, treermiassurance that we will succeed despite
their collective efforts. During the next year, iméend to hire up to 23 additional full-time empé®ms devoted to clinical activities, seven
additional full-time employees for the regulatondaquality assurance function, and three additifuiatime employees devoted to general
administrative activities. Competition for persohisantense, and any failure to attract and retagnecessary technical, marketing, manac
and financial personnel would have a material askveffect on our business, prospects, financiadition and results of operations.

We may not successfully manage our growth.

Our success will depend upon the expansion of parations and our ability to successfully managegoowth. Our future growth, if
any, may place a significant strain on our managemed on our administrative, operational and faialresources. Our ability to manage our
growth effectively will require us to implement aimprove our operational, financial and managensgatems and to expand, train, manage
and motivate our employees. These demands mayreettai hiring of additional management personndlthe development of additional
expertise by management. Any increase in resodeested to research and product development with@otresponding increase in our
operational, financial and management systems dtald a material adverse effect on our businasanial condition and results of
operations.

Clinical trials are very expensive, time-consumiagd difficult to design and implement.

Each of our drug candidates is still in developnaerd will require extensive clinical testing befeve are prepared to submit an NDA for
regulatory approval. We cannot predict with anytaiety if or when we might submit an NDA for regtdey approval for any of our drug
candidates or whether any such NDA will be apprawethe FDA. Human clinical trials are very expemsand difficult to design and
implement, in part because they are subject taoigoregulatory requirements. The clinical triadg@ss is also time-consuming. We estimate
that clinical trials of our drug candidates wilkéaat least several years to complete. Furthernf@itare can occur at any stage of the trials, and
we could encounter problems that cause us to albamd@peat clinical trials. The commencement ardmetion of clinical trials may be
delayed by several factors, including:

» failure to obtain regulatory and IRB approval tarcoence a trial

» unforeseen safety issu¢

» determination of dosing issue

» lack of effectiveness during clinical tria

* inability to reach agreement on acceptable terntls priospective CROs and clinical trial sit
» slower than expected rates of patient recruitn

« failure to manufacture sufficient quantities ofraglcandidate for use in clinical tria

» inability to monitor patients adequately duringadter treatment; an

» inability or unwillingness of medical investigatdmsfollow our clinical protocols

Further, we, the FDA or an IRB may suspend ouricdintrials at any time if it appears that we or oallaborators are failing to conduc
trial in accordance with regulatory requiremertigt we are exposing participants to unacceptalahhasks, or if the FDA finds deficiencies
in our IND submissions or the conduct of thesddri@iherefore, we cannot predict with any certathty schedule for commencement and
completion of future clinical trials. If we expeniee delays in the commencement or completion otbical trials, or if we terminate a clinic
trial prior to completion, the commercial prospezt®ur drug candidates could be harmed, and ailityato generate revenues from the drug
candidates may be delayed. In addition, any detagsir clinical trials could increase our costeyslddown the approval process and jeopardize
our ability to commence product sales and geneeatenues. Any of these occurrences may harm oumdss financial condition and result:
operations.
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Enroliment and retention of patients in clinical tals is an expensive and tir-consuming process and could be made more difficurt
rendered impossible by multiple factors outside @mantrol.

We may encounter delays in enrolling, or be un&bkenroll, a sufficient number of patients to coatplany of our clinical trials, and e\
once enrolled we may be unable to retain a sufftaimber of patients to complete any of our triRlstient enroliment and retention in clini
trials depends on many factors, including the sizthe patient population, the nature of the tpiatocol, the existing body of safety and
efficacy data with respect to the study drug, thmber and nature of competing treatments and oggdinical trials of competing drugs for
the same indication, the proximity of patients linical sites and the eligibility criteria for tretudy. Furthermore, any negative results we may
report in clinical trials of any of our drug candtds may make it difficult or impossible to recrauitd retain patients in other clinical studies of
that same drug candidate. Delays or failures inngd patient enrollment and/or retention may reautcreased costs, program delays or t
which could have a harmful effect on our abilitydievelop our drug candidates or could render furdleselopment impossible. In addition, we
expect to rely on CROs and clinical trial sitegitsure proper and timely conduct of our futureicéihtrials and, while we intend to enter into
agreements governing their services, we will bétéichin our ability to compel their actual perfonmca.

The results of our clinical trials may not suppodur drug candidate claims.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plashnge cannot be certain that their results willmup the safety and effectiveness of our
drug candidates for our targeted indications. Ssg@e pre-clinical testing and early clinical ts@loes not ensure that later clinical trials wél b
successful, and we cannot be sure that the reffuliter clinical trials will replicate the result$ prior clinical trials and pre-clinical testing.
failure of a clinical trial to meet its predeterrathendpoints would likely cause us to abandon g damdidate and may delay development of
other drug candidates. Any delay in, or terminatirour clinical trials will delay the filing of r NDAs with the FDA and, ultimately, our
ability to commercialize our drug candidates andegate product revenues.

Physicians and patients may not accept and use augs.

Even if the FDA approves one or more of our drugdédates, physicians and patients may not acceptis@ them. Acceptance and use
of our product will depend upon a number of facioduding:

» perceptions by members of the health care communitiuding physicians, about the safety and eiffeciess of our drug
» cos-effectiveness of our product relative to compepngducts;
« availability of reimbursement for our product fragqavernment or other healthcare payors;
» effectiveness of marketing and distribution effdiysus and our licensees and distributors, if
Because we expect sales of our current drug catedicid approved, to generate substantially abwfproduct revenues for the

foreseeable future, the failure of these drugsni fnarket acceptance would harm our business anid cequire us to seek additional
financing.

We rely on third parties to conduct our pre-clinicand clinical trials. If these third parties do nasuccessfully carry out their contractual
duties or meet expected deadlines, we may not b tabobtain regulatory approval for our drug cardftes.

We depend upon independent investigators and avli#ds, such as CROs, universities and medicttutiens, to conduct our pre-
clinical and clinical trials under agreements with These collaborators are not our employees achwnot control the amount or timing of
resources that they devote to our programs. Neseth, we are responsible for ensuring that eachiroélinical trials is conducted in
accordance with
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regulatory requirements and the applicable protodoése investigators may not assign as greabaitgrio our programs or pursue them as
diligently as we would if we were undertaking sybgrams ourselves. If outside collaborators failévote sufficient time and resources to
our drug-development programs, or if their perfong®is substandard or otherwise fails to satisfyliegble regulatory requirements, the
approval of our FDA applications, if any, and ostroduction of new drugs, if any, will be delay@dhese collaborators may also have
relationships with other commercial entities, sahevhom may compete with us. If our collaboratassist our competitors to our detriment,
our competitive position would be harmed. If anyoaf relationships with these third-party collatiora terminate, we may not be able to enter
into arrangements with alternative third partiescommercially reasonable terms, or at all. Switghon adding additional third parties to our
clinical trial programs can involve substantialtsognd require extensive management time and focus.

We will rely exclusively on third parties to formate and manufacture our drug candidates. The comwialization of any of our drug
candidates could be stopped, delayed or made |esfigble if those third parties fail to provide uwith sufficient quantities of product or fa
to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices

We have no experience in drug formulation or mactufang and do not intend to establish our own nfiacturing facilities. We lack the
resources and expertise to formulate or manufactur@wn drug candidates. We currently have noexgemts for the clinical or commercial-
scale manufacture of our drug candidates. We intermshter into agreements with one or more manufars to manufacture, supply, store and
distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials Hi#éé our drug candidates were being developed eRfhoth the drug substance and drug
product were manufactured by third-party contractéve intend to continue those relationships tantaai our supply of the drug candidates;
however, we cannot assure you that we will be abtontinue those relationships on commerciallgosable terms, if at all. If we are unable
to continue those relationships, we could expegeatalays in our development efforts as we locatecaralify new manufacturers. If any of our
current drug candidates or any drug candidates ayedavelop or acquire in the future receive FDArapgl, we will rely on one or more third-
party contractors to manufacture the commerciapupf our drugs. Our anticipated future reliancealimited number of third-party
manufacturers exposes us to the following risks:

*  We may be unable to identify manufacturers on aetsg terms or at all because the number of palemi@nufacturers is limited
and the FDA must approve any replacement contrattos approval would require new testing and coamgle inspections. In
addition, a new manufacturer would have to be etalcia, or develop substantially equivalent proesder, production of our
products after receipt of FDA approval, if ai

*  Our third-party manufacturers might be unable tonfidlate and manufacture our drugs in the volumeddrtde quality required to
meet our clinical needs and commercial needsyif

»  Our future contract manufacturers may not perfosragreed or may not remain in the contract manuifexct business for the tinr
required to supply our clinical trials or to sucsfedly produce, store and distribute our produ

» Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periadennounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enfoe@ Administration an
corresponding state agencies to ensure strict ¢anga with cGMP regulations and other governmegptlegions and correspondi
foreign standards. We do not have control oved-party manufacture’ compliance with these regulations and stand:

« If any thirc-party manufacturer makes improvements in the matwifiag process for our products, we may not ownmay have t
share, the intellectual property rights to the wat@n.

Each of these risks could delay (i) our clinicéls, (i) the approval, if any, of our drug candgies by the FDA or (jii) the
commercialization of our drug candidates; or resuhiigher costs or deprive us of potential prodestnues.
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We are subject to uncertainty relating to reimbursent policies which, if not favorable to our drugandidates, could hinder or prevent our
product? commercial success.

Our ability to commercialize our drug candidatescassfully will depend in part on the extent to ethgovernmental authorities, private
health insurers and other third-party payors etialslppropriate coverage and reimbursement legelsur drug candidates and related
treatments. As a threshold for coverage and reisgment, thirdsarty payors generally require that drug produetsjmproved for marketing |
the FDA. Third-party payors also are increasindiglienging the effectiveness of and prices chafgechedical products and services. We
may not be able to obtain third-party coveragesonbursement for our products in whole or in part.

We have no experience selling, marketing or distriimg products and no internal capability to do so.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrifmuttapabilities. We do not anticipate having themeces in the foreseeable future to
allocate to the sales and marketing of our proppseducts. Our future success will depend, in gartpur ability to enter into and maintain
collaborative relationships for such capabilitige collaborator’s strategic interest in the pradumder development and such collaborator’s
ability to successfully market and sell any suabdpicts. We intend to pursue collaborative arrangesnegarding the sale and marketing of
our products if and when they are approved; howevercannot assure you that we will be able tobdistaor maintain such collaborative
arrangements, or if able to do so, that they véild effective sales forces. To the extent that @sde not to, or are unable to, enter into
collaborative arrangements with respect to thessatel marketing of our proposed products, significapital expenditures, management
resources and time will be required to establighdavelop an in-house marketing and sales forde teithnical expertise. We also cannot
assure you that we will be able to establish omtaé relationships with third-party collaboratarsdevelop in-house sales and distribution
capabilities. To the extent that we depend on thédies for marketing and distribution, any revenwe receive will depend upon the effort
such third parties, and there can be no assuraatsuch efforts will be successful. In additidrere can also be no assurance that we will be
able to market and sell our products in the UnB&ates or overseas.

Health care reform measures may hinder or prevent @rug candidate’ commercial success.

The United States and some foreign jurisdictionshenacted or are considering a number of legiglathd regulatory proposals to
change the healthcare system in ways that coutdtadiur ability to sell our products profitably. Amg policy makers and payors in the United
States and elsewhere, there is significant inténgstomoting changes in healthcare systems wilsthted goals of containing healthcare c
improving quality and/or expanding access. In timétédl States, the pharmaceutical industry has besarticular focus of these efforts and has
been significantly affected by major legislativéiatives.

In March 2010, PPACA became law in the United StaPACA substantially changed and will continuettange the way health care is
financed by both governmental and private insuaeid significantly affects the pharmaceutical indusAmong the provisions of PPACA, of
greatest importance to the pharmaceutical industthe following:

« an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity thatufatures or imports certain branded prescriptiugs and biologic agents,
apportioned among these entities according to thaiket share in certain government healthcareramg, beginning in 201

* anincrease in the rebates a manufacturer mustmagr the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, retroat¢tivilanuary 1, 2010, to
23.1% and 13% of the average manufacturer pricbrimmded and generic drugs, respectiv

* anew Medicare Part D coverage gap discount programhich manufacturers must agree to offer 50%t-of-sale discounts o
negotiated prices of applicable branded drugsitibét beneficiaries during their coverage gap @etas a condition for the
manufacture’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare®dreginning in 2011
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» extension of manufactur¢ Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispehseindividuals who are enrolled in Medic
managed care organizations, effective March 2302

» expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid progms by, among other things, allowing states terdffedicaid coverage to
additional individuals beginning in April 2010 ahgl adding new mandatory eligibility categories ¢ertain individuals with
income at or below 133% of the Federal Poverty Lbeginning in 2014, thereby potentially increasimgnufacturers’ Medicaid
rebate liability;

* increase in the number of entities eligible forcdisnts under the Public Health Service pharmacauytiicing program, effective in
January 201C

* new requirements to report certain financial aresngnts with physicians, including reporting angfisfer of value” made or
distributed to prescribers and other healthcargigens, as of March 30, 2013, and reporting ang&tment interests held by
physicians and their immediate family members duthre preceding calendar ye

* anew annual requirement to report drug samplaahaufacturers and distributors provide to physisj effective April 1, 201:
» alicensure framework for follc-on biologic products; an

» anew Patiel-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to overseatifig priorities in, and conduct comparative atii effectivenes
research, along with funding for such resea

A number of states have challenged the constitalitynof certain provisions of the PPACA, and mariyhese challenges are still
pending final adjudication in several jurisdictipimcluding the U.S. Supreme Court. Congress has@oposed a number of legislative
initiatives, including possible repeal of the PPAGK this time, it remains unclear whether ther# e any changes made to the PPACA,
whether to certain provisions or in its entirety.

We cannot assure you that the PPACA, as currentigted or as amended in the future, will not acdlgraffect our business and
financial results, and we cannot predict all of wa/s in which future federal or state legislatireadministrative changes relating to healthcare
reform will affect our business. Nevertheless, wicipate that the PPACA, as well as other heafcaform measures that may be adopted in
the future, may result in more rigorous coveragtera and in additional downward pressure on theepthat we receive for any approved
product, and could seriously harm our business. #edyction in reimbursement from Medicare or oth@rernment programs may result in a
similar reduction in payments from private paydisus, we expect to experience pricing pressuresmmection with the sale of neratinib
(oral), neratinib (intravenous), PB357, and anyeoftroducts that we may develop, due to the treméitd managed health care, the increasing
influence of health maintenance organizations afttitianal legislative proposals. There may be addél pressure by payors and healthcare
providers to use generic drugs that contain theeatgredients found in neratinib (oral), nerabifintravenous), PB357 or any other drug
candidates that we may develop. If we fail to sasfidly secure and maintain adequate coverageeamdbursement for our products or are
significantly delayed in doing so, we will havefiitilty achieving market acceptance of our prodactd expected revenue and profitability
which would have a material adverse effect on asiress, results of operations and financial cadit

We may be subiject, directly or indirectly, to fedband state health care fraud and abuse and faté&ims laws and regulations.
Prosecutions under such laws have increased in rdggears and we may become subject to such litmgyatif we are unable to comply, ¢
have not fully complied, with such laws, we coulete substantial penalties.

If we obtain FDA approval for any of our drug castaties and begin commercializing those productserinited States, our operations
may be directly, or indirectly through our custosjesubject to various state and federal fraud dogalaws, including, without limitation, the
federal Anti-Kickback Statute and federal Falseif@taAct. These laws may impact, among other things proposed sales, marketing and
education programs.
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The federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits persémasn knowingly and willingly soliciting, offeringreceiving or providing
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in exchange ér to induce either the referral of an indivitlaathe furnishing or arranging of a good or
service for which payment may be made under a &dtealth care program, such as Medicare and Mieditae Anti-Kickback Statute is
broad and, despite a series of narrow safe harparkibits many arrangements and practices thdaarell in businesses outside of the health
care industry. Penalties for violations of the fedlénti-Kickback Statute include criminal penagtiand civil sanctions such as fines,
imprisonment and possible exclusion from Medicstedicaid and other federal health care programsiyMsdiates have also adopted laws
similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, soofevhich apply to the referral of patients for itbadare items or services reimbursed by any
source, not only the Medicare and Medicaid programs

The federal False Claims Act prohibits persons fkmrowingly filing, or causing to be filed, a falskim or the knowing use of false
statements to obtain payment from the federal gouent. Suits filed under the False Claims Act, kn@g “qui tam” actions, can be brought
by any individual on behalf of the government andtsindividuals, commonly known as “whistleblow&may share in any amounts paid by
the entity to the government in fines or settleme&he frequency of filing qui tam actions has ired significantly in recent years, causing
greater numbers of pharmaceutical, medical devicecgher healthcare companies to have to defersefzlhims Act actions. When it is
determined that an entity has violated the Falsén@ Act, the entity may be required to pay uphte¢ times the actual damages sustained by
the government, plus civil penalties for each safeafalse claim. Various states have also enaates inodeled after the federal False Claims
Act.

The recently enacted PPACA, among other things ndsithe intent requirement of the federal Anti-Kiakk Statute and criminal
healthcare fraud statutes. A person or entity ngéo needs to have actual knowledge of this statuspecific intent to violate it. In addition,
the PPACA provides that the government may askatta claim including items or services resultiranf a violation of the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudutdaitm for purposes of the False Claims Act.

We are unable to predict whether we could be stibjegctions under any of these or other fraudamngse laws, or the impact of such
actions. If we are found to be in violation of asfithe laws described above and other applicahte sind federal fraud and abuse laws, we
be subject to penalties, including civil and crialipenalties, damages, fines, exclusion from gawent health care reimbursement programs
and the curtailment or restructuring of our operadj all of which could have a material adverseafbn our business and results of operati

If we cannot compete successfully for market shagainst other drug companies, we may not achiev#isient product revenue and ou
business will suffer.

The market for our drug candidates is characteli®eishtense competition and rapid technologicalaabes. If any of our drug candidates
receives FDA approval, it will compete with a numbéexisting and future drugs and therapies degpelp manufactured and marketed by
others. Existing or future competing products megvjule greater therapeutic convenience or clinicather benefits for a specific indication
than our products, or may offer comparable perforreaat a lower cost. In addition, a large numberoofipanies are pursuing the development
of pharmaceuticals that target the same diseasksamditions that we are targeting. If our proddatsto capture and maintain market share,
we may not achieve sufficient product revenue amdooisiness will suffer.

We will compete against fully integrated pharmamaltcompanies and smaller companies that arelmwitding with larger
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutiongeigonent agencies and other public and privatearebeorganizations. Many of these
competitors have oncology compounds that havedyrbaen approved or are in development. In addititemy of these competitors, either
alone or together with their collaborative parthefserate larger research and development progoaimsve substantially greater financial
resources than we do, as well as significantlytgreexperience in the following:

» developing drugs

» undertaking pr-clinical testing and clinical trials
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» obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals ofgdx;
» formulating and manufacturing drugs; &
» launching, marketing and selling dru

Our ability to generate product revenues will bardnished if our drugs sell for inadequate prices patients are unable to obtain adequate
levels of reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our drugs, alone othngollaborators, will depend in part on the extentvhich reimbursement will be
available from the following:

» government and health administration authori
» private health maintenance organizations and h@atirers; an
» other health care payol

Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursetistatus of newly approved healthcare produaslitH care payors, including
Medicare, are challenging the prices charged fatioa¢ products and services. Government and otbelttncare payors increasingly attemg
contain healthcare costs by limiting both coverage the level of reimbursement for drugs. Evem# of our drug candidates is approved by
the FDA, insurance coverage may not be availablé reimbursement levels may be inadequate, to gawar drug. If government and other
health care payors do not provide adequate covenagieeimbursement levels for one of our produarise approved, market acceptance of
such product could be reduced.

We may be exposed to liability claims associatetthwie use of hazardous materials and chemicals.

Our research and development activities may invtiteecontrolled use of hazardous materials and aadsn Although we believe that
our safety procedures for using, storing, handéind disposing of these materials comply with feldstate and local laws and regulations, we
cannot completely eliminate the risk of accideimflry or contamination from these materials. la #vent of such an accident, we could be
held liable for any resulting damages and any liiglgould materially adversely affect our businefasancial condition and results of
operations. In addition, the federal, state andlltawvs and regulations governing the use, manufacstorage, handling and disposal of
hazardous or radioactive materials and waste pteduoay require us to incur substantial compliarasiscthat could materially adversely aff
our business, financial condition and results adrafions.

The loss of one or more key members of our manageinteam could adversely affect our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicemiomanagement team, in particular
Alan H. Auerbach, our President and CEO. If Mr. Ageh resigns or becomes unable to continue ipreisent role and is not adequately
replaced, our business operations could be mdyeadlersely affected. We do not maintain “key méfe# insurance for Mr. Auerbach.

We may be adversely affected by the current ecomosmvironment.

Our ability to attract and retain collaboratorscastomers, invest in and grow our business and medtnancial obligations depends on
our operating and financial performance, whicltuim, is subject to numerous factors, includingghevailing economic conditions and
financial, business and other factors beyond oatrog such as the rate of unemployment, the nurabaninsured persons in the United States
and inflationary pressures. We cannot anticipdtthalways in which the current economic climatd &inancial market conditions could
adversely impact our business.
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We are exposed to risks associated with reducdidghitity and the potential financial instabilityf our collaborators or customers, many
of which may be adversely affected by volatile dtinds in the financial markets. For example, untaypment and underemployment, and the
resultant loss of insurance, may decrease the difoahealthcare services and pharmaceuticaleweéf patients are seeking medical care
because they do not have insurance coverage, babaation partners or customers may experiendeat®ons in revenues, profitability and
cash flow that could lead them to modify, delayancel orders for our products once commercialifezbllaboration partners or customers
are not successful in generating sufficient revesmuare precluded from securing financing, they mat/be able to pay, or may delay payment
of, accounts receivable that are owed to us. Thiirn, could adversely affect our financial cdiah and liquidity. In addition, if economic
challenges in the United States result in widespeesl prolonged unemployment, either regionallgroa national basis, prior to the
effectiveness of certain provisions of the PPACAuphstantial number of people may become uninsareaderinsured. To the extent
economic challenges result in fewer individualsspimg or being able to afford our products once me@ntialized, our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows ddug adversely affected.

We may incur substantial liabilities and may be téced to limit commercialization of our products inesponse to product liability lawsuits.

The testing and marketing of medical products éatainherent risk of product liability. If we caoinsuccessfully defend ourselves
against product liability claims, we may incur siapgial liabilities or be required to limit commatzation of our products. Our inability to
obtain sufficient product liability insurance at acceptable cost to protect against potential prolibility claims could prevent or inhibit the
commercialization of pharmaceutical products weettgy, alone or with collaborators.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We depend significantly on intellectual propertgdéinsed from Pfizer and the termination of this liege would significantly harm our
business and future prospects.

We depend significantly on our license agreemetft Rfizer. Our license agreement with Pfizer maydsminated by Pfizer if we
materially breach the agreement and fail to cureboeiach during an applicable cure period. Ouufaito use commercially reasonable efforts
to develop and commercialize neratinib (oral), tieila (intravenous) and PB357 in the United Stated certain other specified countries or to
perform our other diligence obligations under tlkerise agreement would constitute a material breftte license agreement. Pfizer may also
terminate the license agreement if we become imgbia bankruptcy, receivership, insolvency or samgroceedings. In the event our license
agreement with Pfizer is terminated, we will loleo&our rights to develop and commercialize thmegicandidates covered by such license,
which would significantly harm our business andifetprospects.

Our proprietary rights may not adequately proteairdntellectual property and potential products, drif we cannot obtain adequate
protection of our intellectual property and poteatiproducts, we may not be able to successfully keaiour potential products

Our commercial success will depend in part on oltgi and maintaining intellectual property protentfor our products, formulations,
processes, methods and other technologies. Wenmblibe able to protect these technologies andymtsdrom unauthorized use by third
parties to the extent that valid and enforcealtielegctual property rights, including patents, cotleem, or other market exclusionary rights

apply.
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The patent positions of pharmaceutical companies,durs, can be highly uncertain and involve carpégal and factual questions for
which important legal principles remain unresolvidd. consistent policy regarding the breadth ofrolagllowed in such companigsatents he
emerged to date in the United States. The genevalomment for pharmaceutical patents outside thiadd States also involves significant
uncertainty. Accordingly, we cannot predict theduth of claims that may be allowed or enforcedhat the scope of these patent rights could
provide a sufficient degree of future protectioattbould permit us to gain or keep our competiidgantage with respect to these products and
technology. For example, we cannot predict:

» the degree and range of protection any patentsaffiid us against competitors, including whetlméndt parties will find ways to
make, use, sell, offer to sell or import compeétproducts without infringing our paten

« if and when patents will issu
» whether or not others will obtain patents claimimgentions similar to those covered by our patanis patent applications;

« whether we will need to initiate litigation or admstrative proceedings in connection with pateghts, which may be cost
whether we win or lost

The patents we have licensed may be subject téeclysl and possibly invalidated or rendered unepfite by third parties. Changes in
either the patent laws or in the interpretationpatent laws in the United States or other cousitmay diminish the value of our intellectual

property.

In addition, others may independently develop similr alternative products and technologies that beaoutside the scope of our
intellectual property. Furthermore, others may havented technology claimed by our patents befeger our licensors did so, and they may
have filed patents claiming such technology befeeedid so, weakening our ability to obtain and rteimpatent protection for such
technology. Should third parties obtain patenttsgh similar products or technology, this may haaeadverse effect on our business.

We may also rely on trade secrets to protect amelogy, especially where we do not believe papeotection is appropriate or
obtainable. Trade secrets, however, are diffieufirotect. While we believe that we will use readuda efforts to protect our trade secrets, our
own or our strategic partners’ employees, constdtaontractors or advisors may unintentionallydifully disclose our information to
competitors. We seek to protect this informationpart, through the use of non-disclosure and dentiality agreements with employees,
consultants, advisors and others. These agreemeytbe breached, and we may not have adequateirsrieda breach. In addition, we
cannot ensure that those agreements will provieeate protection for our trade secrets, kimm or other proprietary information or prev
their unauthorized use or disclosure.

To the extent that consultants or key employeetydpphnological information independently develdgey them or by others to our
potential products, disputes may arise as to thprjgtary rights in such information, which may hetresolved in our favor. Consultants and
key employees that work with our confidential amdgpietary technologies are required to assigmsllectual property rights in their
discoveries to us. However, these consultants pekeployees may terminate their relationship wighand we cannot preclude them
indefinitely from dealing with our competitors.dfir trade secrets become known to competitors gvithter experience and financial
resources, the competitors may copy or use oue tsadrets and other proprietary information inatieancement of their products, methods or
technologies. If we were to prosecute a claim #tird-party had illegally obtained and was usiig trade secrets, it could be expensive and
time consuming and the outcome could be unpred&tataddition, courts outside the United Statessmmetimes less willing to protect trade
secrets than courts in the United States. Moredfveur competitors independently develop equivalerowledge, we would lack any legal or
contractual claim to prevent them from using sudbrimation, and our business could be harmed.
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Our ability to commercialize our potential productsgill depend on our ability to sell such productstiwout infringing the patent or
proprietary rights of third parties. If we are suddr infringing intellectual property rights of thid parties, it will be costly and tim
consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that liiion would have a material adverse effect on owsiness.

Our ability to commercialize our potential produai$i depend on our ability to sell such productisheut infringing the patents or other
proprietary rights of third parties. Third-partytéfiectual property rights in our field are complied, and third-party intellectual property rights
in our field are continuously evolving. The covesasf patents is subject to interpretation by thertsy and this interpretation is not always
consistent.

Other companies may have or may acquire intellépnogerty rights that could be enforced againstfuey do so, we may be required
to alter our products, formulations, processeshoug or other technologies, obtain a license, asguone can be obtained, or cease our
product-related activities. If our products or teclogies infringe the intellectual property riglafsothers, they could bring legal action against
us or our licensors or collaborators claiming daesaand seeking to enjoin any activities that thelielse infringe their intellectual property
rights. If we are sued for patent infringement,wauld need to demonstrate that our products or aastiof use either do not infringe the pat
claims of the relevant patent or that the pateaitrtd are invalid or unenforceable, and we may ealile to do this. Proving the invalidity of a
patent is particularly difficult in the United Séat since it requires a showing of clear and caringhevidence to overcome the presumption of
validity enjoyed by issued patents. If we are fotméhfringe a third-party patent, we may needease the commercial sale of our products.

Because patent applications can take many yeassue, there may be currently pending applicatiorigiown to us or reissue
applications that may later result in issued patepbn which our products or technologies maynigiei There could also be existing patents of
which we are unaware that our products or technesomay infringe. In addition, if third partiesdipatent applications or obtain patents
claiming products or technologies also claimed $ynupending applications or issued patents, we maag to participate in interference
proceedings in the United States Patent and Tradke®@féice, or USPTO, to determine priority of inwém. If third parties file oppositions in
foreign countries, we may also have to participatepposition proceedings in foreign tribunals &fehd the patentability of our filed foreign
patent applications. Some of our competitors magiide to sustain the costs of complex patent titbgamore effectively than we can because
they have substantially greater resources. Additlgnany uncertainties resulting from the init@atiand continuation of any litigation may hi
a material adverse effect on our ability to rafsefunds necessary to continue our operations.

If a third party claims that we infringe its intetitual property rights, it could cause our businesiffer in a number of ways, including:

* we may become involved in time-consuming and experigigation, even if the claim is without merihe third party’s patent is
ultimately invalid or unenforceable, or we aremlbitely found to have not infringe

* we may become liable for substantial damages fsrip&ingement if a court decides that our tecbgas infringe upon a third
party's patent

* we may be ordered by a court to stop making, getinlicensing our products or technologies withalitense from a patent holc
and such license may not be available on commér@ateptable terms, if at all, or may requireaupay substantial royalties or
grant cros-licenses to our patents; a

* we may have to redesign our products so that tbayod infringe upon others’ patent rights, whichynmat be possible or could
require substantial investment and/or til

If any of these events occur, our business coufeisand the market price of our common stock meglide.
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As is common in the biotechnology and pharmacelitickistries, we employ individuals who were preislty employed at other
companies in these industries, including our coitgrstor potential competitors. We may become sutlifeclaims that these employees or we
have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosadet secrets or other proprietary information efrtformer employers, although no such
claims are pending. Litigation may be necessangefend against these claims. Even if we succegsdellend any such claims, we may incur
substantial costs in such defense, and our manadenay be distracted by these claims.

Risks Related to Owning our Common Stock

There is currently no market for our common stock@there can be no assurance that any market wilkedevelop. You may therefore be
unable to re-sell shares of our common stock atésrand prices that you believe are appropriate.

Our common stock is not listed on a national séiesrexchange, an over-the-counter market or amgra@txchange. Therefore, there is no
trading market, active or otherwise, for our comrstotk and our common stock may never be includettdding on any stock exchange,
automated quotation system or any over-the-coungeket. Accordingly, our common stock is highlygllid and you will likely experience
difficulty in re-selling such shares at times amitgs that you may desire.

Our common stock may not be eligible for listing quotation on any securities exchange.

We do not currently meet the initial quantitatiisihg standards of any national securities exchak¢e cannot assure you that we wil
able to meet the initial listing standards of aayional securities exchange, or, if we do meet snitial listing standards, that we will be able
maintain any such listing. Further, the nationausities exchanges have adopted so-called “seagbnites that require that we meet certain
requirements, including prescribed periods of ttrading over-thezounter and minimum filings of periodic reportstwihe SEC, before we &
eligible to apply for listing on such national sgtias exchanges. We have contacted an authoriz@lenmaker for an over-the-counter
guotation system for sponsorship of our commonkstoat we cannot guarantee that our common stotilberiisted and quoted for sale. Even
if our common stock is quoted for sale on an oherd¢ounter quotation system, buyers may be inseffién numbers to allow for a robust
market and it may prove impossible to sell yoursebaln addition, an investor may find it diffictitt obtain accurate quotations as to the mi
value of our common stock. In addition, if we failmeet the criteria set forth in SEC regulatiorssjous requirements would be imposed by
law on broker-dealers who sell our securities te@es other than established customers and aaudditestors. Consequently, such
regulations may deter broker-dealers from recomnmgnalr selling our common stock, which may furthéfect its liquidity. This would also
make it more difficult for us to raise additionalpital.

The price of our common stock could be subject tatility related or unrelated to our operations.

If a market for our common stock develops, its reagkice could fluctuate substantially due to detsirof factors, including market
perception of our ability to meet our growth prdjens and expectations, quarterly operating resiltgher companies in the same industry,
trading volume in our common stock, changes in gareonditions in the economy and the financial kets or other developments affecting
our business and the business of others in oustndun addition, the stock market itself is sudbj® extreme price and volume fluctuations.
This volatility has had a significant effect on timarket price of securities issued by many compafuiereasons related and unrelated to their
operating performance and could have the sametefifecur common stock.

The designation of our common stock as a “pennycitowould limit the liquidity of our common stock.

Our common stock may be deemed a “penny stockth@serm is defined under Rule 3a51-1 of the ErgeaAct) in any market that
may develop in the future. Generally, a “penny ktig a common stock that
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is not listed on a securities exchange and tramfele$s than $5.00 a share. Prices often are rdiahle to buyers and sellers and the market
may be very limited. Penny stocks in start-up comgmare among the riskiest equity investmentsk&rdealers who sell penny stocks must
provide purchasers of these stocks with a stanzddiskdisclosure document prepared by the SEC. The datupnevides information abo
penny stocks and the nature and level of risksligin investing in the penny stock market. A @okiust also provide purchasers with bid
and offer quotations and information regarding lercknd salesperson compensation and make a waigtermination that the penny stock is a
suitable investment for the purchaser and obtadrptirchaser’s written agreement to the purchasayMeokers choose not to participate in
penny stock transactions. Because of the pennk stibes, there may be less trading activity in pestocks in any market that develops for
common stock in the future and stockholders aed\liko have difficulty selling their shares.

Issuance of stock to fund our operations may dilyteur investment and reduce your equity intere

We may need to raise capital in the future to ftireldevelopment of our drug candidates or for oplueposes. Any equity financing may
have significant dilutive effect to stockholderslanmaterial decrease in our stockholders’ equtgrest in us. Equity financing, if obtained,
could result in substantial dilution to our exigtistockholders. At its sole discretion, our bodrdicectors may issue additional securities
without seeking stockholder approval, and we dokmotv when we will need additional capital or, i€wo, whether it will be available to us.

Upon the exercise of any of our outstanding warraptolders of our common stock may experience immtgdilution and the market pric
of our common stock may be adversely affected.

In connection with the Merger, we assumed the vmsressued by Puma in a private placement to ceiaestors that provides such
investors with antdilution protection in regard to certain issuandé®e warrants are exercisable only if we sell séesrat a price below $3.°
per share on or prior to the date on which shafesiocommon stock are first quoted in an overdbanter market or listed for quotation on
any national securities exchange or trading sysféra.warrants automatically terminate ten days afte common stock is quoted on an over-
the-counter market or listed for quotation on damatl securities exchange or trading system if aeemot previously sold securities for less
than $3.75 per share. Otherwise, the warrants haee-year term and an exercise price of $0.0Elpare. If triggered, each warrant becomes
exercisable for the number of shares of our comstock as would equal the difference between (intmaber of shares purchased by the
warrant holder in Puma’private placement and (ii) the number of shdrasdould have been purchased by such holder iprthate placemel
at a purchase price equal to the lowest price &gsacwith any subsequent issuance of our commamk st

In connection with the Merger, we assumed a walissoted to Mr. Auerbach by the former Puma enfityis warrant is exercisable only
in the event that we conduct an additional offefigur securities resulting in gross cash proceeds of at least $15 million, excluding
certain types of financings that occur within agfied time period after the closing of the MergEhis warrant has a ten-year term, an exercise
price equal to the price paid per share in suclitiaddl offering, and is exercisable for the numbéshares of our common stock as would be
necessary for Mr. Auerbach to maintain, as caledlainder the terms of the warrant, ownership of 20%ur outstanding shares of common
stock after such additional offering.

If any of our outstanding warrants are exercisedfares of our common stock, our stockholders exggrience immediate dilution and
the market price of our common stock may be adlyeeféected.

We will incur increased costs and demands upon mgaaent as a result of complying with the laws arejulations affecting public
companies, which could harm our operating results.

As a public company, we will incur significant légaccounting and other expenses, including caste@ated with public company
reporting requirements. We will also incur costsagsated with current corporate governance requérgs; including requirements under
Section 404 and other provisions of the
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Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, or theaBaghOxley Act, as well as rules implemented bySBEE or any stock exchange or inter-
dealer quotations system on which our common staek be listed in the future. The expenses incussegdublic companies for reporting and
corporate governance purposes have increased dealtyain recent years. We expect these rules agdlations to substantially increase our
legal and financial compliance costs and to makeesactivities more time-consuming and costly. Weewarable to currently estimate these
costs with any degree of certainty. We also expiedtthese new rules and regulations may makéfitwi and expensive for us to obtain
director and officer liability insurance, and if vaee able to obtain such insurance, we may be nedjth accept reduced policy limits and
coverage or incur substantially higher costs taiobthe same or similar coverage available to peiyaheld companies. As a result, it may be
more difficult for us to attract and retain quadiindividuals to serve on our board of directara®our executive officers.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective interiaontrols, our ability to produce accurate and tely financial statements could k
impaired, which could harm our operating resultsupability to operate our business and investorgws of us.

We are required to comply with Section 404 of tlaeb@nes-Oxley Act. Section 404 of the SarbanesyOXét requires public companies
to conduct an annual review and evaluation of tim@rnal controls and attestations of the effemiess of internal controls by independent
auditors. Ensuring that we have adequate inteimahé€ial and accounting controls and procedurgddoe so that we can produce accurate
financial statements on a timely basis is a castly time-consuming effort that will need to be ea#kd frequently. Our failure to maintain the
effectiveness of our internal controls in accorgawith the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Aatdthave a material adverse effect on our
business. We could lose investor confidence iratfteiracy and completeness of our financial repattch could have an adverse effect on
price of our common stock. In addition, if our etfoto comply with new or changed laws, regulati@rsl standards differ from the activities
intended by regulatory or governing bodies duentbiguities related to practice, regulatory authesitmay initiate legal proceedings against us
and our business may be harmed.

Because the Merger was a reverse merger, we maypaatble to attract the attention of major brokemfjrms.

Additional risks may exist as a result of our begaa public reporting company through a “reversager.” Certain SEC rules are more
restrictive when applied to reverse merger comgsiech as the ability of stockholders tesed-their shares of common stock pursuant to
144. In addition, securities analysts of major leraige firms may not provide coverage of our cagitatk or business. Because we became a
public reporting operating company through a rezengrger, there is no incentive to brokerage fitoncommend the purchase of our
common stock. We cannot assure you that brokeiege Will want to provide analyst coverage of oapital stock or business in the future.

The resale of shares covered by a registrationestagnt could adversely affect the market price of ct@ammon stock in the public market,
should one develop, which result would in turn ndgeely affect our ability to raise additional equjitcapital.

The sale, or availability for sale, of our commaaock in the public market may adversely affectphevailing market price of our
common stock and may impair our ability to raisdiidnal capital by selling equity or equity-linkegcurities. Pursuant to the terms of a
registration rights agreement, as amended, betwgand certain of our stockholders, we filed, atexpense, a registration statement, which
was declared effective by the SEC on February @42 2registering the resale of 16,000,000 sharesioEommon stock. The resale of a
substantial number of shares of our common stotkdrpublic market could adversely affect the mapkiee for our common stock and make
it more difficult for investors in our common stottksell shares of our common stock at times afpthat such investors feel are
appropriate. Furthermore, we expect that, becdiese tare a large number of shares registered pursuthe resale registration statement, the
selling
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stockholders identified in such registration stagatrwill continue to offer shares covered by siegjistration statement for a significant period
of time, the precise duration of which cannot bedarted. Accordingly, the adverse market and poiessures resulting from offerings purst
to the registration statement may continue forxdareled period of time and continued negative piressn the market price of our common
stock could have a material adverse effect on bilityato raise additional equity capital.

If securities or industry analysts do not publisbr cease publishing, research or reports about agr business or our market, or if the
change their recommendations regarding our stockvadsely, our stock price and trading volume coulelatine.

If a trading market for our common stock develdhs,trading market for our common stock will bduehced by whether industry or
securities analysts publish research and repodstals,our business, our market or our competitors anahyf analysts do publish such repc
what they publish in those reports. We may notiakdaalyst coverage in the future. Any analysts$ ttiacover us may make adverse
recommendations regarding our stock, adverselyggh#treir recommendations from time to time, angforvide more favorable relative
recommendations about our competitors. If any ataljno may cover us in the future were to ceaserame of our company or fail to
regularly publish reports on us, or if analyst$ taicover us or publish reports about us at afl,omuld lose, or never gain, visibility in the
financial markets, which in turn could cause oocktprice or trading volume to decline.

We do not foresee paying cash dividends in the $éexeable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earningsféinding growth. We do not anticipate paying aiidends in the foreseeable future.
As a result, you should not rely on an investmerdur securities if you require dividend incomepf(al appreciation, if any, of our shares may
be your sole source of gain for the foreseeablaéutMoreover, you may not be able to re-sell yghares in the Company at or above the price
you paid for them

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease approximately 13,254 square feet of offfiace in the building located at 10880 WilshirelBward for use as our corporate
headquarters. Our lease commenced in Decembera@ilterminates in December 2018, with an optioextend for an additional five-year
term. We believe that our existing office spacadequate to meet current and anticipated futun@nements and that additional or substitute
space will be available as needed to accommodatexpansions that our operations require.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
We are not involved in any pending legal proceesliaigd are not aware of any threatened or conteatplagal proceedings against us.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
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Part Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market for Common Stock

There is not currently, and there has never bagnpaarket for any of our securities. Our securities not currently eligible for trading
any national securities exchange or NASDAQ. We ravanged for a registered broker-dealer to applyave our common stock quoted on
the OTC Bulletin Board and the OTCQB Market; howeteere is no guarantee that our common stockbeiljuoted on such markets or any
other over-the-counter market.

Record Holders
As of March 16, 2012, we had approximately 167 bddbf record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have not paid or declared any dividends on onormaon stock and we do not anticipate paying divildesn our common stock in the
foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Repurchasef Securities

Other than the sales of unregistered securitigsatbaeported in Quarterly Reports on Form 10-@uorrent Report on Form 8-K during
fiscal year 2011, we did not make any sales ofgistered securities during 2011.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and fiiated Purchasers
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES(1)

(d)
(c) Maximum Number
Total Number of (or Approximate
Shares Purchased Dollar Value) that
(a) (b) Part of Publicly May Yet Be
Total Number ¢ Average Price Pa Announced Plans Purchased Under t
Perioc Shares Purchas per Share Programs Plans or Prograr

Month #1 (October 1 to 31, 201 3,000,001 $ 0.01: — —
Month #2 (November 1 to 30, 201 —_ — — _
Month #3 (December 1 to 31, 201 — — — _
Total 3,000,00i! $ 0.01: — —

(1) Following the closing of the Merger with Punpaysuant to the terms of a Redemption Agreemestddactober 4, 2011, or the
Redemption Agreement, between us and our stocktwoiaenediately prior to the Merger, we completee tbpurchase of an aggregate
3,000,000 shares of common stock from our formasidtolders for consideration of an aggregate of (@@ The 3,000,000 shares
constituted all of the issued and outstanding shaf®@ur common stock, on a fully-diluted basisgiediately prior to the Merger. Upon
completion of the Merger and the redemption, thenfr stockholders of Puma held 100% of the outstanshares of our common stor

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
As a smaller reporting company, we are not requiogaovide the information required by this ltem.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read in catiom with our financial statements
and the related notes that appear elsewhere i\tiisal Report. The following discussion includesafard-looking statements that reflect our
plans, estimates and beliefs and involve risksiaraértainties. As a result of many factors, sucthase set forth under “Risk Factors” in
Item 1A of this Annual Report, our actual resultayndiffer materially from those anticipated in tedsrward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a development-stage biopharmaceutical coypesed in Los Angeles, California with a focustlom acquisition, development
and commercialization of innovative products toa@mte cancer care. We aim to acquire proprietahtsitp these products, by license or
otherwise, fund their research and developmentuaing the products to market. Our efforts and resesito date have been focused primarily
on acquiring and developing our pharmaceuticalreldyies, raising capital and recruiting personAsla development-stage company, we
have had no product sales to date and we will haveroduct sales until we receive approval fromRB& or equivalent foreign regulatory
bodies to begin selling our pharmaceutical cand&ldDeveloping pharmaceutical products, howevex léngthy and very expensive process.
Assuming we do not encounter any unforeseen sefeigs during the course of developing our prodantiidates, we do not expect to receive
approval of a product candidate until approximagay5s.

Currently, a large portion of our expenses have belated to execution of our license agreemerinddf staff and the build out of our
corporate infrastructure. As we proceed with chihidevelopment of PB272 (neratinib (oral)), andvasfurther develop PB272 (neratinib
(intravenous)), and PB357, our second and thirdycbcandidates, respectively, our research andldement expenses will increase
significantly. To the extent we are successfuldquaring additional product candidates for our depment pipeline, our need to finance
research and development will increase. Accordingly success depends not only on the safety dicd@f of our product candidates, but ¢
on our ability to finance product development. @ajor sources of working capital have been procéeds private sales of our common
stock.

Research and development, or R&D, expenses cqnsisarily of salaries and related personnel costsfaes paid to consultants. We
expense our R&D costs as they are incurred.

We were originally incorporated in the State of &ehre in April 2007 under the name Innovative Asdgigns Corp. We were a “shell”
company registered under the Exchange Act withpeeific business plan or purpose until we acquiretha in the Merger. As a result of this
transaction, Puma become our wholly-owned subsidiad subsequently merged with and into us. Upomptetion of the Merger, Puma
merged with and into us, leaving us as the surgigiorporation, and we adopted Puma’s businessgudrchanged our name to “Puma
Biotechnology, Inc.”

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisithereby Puma was deemed to be the acquirecéouating and financial reporti
purposes and we were deemed to be the acquired Gamsequently, our financial statements prichtoMerger reflect the assets and
liabilities and the historical operations of Pumani its inception on September 15, 2010 througtctbsing of the Merger on October 4, 2011.
Our financial statements after completion of therdée include the assets and liabilities of us anch&, the historical operations of Puma, and
the operations of us following the closing datehaf Merger.

The merger of a private operating company intooerating public shell corporation with nominat massets is considered to be a
capital transaction, in substance, rather thansinbas combination, for accounting purposes. Adnghy, we treated this transaction as a
capital transaction without recording goodwill aljusting any of our other assets or liabilities.
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Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
General and administrative expenses:

For the year ended December 31, 2011, generaldmihstrative, or G&A, expenses were approxima9dy319,600 compared to $6,¢
for 2010. During 2011, the majority of our G&A exyses were associated with acquiring our drug caekd executing two private equity
placements, executing a reverse merger and begitmibuild out our corporate infrastructure. Durthg fourth quarter of 2011, we began
hiring staff and recorded approximately $481,30pajfroll and payroll-related expenses. We incuegproximately $858,900 in professional
fees associated with the licensing of three drugpmunds, executing the reverse merger, and filargpus forms with the SEC in 2011. The
Company also incurred approximately $52,000 ingtaxpense related to licensing our drug compoamdsexecuting the two private
placements. During 2011, we incurred approxima$dly,000 in accounting fees associated with our 20, filing of a shorirear tax return
and review of our SEC filings. Rent expense forR@hs approximately $41,000 compared to $0 of egpense for 2010. We anticipate our
rent expense for 2012 to be approximately $500,860 included in 2011, was $32,700 of expensesgtedito an investor relations consultant.
Additionally, we incurred approximately $32,200eirpenses associated with the implementation afaméial reporting system. We incurred
approximately $31,000 of printing expense, mairdgaxiated with our SEC filings and print materal éur equity placements. During 2011,
approximately $29,500 of stock-based compensasisuneid to employees was included in G&A expensesn iicluded in stock-based
compensation was $7,585,600 related to the issuzrame anti-dilutive warrant issued to our CEO (sete 7 of the accompanying financial
statements). The remaining expenses of approximn$iel8,400 are associated with the commencemeasptaritions and include such items as
business insurance, office supplies, telecommuipitabst and banking fees. We expect our G&A expsnsxcluding stock-based
compensation, to increase significantly for fispar 2012 as our cost for 2011 reflects only foonths of activity.

Research and development expen

For the year ended December 31, 2011, researceariopment, or R&D, expenses were approximateR6B0 compared to $0 for
the prior year. Approximately $696,000 of the taapenses incurred were related to payroll assatiatth the hiring of 14 employees. Our
payroll cost will continue to grow, as the curretdn is to hire an additional 30 employees in 2042.also incurred approximately $38,000 in
recruiting expense during 2011 and expect this toosicrease as we hire additional employees. \&@ iacurred approximately $43,000 in
consulting expense during 2011. During 2011, apprately $37,500 of stock-based compensation wdsded in R&D expenses. The
remaining expenses of approximately $11,900 weega@ to travel expenses and office supplies. Ru2®12, we expect to spend
approximately $20 million to $25 million in R&D erpses as we begin to actively manage the exislimgal trials and potentially commence
additional clinical trials.

While expenditures on current and future clinicewelopment programs, particularly our PB272 prograra expected to be substantial
and to increase, they are subject to many uncégsjnincluding the results of clinical trials awtiether we develop any of our drug candidates
with a partner or independently. As a result ofsuccertainties, we cannot predict with any sigaifit degree of certainty the duration and
completion costs of our research and developmearégts or whether, when and to what extent we gahierate revenues from the
commercialization and sale of any of our producididates. The duration and cost of clinical trialsy vary significantly over the life of a
project as a result of unanticipated events aridiming clinical development and a variety of fastancluding:

» the number of trials and studies in a clinical peog;
» the number of patients who participate in the gri
» the number of sites included in the trie
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» the rates of patient recruitment and enrollm

» the duration of patient treatment and fol-up;

» the costs of manufacturing our drug candidates;

» the costs, requirements, timing of, and abilitpécure regulatory approva

Interest income For the year ended December 31, 2011, we recedmipproximately $3,783 in interest income compéwekD of
interest income for the period from September D3,02(Puma’s date of inception) to December 31, 288ed on market conditions we
placed our excess funds in money market accounli®rthigh yield” savings accounts.

Other expenseFor the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurtteer expense of $80,000 compared to $0 for thegé&om
September 15, 2010 (Puma’s date of inception) tweBer 31, 2010In connection with the Merger, we paid our formerckholders $40,00
in exchange for 3,000,000 shares of our commorkgiacsuant to the Redemption Agreement and we thaid counsel $40,000 for legal fees
incurred in connection with the Merger.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Operating Activities

We reported a net loss of approximately $10.2 aniliand negative cash flow from operating activibéapproximately $1.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2011. Our net lossBwma’s date of inception, September 15, 2010gceihber 31, 2011, amounted to
approximately $10.2 million, while negative castwflfrom operating activities amounted to approxisha$1.8 million.

Net cash used in operating activities through Ddmm31, 2011 includes a net loss of $10.2 millidjusted for non-cash items of
approximately $7.6 million for the issuance of ai-gilutive warrant, $0.4 million resulting fronnallowance received from the landlord, an
increase in accounts payable and accrued expehapproximately $0.6 million, stock option experge$0.1 million, and an increase in
prepaid expenses and other assets of approxint@edymillion. The increase in accounts payableaswtued expenses is a direct result of the
Company commencing operations in the fourth quaft@011.

We anticipate that our cash on hand, includingaaish equivalents as of December 31, 2011, willifficgent to enable us to meet our
anticipated expenditures for at least the next d&tirs. We expect to continue incurring significksses for the foreseeable future. Our
continued operations will depend on whether weabite to raise additional funds through either sgit alliance with a third party concerning
one or more of our product candidates or througtitimehal equity or debt financing. Through DecemBg&r 2011, a significant portion of our
financing has primarily been through private plaeats of our equity securities. We will continuguad operations from cash on hand and
through the similar sources of capital previousdgatibed. We can give no assurances that any aclaittapital raised will be sufficient to m
our needs. Further, in light of current economioditons, including the lack of access to the adpitarkets being experienced by small
companies, particularly in our industry, there bamo assurance that such capital will be availables on favorable terms or at all. If we are
unable to raise additional funds in the future,magy be forced to delay or discontinue the develagraéone or more of our product
candidates and forego attractive business oppdiganAny additional sources of financing will lilkgnvolve the sale of our equity securities,
which will have a dilutive effect on our stockhotde

Investing Activitie:

Net cash used in investing activities was approséfyebl.7 million for the year ended December 3112 The major portion, $1.1
million, represents a high yield savings accounicivlivas opened to secure a stand-by letter of cieglied to our landlord as collateral for our
office lease. The Company invested approximatelf $dillion in computer equipment and systems amut@pmately $0.4 million in leasehc
improvements.

37



Table of Contents

Financing Activities

October 2011 Common Stock Offerilgmediately prior to the Merger, pursuant to the8#ies Purchase Agreement, Puma sold
14,666,733 shares of its common stock to certatitinional and accredited investors at a priceshare of $3.75, for aggregate gross proceed:
of approximately $55 million. Puma also issued aramt to each investor that provided such invesithn anti-dilution protection in regard to
certain issuances of securities. We assumed thasants in the Merger and they are exercisable ibmhg sell securities at a price below $3
per share on or prior to the date on which shafesiocommon stock are first quoted in an overdbanter market or listed for quotation on a
national securities exchange or trading systeneitiave not previously sold securities for less $&@5 per share. Otherwise, the warrants
have a ten-year term and an exercise price of §ie@%hare.

We reimbursed the lead investor in this privateg@maent $125,000 for all of its reasonable feesexpenses, including legal fees,
associated with the private placement. In additiortonnection with Leerink Swann LLC, or Leerirdcting as Puma’s placement agent in this
private placement, we paid Leerink $2,338,215 aspamsation for its services and $75,000 for reirshie expenses.

November 2011 Common Stock Offeridg.November 18, 2011, we entered into subscriggneements with 139 accredited investors,
pursuant to which we sold in a private placemeraggregate of 1,333,267 shares of common stoclkate per share of $3.75 per share, for
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $5.@milLeerink Swann LLC acted as lead placement iageeh National Securities Corporation
acted as co-placement agent in connection withpitivate placement and received compensation afoxppately $84,000 and $150,000,
respectively. In addition to the costs noted abaxeeincurred legal fees and other costs totalimy@pmately $487,000 associated with the
equity raises.

Current and Future Financing Needs

We have incurred negative cash flows from operatgince we started our business. We have spengxatt to continue to spend,
substantial amounts in connection with implementing business strategy, including our planned prbdavelopment efforts, our clinical
trials, and our research and development efforitgerGthe current and desired pace of clinical dgwelent of our three product candidates,
the next 12 months we estimate that our researthlanelopment spending will be approximately $20ioni to $25 million. We will need
approximately $5 million to $6 million for gener@hd administrative expenses over the next 12 moiitisactual amount of funds we will
need to operate is subject to many factors, someéhiwh are beyond our control.

In addition, we have based our estimate on assongpthat may prove to be wrong. We may need tamhtiditional funds sooner than
planned or in greater amounts than we currentlicipate. Potential sources of financing includatggic relationships, public or private sales
of equity or debt and other sources of funds. Wg sk to access the public or private equity ntankden conditions are favorable due to
our long-term capital requirements. We do not heawe committed sources of financing at this timed &ims uncertain whether additional
funding will be available when we need it on tetimat will be acceptable to us, or at all. If weseafunds by selling additional shares of
common stock or other securities convertible irdmmon stock, the ownership interests of our exgssitmckholders will be diluted. If we are
not able to obtain financing when needed, we mayrtable to carry out our business plan. As a reagltmay have to significantly limit our
operations, and our business, financial conditiwh esults of operations would be materially harntieduch an event, we will be required to
undertake a thorough review of our programs, aedtiportunities presented by such programs, andaaé# our resources in the manner most
prudent.

Contractual Obligations
As a smaller reporting company, we are not requioaetisclose information under this section.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any “off-balance sheet agreemeassgefined by SEC regulations.

Critical Accounting Policies
Research and Developme

Research and development expenses are chargedrtiops as incurred. Research and developmenhs@pe&onsist of salaries, bene
and other personnel related costs, clinical tnal eelated clinical manufacturing costs, contraxt autside service fees, cost of contract
research organizations that manage our clinicaktrand cost of contract organizations for gieical development. We account for our clin
trial costs by estimating the total cost to treptient in each clinical trial and recognize tbast based on a variety of factors, beginning with
preparation for the clinical trial and patient a@rinto the clinical trial. The estimated costlirtdes payments for clinical trial sites and patient
related costs, including laboratory costs relatethé conduct of the trial and other costs. Weweéor costs incurred as services are provided
for monitoring of the trial and as invoices aregiged from external service providers. We adjustamcruals in the period when actual costs
become known. Cost related to the acquisition cfinelogy rights and patents for which developmemntiws still in process are charged to
operations as incurred and considered a compofiees@arch and development costs.

Investment Securitie

Investment securities consist of high-grade matketdebt securities of financial institutions aridey corporations. The Company
classifies all investment securities (short-terrd Eomg-term) as available-for-sale, as the salguch securities may be required prior to
maturity to implement management’s strategies. &lsesurities are carried at fair value, with theeafized gains and losses, if material,
reported as a component of accumulated other cdrapséve income (loss) in stockholders’ equity urgdlized. Realized gains and losses
from the sale of available-for-sale securitiegrif/, are determined on a specific identificatiosi®aA decline in the market value of any
available-for-sale security below cost that is deteed to be other than temporary results in altatn of its carrying amount to fair value.
The impairment is charged to earnings and a newhasss for the security is established. No sugbeimment charges were recorded for any
period presented. Premiums and discounts are amdrtir accreted over the life of the related s¢cas an adjustment to yield using the
straight-line method. Interest income is recognizében earned.

Several methods are used to determine the faievaflour investment securities. For securities ¢ieatterally have market prices from
multiple sources, a weighted average price for aachirity is determined. Market prices are recefvech a variety of industry standard data
providers, security master files from large finahanstitutions, and other third-party sources. Pphiees are input into a distribution curese!
algorithm to determine the daily market value. Siies with a structure that implies a standardestpd market price are priced at the expe
market price. For example, an open-ended moneyehérkd expected to maintain a Net Asset Valuelop& share would be priced at the
expected market price. Securities with short magsriand infrequent secondary market trades acegrsing mathematical calculations. In the
case of a certain issue of commercial paper, imbsence of any observable transactions, we magtadcom purchase price at purchase date
to face value at maturity. In the event that ageation is observed on the same security in thé&et@lace, the price on that subsequent
transaction would reflect the market price on theat and we would adjust the price to the obsersatsaction price.

Warrants Issued with Private Placement:

In connection with the October 2011 Securities Rase Agreement, the Company issued dihitive warrants to 27 investors (see No
of the accompanying financial statements). Thevialue of warrants were estimated at the datesofisce using the Monte Carlo Simulation
method. As the Company has no trading historyQbmpany calculated the expected volatility basetheristorical volatilities of nine
companies with similar attributes to the Comparghiding industry, stage of life cycle, size andaficial leverage. The ridkee rate was bast
on the U.S. Treasury yield curve covering the tefrthe warrants.
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The fair value of the warrants issued were detegthimsing the Monte Carlo Simulation method withftiiowing assumptions:

2011
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 84.4%
Risk-free interest rat 1.81%
Common stock price on date of issua $ 3.7¢
Exercise price $ 0.01
Warrant term in year 10

Using the above assumptions, the portion of theapei placement proceeds attributed to the fairevafithe warrants was determined to
be $1,758,338 and is recorded within additionatipaicapital.

Stock-based Compensation

As required, we adopted Financial Accounting Statiel®8oard (“FASB”) Accounting Standards CodificatifASC") 718, or ASC 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensatiéy&C 718 requires the fair value of all stock-lsthpayments to employees, including grants of stock
options, to be recognized in the statement of djperaover the requisite service period. Adoptiéthe fair value method required by ASC -
will have a material impact on our results of opieras, although it will have no impact on our célsivs or our overall financial position.
Because of the variability in the assumptions usdtle valuation of stock options granted and tagability in the quantity and other terms of
stock-based awards we may issue in the futureability to predict future stock-based compensaéigpense is limited. Under ASC 718,
employee option grants are generally valued agthat date and those valuations do not change tbegehave been established. The Comg
recognizes the valuation of each stock option goaet the service period of the grant, which nofynedbmmences with the grant date but can
precede the grant date. Our 2011 financial stat&sweflect stock option grants issued to our emgdsywhere the service period commenced
prior to their grant date of 2012. The amounts geized in the financial statements related to eggsostock-based compensation were
approximately $67,000 and $0 for the years endezeidéer 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, and weteded in general and administrative
expenses and research and development expensesnéllsded in stock-based compensation expens20fbt was approximately $7.6 million
related to the anti-dilutive warrant issued to G&HO on October 4, 2011, compared to $0 expense@lii &see note 7 of the accompanying
financial statements).

The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of grant using the Black-Scholes optidoipg model. As allowed by ASC
718 for companies with a short period of publichded stock history, management’s estimate of égdewmlatility is based on historical
volatilities of a sampling of five companies witimdar attributes to our Company, including indyststage of life cycle, size and financial
leverage. As we have only awarded “plain vanilldays,” as determined by Staff Accounting Bullelin. 107, we used the “simplified
method” for determining the expected life of thdiops granted. The risk-free interest rate for gasiwithin the estimated life of the option is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effethatime of grant valuation. ASC 718 does notvaltmmpanies to account for option
forfeitures as they occur. Instead, estimated aftofeitures must be calculated upfront to redineeoption expense to be recognized over the
life of the award and updated upon further infoliorags to the amount of options expected to besfied.

The fair value of options granted to employees @sisnated using the Black-Scholes option-pricingletowith the following weighted-
average assumptions used during the year endedribec81, 2011:

2011
Dividend yield 0.C%
Expected volatility 86.(%
Risk-free interest rat 1.1%
Expected life in year 5.81
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The fair value of the anti-dilutive warrant as acéd@mber 31, 2011, issued to the Company’s CEO eesident, Alan H. Auerbach, was
measured using the Monte Carlo Simulation methadracorded as stock-based compensation in ounstateof operations. Management’s
estimate of volatility was based on average valigs of a sampling of nine companies with simé#iributes to the Company including
industry, stage of life cycle, size and financeldrage. The risk free rate is based on geld)-U.S. Treasury yield. The fair value was estid
based on projected equity raises ranging from $illiomto $100 million in 2013 using weighted prdbkty factors and the following
assumptions:

2011
Dividend yield 0%
Risk-free interest rat 1.81%-
1.8%
Warrant term in year 10
Expected volatility 84.4%-
85.1%

We will revalue the warrant each reporting periatilisuch time as the grant date of the warradetermined.

Recently Issued Accounting Stande

The Company has adopted all recently issued acicmuptonouncements. The adoption of the accoumtingouncements is not
anticipated to have a material effect on the opmratof the Company.

In May 2011, FASB issued Accounting Standards Upds. 2011-04, or ASU 2011-0Bair Value Measurement (Topic 820):
Amendments to Achieve Common Fair Value MeasureaneinDisclosure Requirements in U.S. G£and IFRSs which clarifies some
existing concepts and expands the disclosureafovélue measurements that are estimated usingisant unobservable (Level 3) inputs.
ASU 2011-04 was effective for the Company beginniaguary 1, 2012, and the Company does not expeetdoption of ASU 2011-04 to
have a material effect on its financial conditipmofitability, and cash flows.

In June 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-0amprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationah@-ehensive Incomhich requires an
entity to present the total of comprehensive incotime components of net income, and the compormdmtther comprehensive income eithe
a single continuous statement of comprehensivemecor in two separate but consecutive statemantseliminates that option to present
components of other comprehensive income as pdnedftatement of equity. In December 2011, FASBad ASU 2011-12, which deferred
guidance on whether to require entities to pressiassification adjustments out of accumulate@otomprehensive income by component in
both the statement where net income is presentthanstatement where other comprehensive incomesented for both interim and annual
financial statements. ASU 2011-12 reinstated thi@irements for the presentation of reclassificatitirat were in place prior to the issuance of
ASU 2011-05 and did not change the effective datéA\SU 2011-05. ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011-12 wefeatifve for the Company
beginning January 1, 2012, and the Company doesxpeict the adoption of ASU 2011-05 and ASU 2011ellzave a material effect on its
financial condition.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK ET RISK
As a smaller reporting company, we are not requioadisclose the information required by this Item.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

All financial statements and supplementary dataired by this Item are listed in Part IV, Iltem 1&luis Annual Report and are preser
beginning on Page F-1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that information requindabtdisclosed in our reports under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetthedExchange Act, is recorded, processed, sumethard reported within the timelines
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and thahsnformation is accumulated and communicatedutoneanagement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Senior Vice President, Firggras appropriate, to allow timely decisions regeydequired disclosure. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedumasiagement recognized that any controls and proesdoo matter how well designed and
operated, can only provide reasonable assurareeh@dving the desired control objectives, and achéng a reasonable level of assurance,
management necessarily was required to applydgnent in evaluating the cost-benefit relationsifipossible controls and procedures.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Senior Vice President,
Finance, we have evaluated the effectiveness oflisatosure controls and procedures (as defineémiBrchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)), as of
December 31, 2011. Based on that evaluation, oief &xecutive Officer and Senior Vice Presidentdfice have concluded that these
disclosure controls and procedures were effectvef ®ecember 31, 2011.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirng

There was no change in our internal control ovaairicial reporting that occurred during the fisazddger ended December 31, 2011, that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, our internal control over fir@al reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@orting, as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Inteaoatrol over financial reporting is a processigesd to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingdithe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Principal Execu@®fécer and Principal Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effeamti@ss of our internal control over financial repaytas of December 31, 2011. Management
based its assessment on the criteria set forthdoZbmmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadweay Commission ifnternal Control—
Integrated Framewor. Based on this evaluation, our management condltit® as of December 31, 2011, our internal cowtrer financial
reporting was effective at the reasonable assurawet

The Company’s internal control over financial refpay was not subject to attestation by the Companggistered public accounting firm
pursuant to the rules of the SEC that permit then@any, as a smaller reporting company, to provitdg management’s report in this annual
report.

ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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Part Ill
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxst&ment for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockhadderhich will be filed with the
SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2011.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxgt&ment for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockhadderhich will be filed with the
SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2011.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxgt&ment for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockhadderhich will be filed with the
SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2011.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxst&ment for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockhadderhich will be filed with the
SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2011.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated by reference to our definitive Proxgt&ment for the 2012 Annual Meeting of Stockhadderhich will be filed with the
SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2011.

Part IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statésrigeginning on Page F-1 hereof.

Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Documents Filed as Part of Report
(1) Financial Statements.

» Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfimm F-2
» Balance Sheets at December 31, 2011 and F-3
» Statements of Operations For the Years Ended Deze&ih 2011 and 201 F-4
» Statements of Stockhold’ Equity For the Years Ended December 31, 2011 ad@ F-5
» Statements of Cash Flows For the Years Ended Dezre®ih 2011 and 201 F-6
* Notes to Financial Statemer F-7

(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
Financial Statement Schedules have been omittemlisedhey are either not required or not applicatsleecause the information

required to be presented is included in the finalrstatements or the notes thereto included inAhisual Report.
(3) Exhibits.

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibiterare filed or incorporated by reference as plttiie Annual Report and such
Exhibit Index is incorporated by reference.

43



Table of Contents

Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduolp authorized, on March 29, 2012.

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.

By: /s/ Alan H. Auerbacl
Alan H. Auerbact
President & Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pemsbose signature appears below constitutes ansirgppAlan H.
Auerbach and Charles R. Eyler, and each or anybtieem, each with the power of substitution, hisier attorney-in-fact, to sign any
amendments to this report, with exhibits therett atfier documents in connection therewith, with$leeurities and Exchange Commission,

hereby ratifying and confirming all that each oidsattorneys-infact, or his or her substitute or substitutes, m@yr cause to be done by virl
hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed éydhowing persons in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title

Title Date
/s/ Alan H. Auerbach President, Chief Executive Officer and DirectoriiBipal March 29, 2012
Alan H. Auerbact Executive Officer)
/sl Charles R. Eyler Senior Vice President, Finance and Administratiod @reasurer March 29, 2012
Charles R. Eyle (Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourgiOfficer)
/sl Thomas R. Malley Director March 29, 2012

Thomas R. Malle
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Incorporation by Reference
No. Description Form Exhibit Filing Date
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September®9,,by and among Innovative 8-K 2.1 10/4/2011
Acquisitions Corp., IAC Merger Corporation, a Delaw corporation and wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Puma BiotdolgyoInc., a Delaware
corporation
3.1 Certificate of Merger relating to the merger of IAM&rger Corporation with and into 8-K 3.1 10/11/2011
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., filed with the Secretafystate of Delaware on October 4,
2011
3.2 Certificate of Ownership and Merger relating to therger of Puma Biotechnology, | 8-K 3.2 10/11/2011
with and into Innovative Acquisitions Corp., filedth the Secretary of State of the
State of Delaware on October 4, 2(
3.3 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatéafjled with the Secretary of State DEF 14C  Appendix 1 10/24/2011
of the State of Delaware on November 14, 2
3.4 Bylaws of Puma Biotechnology, In 1C-SB 3.2 9/14/2007
4.1 Form of Common Stock Certifica S-1/A 4.1 2/1/2012
4.2 Form of Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common SibBkima Biotechnology, Inc., 8-K 4.1 10/11/2011
dated October 4, 2011, issued to investors in fEipkacemen
4.3 Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of Riatachnology, Inc., dated 8-K 4.2 10/11/2011
October 4, 2011, issued to Alan H. Auerb.
10.1* License Agreement, dated August 18, 2011, by ahddsn the Company, as succes  8-K/A 10.1 12/16/2011
to Puma Biotechnology, Inc., and Pfizer |
10.2 Redemption Agreement, dated October 4, 2011, byaamzhg Innovative Acquisitior 8-K 10.2 10/11/2011
Corp., Robert Johnson, Faraaz Siddigi and Kapil jsi
10.3 Indemnity Agreement, dated as of September 29, 204 And among Innovative 8-K 10.1 10/4/2011
Acquisitions Corp., Puma Biotechnology, Inc., Rald&hnson, Faraaz Siddigi and
Kapil Munjal
10.4 Puma Biotechnology, Inc. 2011 Incentive Award PEssumed in the Merg 8-K 10.4 10/11/2011
10.5+ Form of Stock Option Grant Notice and Stock Op#greement, issued pursuant to
2011 Incentive Award Pla
10.6+ Form of Chief Executive Officer Stock Option Graddtice and Stock Optio

Agreement, issued pursuant to the 2011 Incentivardwlar
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Exhibit
No.

10.7

10.8
10.9

10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13

10.14

24.1+
31.1+

31.2+

32.1+

32.2+

101.INS+

101.SCH+
101.CAL+
101.DEF+
101.LAB+
101.PRE+

Incorporation by Reference

Description Form  Exhibit Filing Date
Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 4128¢ and among Puma, the invesi 8- 10.5 12/16/2011
listed on Exhibit A attached thereto and the Coryy K/A

Amendment No. 1 to Registration Rights Agreen 8K 10.2 11/23/2011
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 4,, 2§land among Puma, the invest 8- 10.6  12/16/2011
listed on Schedule 1 attached hereto and the Coyr K/A

Letter Agreement, dated October 21, 2011, betweerCompany and Richard Philli 8K 10.1 10/27/2011
Letter Agreement, dated October 21, 2011, betweeiCompany and Charles Ey 8K 10.2 10/27/2011
Form of Subscription Agreeme 8K 10.1 11/23/2011
Office Lease by and between Puma Biotechnology,dnd CA- 10880 Wilshire Limitec 8-K 10.1 12/13/2011
Partnership, executed on December 7, 2

Employment Agreement, dated January 19, 2012, dybatween Puma Biotechnology, i 8K 101 1/24/2012

and Alan H. Auerbac
Power of Attorney (included on signature pa

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, agqéred by Section 302 of the Sarbe-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, aso@ired by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer, agjéred by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer, aso@ired by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Linkbase Documi

+ Filed herewitt

* Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asteriskay@ been omitted pursuant to a request for cortfimleneatment pursuant to Rule -2
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

** |n accordance with Rule 406(T) of Regulatic-T, the XBRL-related information in Exhibit 101 shall be deentete” furnishe¢’ and
not“filed” and shall not be part of this Annual Rep
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of P@itdechnology, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance she@smé Biotechnology, Inc. (A Development Stage Camgpéthe “Company”) as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related statsrokoperations, changes in stockholders’ eqaity, cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2011, for the period September 15) 2@4te of inception) through December 31, 201@,fanthe period September 15, 2010
(date of inception) through December 31, 2011. PBingechnology, Inc.’s management is responsibtdtfese financial statements. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on thesaritial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBlgUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether the finatataiments are free of material
misstatements. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of tisriral controls over financial reporting.
Our audits included consideration of internal colstiover financial reporting as a basis for desigraudit procedures that are appropriate i
circumstance, but not for the purpose of expresaimgpinion on the effectiveness of the Compamytsrnal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audifudes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdghe amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. An audit also includes assgdhe accounting principles used and signifiesiimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@rtaWe believe that our audits provide a reastenbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrealove present fairly, in all material respedts, financial position of Puma Biotechnology,
Inc. (A Development Stage Company) as of Decembe@11 and 2010, and the results of its operatmasits cash flows for the year ended
December 31, 2011, for the period September 15) 2@4te of inception) through December 31, 201@,fanthe period September 15, 2010
(date of inception) through December 31, 2011 omfermity with accounting principles generally aptedl in the United States of America.

/sl PKF
San Diego, Californi PKF
March 29, 201: Certified Public Accountant

A Professional Corporatic
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010

December 31
December 31

2011 2010
ASSETS
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel $ 53,381,73 $ —
Prepaid expenses and other as 281,09¢ —
Total current asse 53,662,83 —
Property and equipment, r 682,05: —
Restricted cas 1,053,28: —
Total asset $ 55,398,16 $ —
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 86,66¢ $ —
Accrued expense 499,54. —
Total current liabilities 586,21 —
Deferred ren 439,42: —
Total liabilities 1,025,63: —
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder equity:
Common stock—$.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shart®azed; 20,040,000 and 4,000,000

shares issued and outstanding at December 31,&@12010, respective 2,00¢ 40C
Additional paic-in capital 64,610,344 6,531
Deficit accumulated during the development si (10,239,80) (6,93))
Total stockholder equity 54,372,53 —
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 55,398,16 $ —

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating expense

General and administrati\
Research and developmt
Depreciation and amortizatic
Totals

Loss from operation

Other income (expense:!

Interest incomt

Other income (expens

Totals

Net loss

Net loss applicable to common stc
Net loss per common sh—basic and dilute:

Weighte-average common shares outstan—basic and dilute:

Year ended
December 31, 20:

$ 9,319,58
826,37
10,702
10,156,66

(10,156,66)

3,78¢
(80,000
(76,217

$ (10,232,87)
$ (10,232.87)
$ (1.321)
7,746,52!

Period from
September 15, 2010
(date of inception) t
December 31, 20: December 31, 20:

$ 6,931 $ 9,326,51

— 826,37

— 10,702

6,931 10,163,59

(6,93)) (10,163,59)

— 3,78¢

— (80,000

— (76,21)

$ (6,930 $ (10,239,80)

$ (6,939 $ (10,239,80)
$ (0.0029)
4,000,001

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.

(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 15, 2010 (DATE OF INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2011

Balances, beginnin

Common stock issued for cash at $.0001 per ¢

Paic-in capital

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

Paic-in capital

Issuance of shares of common stock through pr
placements at $3.75 per share, net of issuance

Conversion of stockholder notes payable to ec

Stock option compensatic

Anti-dilutive warrant

Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2C

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Common Stock

Deficit
Accumulated

Additional During the
Paid-in Development
Shares Amount Capital Stage Total
— $— 3 — 3 — 3 —
4,000,00! 40C — — 40C
— — 6,531 — 6,531
— — — (6,93]) (6,931)
4,000,00! 40C 6,531 (6,931) —
— — 61,98: — 61,98
16,000,00 1,60( 56,739,20 — 56,740,80
40,00( 4 149,99¢ — 150,00(
— — 67,022 — 67,02:
— — 7,585,60! — 7,585,601
— — — (10,232,87) (10,232,87)
20,040,00 $2,00¢ $64,610,34 $(10,239,80) $54,372,53
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A DEVELOPMENT STAGE COMPANY)
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Period from

September 15, 2010
(date of inception) to

Year ended December 31

December 31, 20: 2010 2011
Operating activities
Net loss $ (10,232,87) $(6,937) $(10,239,80)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 10,70: — 10,70:
Build out allowance received from landlc 439,42: — 439,42:
Stock option expens 67,02: — 67,02:
Anti-dilutive warrant 7,585,601 — 7,585,60!
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Prepaid expenses and other as (281,09¢) — (281,09¢)
Accounts payable and accrued expel 586,21 — 586,21
Net cash used in operating activit (1,825,01) (6,937 (1,831,94)
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipm (253,339 — (253,33
Expenditures for leasehold improveme (439,42) — (439,42)
Restricted cas (1,053,28) — (1,053,28)
Net cash used in investing activiti (1,746,03) — (1,746,03)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of stockholder convertibte payable 150,00( — 150,00
Net proceeds from issuance of common s 56,740,80 40C 56,741,20
Capital contributions by stockhold 61,98 6,531 68,51«
Net cash provided by financing activiti 56,952,79 6,931 56,959,72
Net increase in cash and cash equival 53,381,73 — 53,381,73
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe — — —
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 53,381,73 $ — $53,381,73
Supplemental disclosures of r-cash investing and financing activitit
Conversion of stockholde’ note payable to common sto $ 150,00( $ — $ 150,00(

SEE ACCOMPANYING NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Business and Basis of Presentation:
Business:

Puma Biotechnology, Inc. is a development stagphH@iomaceutical company based in Los Angeles, CaldoReferences in these Notes
to Financial Statements to the “Company” refer tionB Biotechnology, Inc., a private Delaware compiangned on September 15, 2010, for
periods prior to the Merger (as defined below), Badha Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware company faroe April 27, 2007 and formerly
known as Innovative Acquisitions Corp., for periddsowing the Merger. The Company’s strategy iditense and develop novel therapeutics
for the treatment of cancer that have previoussnttested in clinical trials, enabling it to obtaim initial indication of the drug’s safety and
biological activity in humans before committing @apto the drug’s development.

Basis of Presentation:

The Company is a development stage enterprise gihas not yet generated any revenue from theagleoducts and, through
December 31, 2011, its efforts have been pringigdgloted to identifying and acquiring, by licemsentherwise, drug candidates for the
treatment of cancer. Accordingly, the accompanyingncial statements have been prepared in accoedaith Financial Accounting Standa
Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards CodificatiolAGC”) 915,Development Stage Entitie$he Company has reported a net loss of
$10,232,878 and negative cash flows from operatuiiyities of $1,825,018 for the year ended Decarlie2011. The net loss from the date
of inception, September 15, 2010, to December @112amounted to $10,239,809. Management belidatthie Company will continue to
incur net losses and negative net cash flows frparating activities through the drug developmentpss.

The Company'’s continued operations will dependtslbility to raise funds through various potensialirces such as equity and debt
financing. Through December 31, 2011, the Compafiyancing has been through private equity placamand capital contributions by the
Company’s founder and CEO. The Company will corgitmifund operations through similar sources oftaapreviously described. The
Company can give no assurances that any additiapédal that it is able to obtain will be sufficteiln meet its needs. Given the current and
desired pace of clinical development of its thresdpct candidates, management estimates that thp&wy has sufficient cash on hand to f
clinical development through 2012 and into 2013wideer, the Company may choose to raise additicmaital before 2013 in order to fund its
future development activities, likely by sellingashs of common stock. If it is unable to raise ddal capital, the Company will likely be
forced to curtail desired development activitiehjck will delay the development of its product ciglades. There can be no assurance that sucl
capital will be available on favorable terms oakt The Company will need additional financing ré&fter until it can achieve profitability, if
ever.

Note 2—Merger with Public Company:

On September 29, 2011, the Company entered indgaement and plan of merger (the “Merger Agreethenith Innovative
Acquisitions Corp. (“IAC”) and its wholly-owned ssidiary, IAC Merger Corporation (“Merger Sub”). @rctober 4, 2011, the Company
completed a reverse merger in which Merger Sub etewgth and into the Company and the Company becamieolly-owned subsidiary of
IAC (the “Merger”).

At the effective time of the Merger, the Companyisn issued and outstanding 18,666,733 shareswhom stock were exchanged for
18,666,733 shares of common stock of IAC. At tHeative time of the Merger, each share of the Camggaommon stock that was outstand
immediately prior to the effective time was caned|lwith one share of the Company common stocleégsu IAC. Concurrently, IAC
redeemed all of
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its shares from its pre-Merger stockholders in excfe for an aggregate consideration of $40,000kpattie Company. The Company paid
$40,000 for IAC's professional fees associated withMerger, directly to the service providers.I&wing the Merger and the redemption, the
Company'’s prior stockholders owned the same peagenf IAC's common stock as they held of the Camyfsacommon stock prior to the
Merger.

Upon completion of the Merger, the Company mergéh and into IAC, and IAC adopted the Company’sibess plan and changed its
name to “Puma Biotechnology, Indzurther, upon completion of the Merger, the exgstifficers and directors of IAC resigned and thisting
officers and directors of the Company were appdiuatificers and directors of IAC.

The Merger was accounted for as a reverse acquisitith the Company as the accounting acquirerlA@das the accounting acquiree.
The merger of a private operating company intooerating public shell corporation with nominat mssets is considered to be a capital
transaction, in substance, rather than a busirmabioation, for accounting purposes. Accordinghg €Company treated this transaction as a
capital transaction without recording goodwill aljusting any of its other assets or liabilitieseTdonsideration in the amount of $80,000 paid
to the former stockholders of IAC and their attgrmeas recorded as an other expense item and intindbe Company’s net loss for the year
ending December 31, 2011.

As a condition to the Merger, the Company entenéal &an Indemnity Agreement dated September 29,,20ith former officers and
directors of IAC, pursuant to which IAC agreedndémnify such former officers and directors foli@ts$ taken by such officers and directors
in their official capacities relating to the considtion, approval and consummation of the Merger.

Note 3—Significant Accounting Policies:
The significant accounting policies followed in thieeparation of these financial statements arelisifs:

Use of Estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assmsipiat affect reported amounts of assets andifiabiand disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the balance shedtraported amounts of expenses for the period pregeAccordingly, actual results could differ
from those estimates. Significant estimates inchih@evaluation of the warrant issued to the CEOtéNQ. The value of the warrant includes
estimates based on future events which are difftoybredict. It is at least reasonably possibé thchange in the estimates used to value the
warrant will occur in the near term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

The Company considers all highly-liquid investmenith original maturities of three months or legde cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are carried at cost, which approximiatievalue.

Investment Securities:

The Company classifies all investment securitiésitsterm and long-term) as available-for-salethessale of such securities may be
required prior to maturity to implement managemesttategies. These securities are carried atdhie, with the unrealized gains and losses,
if material, reported as a component of accumulathdr comprehensive income (loss) in stockholdeggity until realized. Realized gains ¢
losses from the sale of available-for-sale se@gitif any, are determined on a specific identificabasis. A decline in the market value of any
available-for-sale security below cost that is dateed to be other than temporary results in altaten of its carrying amount to fair value.
The impairment is charged to earnings and a newhasss for the security is established. Premiuntsdiscounts are amortized or accreted
over the life of the related security as an adjesinto yield using the straight-line method. Ingtli@ecome is recognized when earned.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis:

ASC 820,Fair Value MeasuremerftASC 820”) provides a single definition of fair k& and a common framework for measuring fair
value as well as new disclosure requirements fovédue measurements used in
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financial statements. Under ASC 820, fair valuddtermined based upon the exit price that woultebeived by a company to sell an asset or
paid a company to transfer a liability in an orgldransaction between market participants, exctusivany transaction costs. Fair value
measurements are determined by either the pringipaket or the most advantageous market. The pahaiarket is the market with the
greatest level of activity and volume for the assdtability. Absent a principal market to meastae value, the Company uses the most
advantageous market, which is the market from wtiiehCompany would receive the highest sellingepfiz the asset or pay the lowest price
to settle the liability, after considering transactcosts. However, when using the most advantage@uket, transactions costs are only
considered to determine which market is the mogamihgeous and these costs are then excluded \ppbiing a fair value measurement. A
820 creates a three-level hierarchy to priorittee inputs used in the valuation techniques to édair values. The basis for fair value
measurements for each level within the hierarctdeicribed below, with Level 1 having the highesinity and Level 3 having the lowest.

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiesotive markets; quoted prices for identical or Eminstruments in
markets that are not active; and model-derivedatans in which all significant inputs are obsereaih active
markets.

Level 3: Valuations derived from valuation techniques inathbne or more significant inputs are unobserve

Following are the major categories of assets medsatrfair value on a recurring basis as of Decer@bg2011, using quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets (Level 1); significatiter observable inputs (Level 2); and significambbservable inputs (Level 3):

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash equivalent — —
$53,003,45 $ $ $53,003,45

The Company’s investments in short-term and lomgrti@vestment securities are exposed to pricedhttdns. The fair value
measurements for short-term and long-term investiseturities are based upon the quoted price imeactarkets multiplied by the number of
securities owned, exclusive of any transactionscastl without any adjustments to reflect discothms may be applied to selling a large block
of securities at one time.

Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment are recorded at cost anecdafed over estimated useful lives ranging franeé to five years using the straight-
line method. Leasehold improvements are recordedsitand amortized over the shorter of their Udefess or the term of the lease by use of
the straight-line method. Maintenance and repatscare charged to operations as incurred.

The Company assesses the impairment of long-ligedtsa, primarily property and equipment, whenevents or changes in business
circumstances indicate that carrying amounts obsets may not be fully recoverable. When suchtswcur, management determines
whether there has been an impairment, by comp#nmgsset’s carrying value with its fair valuenasasured by the anticipated undiscounted
net cash flows of the asset. Should impairment gtkis asset is written down to its estimatedaiue. The Company has not recognized any
impairment losses through December 31, 2011.

Research and Development Expenses:

Research and development costs are charged tatioperas incurred. Research and development expémsdade costs associated with
services provided by consultants who conduct rebeam behalf of the Company, contract organizatfonsnanufacturing of clinical materials
and clinical trials. In the case of clinical triaésportion of the estimated cost normally relatethe projected cost to treat a patient in thed<ri
and this cost is
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recognized over the estimated term of the studgdbas the number of patients enrolled in the tiahn ongoing basis, beginning with patient
enroliment. The Company determines the total cbatgiven study based on the terms of the relavetract. The Company accrues for costs
incurred as services are being provided by momitptie status of the trial and the invoices reakivem its external service providers. As
actual costs become known, the Company adjustedisials in that period. Costs related to the attipm of technology rights and patents for
which development work is still in process are gealrto operations as incurred and considered a@oemp of research and development ct

Concentration of Risk:

Financial instruments, which potentially subje@ thompany to concentrations of credit risk, priatfipconsist of cash and cash
equivalents. The Company’s cash and cash equigaleixcess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Catiporand the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation insured limit at DecemberZ111 were approximately $54,178,000 due to thepigary Liquidity Guarantee
Program. The Company does not believe it is exptsedy significant credit risk.

Stock-Based Compensation:
Stock option awards:

ASC 718,Compensation-Stock Compensat{thSC 718”), requires the fair value of all sharasked payments to employees, including
grants of stock options, to be recognized in théestent of operations over the requisite servicmgeUnder ASC 718, employee option gr:
are generally valued at the grant date and thdsatans do not change once they have been edialilig he fair value of each option award is
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Bshaption-pricing model. As allowed by ASC 718 émmpanies with a short period of
publicly traded stock history, the Company’s estenaf expected volatility is based on the averageeted volatilities of a sampling of five
companies with similar attributes to the Compangluding industry, stage of life cycle, size anthficial leverage. The risk-free rate for
periods within the contractual life of the optienbiased on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in etiete time of grant valuation. ASC 718 does
not allow companies to account for option forfe#sias they occur; instead, estimated option forkest must be calculated when the option is
granted to reduce the option expense to be recedmizer the life of the award and updated uponipeoé further information as to the amo
of options expected to be forfeited. Due to itsitéd history, the Company uses the simplified métttodetermine the expected life of the
option grants.

Warrants:

Warrants granted to employees are normally valtiddesfair value of the instrument on the datehef grant (grant date) and are
recognized in the statement of operations overdtaisite service period. When the requisite serpieriod precedes the grant date and a
market condition exists in the warrant, the Compaalyes the warrant using the Monte Carlo Simutatitethod. As allowed by ASC 718 for
companies with a short period of publicly trademtkthistory, the Company’s estimate of expecteatidl is based on the average volatilities
of a sampling of nine companies with similar atités to the Company, including industry, stageéfefdycle, size and financial leverage. The
risk-free rate for periods within the contractutd bf the warrant is based on the U.S. Treasugldycurve in effect at the time of grant
valuation. In determining the value, the Compargides in the probability of the market conditiorcaming and several possible scenarios.
When the requisite service period precedes the geta and is deemed to be complete, the Compaoyd®the fair market value of the
warrant at the time of issuance as stock based epsapion as an equity transaction. The warrateis tevalued each reporting period up tc
grant date when the final fair value of the warriargstablished and recorded.

Income Taxes:

The Company follows ASC 74come Taxe§'ASC 7407), which requires recognition of deferred tax assetsl@bilities for the
expected future tax consequences of events thatleen included in the financial
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statements or tax returns. Under this method, oedaax assets and liabilities are based on tlierdifices between the financial statement and
tax bases of assets and liabilities using enaeatedates in effect for the year in which the diffieces are expected to reverse. Deferred tax
are reduced by a valuation allowance to the extemagement concludes it is more likely than nat tie asset will not be realized. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are measured using eddak rates expected to apply to taxable incontledryears in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled

The standard addresses the determination of whisthérenefits claimed or expected to be claimed tax return should be recorded in
the financial statements. Under ASC 740, the Compaay recognize the tax benefit from an uncertaingosition only if it is more likely the
not that the tax position will be sustained on exetion by the tax authorities, based on the texdimnerits of the position. The tax benefits
recognized in the financial statements from supbsition should be measured based on the largasfibthat has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settletheASC 740 also provides guidance onrdeegnition, classification, interest and penaltie
income taxes, accounting in interim periods andiireg increased disclosures. At the date of adop#ind as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
the Company does not have a liability for unrecagditax uncertainties.

The Company’s policy is to record interest and fieggon uncertain tax positions as income tax agpeAs of December 31, 2011 and
2010, the Company had no accrued interest or pegaétlated to uncertain tax positions.

Net Loss per Common Share:

Basic net loss per common share is computed bylidiyinet loss applicable to common stockholderthbyweighted average number of
common shares outstanding during the periods predes required by ASC 26Barnings Per ShareDiluted earnings per common share
have not been presented because the assumed exdrtie Company’s outstanding options would haeenbanti-dilutive. Potentially dilutive
securities excluded from the calculations amoute®l0,000 shares issuable upon exercise of options

Deferred Rent:

The Company has entered into an operating leaseagnt for its corporate offices that contain pmvis for future rent increases, a
leasehold improvement allowance and rent abaterméetCompany records monthly rent expense equbkttotal of the payments due over
the lease term, divided by the number of monthhefiease term. The difference between the rergresgorecorded and the amount paid is
credited or charged to deferred rent, which ise#éd as a separate line item in the accompanyilambe sheets. Additionally, the Company
recorded as deferred rent the cost of the leasétmpicbvements to the office paid by the landlordahhis amortized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.

Reclassifications:
Certain amounts for 2010 have been reclassifiedmdorm to the current year’'s presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:

The Company has adopted all recently issued acicmuptonouncements. The adoption of the accountingouncements is not
anticipated to have a material effect on the opmnatof the Company.

In May 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standarpgdadte (“ASU”) 2011-04, Fair Value Measurement (Tog20):Amendments to
Achieve Common Fair Value Measurement and DiscRaquirements in U.S. GAAP and IFwhich clarifies some existing concepts and
expands the disclosures for fair value measurentkatsare estimated using significant unobservéldgel 3) inputs. ASU 2011-04 will be
effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2@h2 the Company does not expect the adoptiorsaf 2011-04 to have a material effect
on its financial condition, profitability, and cafibws.
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In June 2011, FASB issued ASU 2011-0amprehensive Income (Topic 220): Presentationah@ehensive Incomhich requires an
entity to present the total of comprehensive incoime components of net income, and the comporudrtther comprehensive income eithe
a single continuous statement of comprehensiveniec@r in two separate but consecutive statemewt&iminates that option to present
components of other comprehensive income as pdnedftatement of equity. In December 2011, theBASued ASU 2011-12, which
deferred the guidance on whether to require estitigoresent reclassification adjustments out ofieulated other comprehensive income by
component in both the statement where net incorpeeisented and the statement where other compiigénsome is presented for both
interim and annual financial statements. ASU 202X€instated the requirements for the presentatioaclassifications that were in place
prior to the issuance of ASU 2011-05 and did neinge the effective date for ASU 2011-05. ASU 20%1a0d ASU 2011-12 will be effective
for the Company beginning January 1, 2012, ancCttrapany does not expect the adoption of ASU 201amebASU 2011-12 to have a
material effect on its financial condition.

Note 4—Property and Equipment:
Property and equipment at December 31 consistétedbllowing:

2011 2010
Leasehold improvements $439,42: $ —
Computer equipmet 216,11 —
Telephone equipmel 33,85¢ —
Furniture and fixture 3,36: —
692,75! —
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (10,709 —
Totals $682,05! $ —
Note 5—Accrued Expenses:
Accrued expenses at December 31 consisted of Hogvfog:
2011 2010
Accrued legal fee $149,05! $ —
Accrued compensatic 308,93¢ —
Other 41,55! —
Totals $499,54. $ —

Note 6—Private Placement and Other Offering:

On October 4, 2011, the Company completed a priplaigement pursuant to a Securities Purchase Agnetenwith certain institutional
and accredited investors. Pursuant to the Seauftiechase Agreement, the Company sold 14,666t#%38sof common stock at $3.75 per
share for aggregate gross proceeds of approxim&b&ymillion. The Company also issued a warrarmatoh investor that provided such
investor with anti-dilution protection. The warrargre exercisable only if the Company sells saesrét a price below $3.75 per share on or
prior to the date on which shares of Company comstock are first quoted in an over-the-counter retdk listed for quotation on a national
securities exchange or trading system. If sharessaued below $3.75 per share, the warrants edbime effective and have a ten-year term
and an exercise price of $0.01 per share (see Note

In connection with the Securities Purchase Agreentea Company entered into an agreement with h&eSivann LLC (“Leerink”)
whereby Leerink agreed to act as placement agerdrinection with the placement of the common shamesonsideration for Leerink’s
services, the Company agreed to pay
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Leerink aggregate cash commissions equal to 6%eoftoss cash proceeds from the equity placemeno mxceed $3.6 million. The
Company also agreed to pay Leerink up to $75,0@0ram-accountable reimbursement allowance. Thep@agnpaid Leerink $2,338,215 for
services and $75,000 for reimbursable expensabégorivate placement transaction. In addition,Gleenpany agreed to reimburse an investor
in the private placement for all of the reasondibés and expenses associated with this agreenigetsto a maximum aggregate amount of
$125,000.

On November 18, 2011, the Company entered intocsipii®n agreements with 139 accredited investaussuant to which the Company
sold 1,333,267 shares of common stock at a pricshmre of $3.75 for aggregate gross proceedsprbajmately $5 million. In connection
with the subscription agreements, the Company edt@ito an agreement with Leerink and National 8gea Corporation, whereby Leerink
agreed to act as lead placement agent and Na@rtalrities Corporation agreed to act as co-placeagant and received commissions of
$84,000 and $150,000, respectively. In additiotheocosts noted above, the Company incurred legasl &nd other costs totaling approxime
$487,000 associated with the equity raises.

Note 7—Stockholder’s Equity:
Common Stock:

The Company issued 4,000,000 shares of common &iatkfounder and CEO in September 2010 for $%080.0001 per share.
Additionally, the CEO contributed capital totalifig1,983 and $68,514 during the year ended Dece8ih&011 and from inception to
December 31, 2011, respectively.

In connection with the October 2011 private placetntne Company issued 14,666,733 shares of constock at $3.75 per share.
Additionally, in October 2011, 40,000 shares of coonm stock were issued through debt conversion .@533er share or $150,000 (see Note

In connection with the November 2011 private plaertnthe Company issued 1,333,267 shares of constook at $3.75 per share.

Authorized Shares:

At inception, the Company had 1,200,000 sharesocksauthorized for issuance, all of which was camratock, par value $0.0001 per
share. On September 15, 2011, the total numbdrasEs of common stock the Company was authorizesste was increased to 25,000,000.
Immediately following the increase in authorizedrsls, the Company executed a four-to-one forwartkstplit. The share amounts, including
earnings per share, stated in the Company’s fiahstatements have been adjusted to reflect thetéeane stock split.

Following the Merger, the Company had 110,000,0G0es of stock authorized for issuance, of whioh,a@0,000 were common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, and 10,000,000 weferped stock, par value $0.0001 per share. Onk@ctd, 2011, the Board of Directors of
the Company and the stockholders owning 100% o€tmapany’s issued and outstanding common stockoapdran Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation (the “Amended Certifte”), which eliminated the Comparsyéntire authorized class of preferred stock addaec
the total number of shares of capital stock thatGompany may issue from 110,000,000 shares t®Q@0®O0 shares, all of which are
designated as common stock, par value $0.0001hpee sThe Amended Certificate became effective oneshber 14, 2011, upon the filing of
the Amended Certificate with the Secretary of Stditihe State of Delaware.

Warrants:

In connection with the October 2011 Securities Rase Agreement, the Company issued anti-dilutiveamés to 27 investors (see Note
6). The fair value of warrants is estimated atdhte of issuance using the Monte Carlo Simulatiethad. As the Company has no trading
history, the Company calculated the expected

F-13



Table of Contents

volatility based on the historical volatilities mine companies with similar attributes to the Comypimcluding industry, stage of life cycle, size
and financial leverage. The risk-free rate was thasethe U.S. Treasury yield curve covering thentef the warrants.

The fair value of the warrants issued was deterchirging the Monte Carlo Simulation method with thiéowing assumptions:

2011
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 84.4%
Risk-free interest rat 1.81%
Common stock price on date of issua $3.7¢
Exercise price $0.01
Warrant term in year 1(

Using the above assumptions, the portion of theapei placement proceeds attributed to the fairevafithe warrants was determined to
be $1,758,338 and is recorded within additionatipaicapital.

Following the October 2011 private placement, Muefbach, the Company’s founder, CEO and Presidddtapproximately 21% of the
18,666,733 outstanding shares of the Company’s aamstock. Pursuant to the terms of the Securitizsiase Agreement, the Company
issued an anti-dilutive warrant to Mr. Auerbachtles Company’s founder. The warrant was issuedduige Mr. Auerbach, as the founder of
the Company, with the right to maintain ownersHhipieast 20% of the common stock of Puma in trenethat the Company raises capital in
the future through the sale of its securities.

The warrant has a ten-year term and is exercigatijein the event of the first subsequent financigcluding certain types of financings
set forth in the warrant, that results in groshga®ceeds to the Company of at least $15 millidre warrant has an exercise price equal to the
price paid per share in such financing and is ésabte for the number of shares of the Company’smon stock necessary for Mr. Auerbach
to maintain ownership of at least 20% of the ouiditag shares of Company common stock after su@méimg. Upon the occurrence of the
subsequent financing of at least $15 million takitere, the warrant may be exercised any time tpeden—year expiration date of October 4,
2021. The grant date of the warrant will occur loa date of the subsequent financing when the agtgemimber of shares exercisable and the
price per share will be determined.

The Company determined that the warrant has ariechpkrvice requisite period that is prior to itarg date. The Company also
determined that a market condition subsequentedntiplied service period exists as the exercigeadial exercise of the warrant can only
occur if there is a subsequent financing. The Comeas recorded the fair market value as determigetie following assumptions using the
Monte Carlo Simulation method, as stock-based cosggé#on in its statement of operations:

2011
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 84.4%-85.1%
Risk-free interest rat 1.81%-1.89%
Warrant term in year 10

The fair value was estimated based on projecteityeises ranging from $15 million to $100 milliam 2013 using weighted probability
factors. The warrant was valued at the time ofdase at approximately $6,900,000 and revalued e¢ber 31, 2011, in accordance with
ASC 718. The fair market value of the warrant aBe€ember 31, 2011, using the above assumptiorssap@roximately $7,600,000 and is
included in general and administrative expensaénaccompanying statement of operations. The Coynpdlrevalue the warrant each
reporting period until such time as the grant drdthe warrant is determined.
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Stock-Based Compensation:

The Company’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan (the “2@14dn”) was adopted by the Board of Directors ont&aper 15, 2011. Pursuant to
the 2011 Plan, the Company may grant incentiveksaptions and nonqualified stock options, as welbther forms of equity-based
compensation. Incentive stock options may be gcaoidy to employees, while consultants, employe#fgsers and directors are eligible for
grant of nonqualified options under the 2011 Plare maximum term of stock options granted unde2fiEl Plan is 10 years. The exercise
price of incentive stock options granted undera@#l Plan must be at least equal to the fair masidete of such shares on the date of grant.
Through December 31, 2011, a total of 3,529,412eshaf the Company’s common stock have been reddéovéssuance under the 2011 Plan.

In February 2012, the Company granted, in aggre§at® 000 stock options to employees hired priddésember 31, 2011. The vesting
period for the option grants commenced on each @epk’ date of hire. The Company awarded only fplainilla options” as determined by
the Securities and Exchange Commission Staff AdtoegBulletin 107, “Share Based Paymerit

The fair value of options granted to employees @sisBnated using the Black-Scholes option-pricingleigsee Note 3); with the
following weighted-average assumptions used dutiegyear ended December 31:

2011
Dividend yield 0.C%
Expected volatility 86.(%
Risk-free interest rat 1.1%
Expected life in year 5.81

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynmsrognized expense (fair value of the stock opgiants) of $67,022 of which
$29,498 was recorded as general and administraxipense and $37,524 was recorded as researcheldmtaent expense.

Activity with respect to options granted under #8841 Plan is summarized as follows:

Weightec Weighted Averag

Average Remaining

Exercise Contractual Tern Aggregate Intrinsi

Shares Price (years) Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2( — $ — — $ —
Granted in the period ended December 31, : 670,00( 3.7¢ 10.C —
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 670,00( $ 3.7% 10.C $ =
Unvested at December 31, 2C 670,00( $ 3.7t 10.C $ —
Exercisable at December 31, 2( $ — = $ =

At December 31, 2011, total estimated unrecognézeployee compensation cost related to non-vestet siptions granted prior to that
date was $1,471,433, which is expected to be rézedmover a weighted-average period of 1.5 yedne.Weighted average grant date fair
values of options granted during the year endecebder 31, 2011 was $2.66 per share.

Note 8—Stockholder Note Payable:

On September 2, 2011, the Company’s CEO and smtkistlder at the time advanced the Company $15a@0nd its operations until
such time as the Company could complete an egléagement. The advance was unsecured, non-intezasinly and due on demand. On
September 9, 2011, the advance was converteduasatured convertible promissory note. The noteavasn-interest bearing note that could
be

n
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converted into the Company’s common stock at th®mopf the stockholder. The note was due and daygton demand of the stockholder on
or after the one-year anniversary of the dategifaonverted prior to the maturity date. The Cony®@EO converted the note into 40,000
shares of the Company’s common stock on Octob20B] at a price of $3.75 per share.

Note 9—Income Taxes:

Temporary differences between the carrying amooiéssets and liabilities for financial reportingrposes and the amounts used for
income tax purposes (net operating loss carry-foig)agive rise to the Company’s deferred incomesaXhe components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2011 artlaét@las follows:

Federal State Total
Deferred tax asse—2011:
Net operating loss carry forwar $ 681,10/ $ 103,20( $ 784,30
Organization cost 230,00( 39,50( 269,50(
Compensatiol 2,631,001 451,40( 3,082,40!

3,542,10! 594,10( 4,136,20!I

Deferred tax liabilitie—depreciatior (84,100 (800 (84,900
Total deferred tax asse 3,458,00! 593,30( 4,051,30!
Valuation allowanct (3,458,000 (593,300 (4,051,300
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ — $ —

Federal State Total
Deferred tax asse—2010:
Organization cost $ 2,40( $ 40C $ 2,80(
Total deferred tax asse 2,40( 40C 2,80(
Valuation allowanct (2,400 (400 (2,800
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ — $ —

As the ultimate realization of the potential betsefif the Company’s deferred tax assets is corsidenlikely by management, the
Company has offset the deferred tax assets atiblrito those potential benefits through valuagibowances. Accordingly, the Company did
not recognize any benefit from income taxes indbeompanying financial statements of operatiorffs®et its pre-tax losses. The valuation
allowance increased $4,045,700 in 2011 and $2/82010. At December 31, 2011, the Company has dtded state net operating loss carry
forwards of approximately $2,000,000 and $1,700@8&h will expire in 2031 and 2021, respectivétursuant to the Internal Revenue Code,
Sections 382 and 383, use of the Company’s netipgrloss and credit carry forward could be liditea cumulative change in ownership of
more than 50% occurs within a three-year period.

The provision (credit) for income taxes in the anpanying statements of operations differs fromatmunt calculated by applying the
statutory income tax rate to income (loss) fromtcaring operations before income taxes. The princamyponents of such differences are as
follows as of December 31:

2011 2010
Tax computed at the federal statutory rate $(3,479,00i) $(2,400
State taxe (593,800 (400)
Permanent item 24,30( —
Change in valuation allowan 4,048,50! 2,80(
Total provision $ — $ —
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Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies:
Leases:

On February 4, 2011, the Company executed a leasement effective March 1, 2011 for new officecgpthat requires monthly
payments of $1,657 and expires on April 30, 2012.

On December 7, 2011, the Company, entered intonecancelable operating lease for office space.ifiitial term of the lease is for
seven years and commenced on December 10, 201baBkaent is approximately $44,400 per month dute first year and will increase
each year during the initial term, up to approxieha$53,000 per month during the seventh year.|&@ase has an expiration date of
December 9, 2018. In addition, the Company haspéioroto extend the lease for an additional fivewyerm. The lease is subject to additional
charges for common area maintenance and other. €@mtsurrent with the execution of the lease, tbenany provided the landlord an
automatically renewable stand-by letter of creditiie amount of $1,000,000. The stand-by letteredit is collateralized by a high-yield
savings account in the amount of approximately $3,@00, which is classified as restricted cashheraiccompanying balance sheets. Rent
expense for the years ended December 31, 201 1dvZas $41,125 and $0, respectively.

Future minimum lease payments for each of the y&atvssequent to December 31, 2011 are as follow:

Year Ending December 3 Amount

2012 $ 273,03
2013 548,79t
2014 565,25¢
2015 582,21¢
2016 599,68:
Thereaftel 1,253,87
Total $3,822,86.

License Agreement:

In August 2011, the Company entered into an agraemesuant to which Pfizer, Inc., or Pfizer, agrée grant it a worldwide license {
the development, manufacture and commercializatfareratinib (oral), neratinib (intravenous) and33B, and certain related compounds.
license is exclusive with respect to certain patgftts owned by or licensed to Pfizer. Under tgeeament, the Company is obligated to
commence a new clinical trial for a product contagmone of these compounds within a specified geoitime and to use commercially
reasonable efforts to complete clinical trials émdchieve certain milestones as provided in aldpmeent plan. From the closing date of the
agreement through December 31, 2011, Pfizer cosdinol conduct the existing clinical trials on bélwdlthe Company at Pfizes’sole expens
At the Company’s request, Pfizer has agreed tomoato perform certain services in support ofékisting clinical trials, at the Company’s
expense for the first quarter of 2012.

As consideration for the license, the Company dsiired to make substantial payments upon the aehient of certain milestones
totaling approximately $187.5 million if all suchilestones are achieved. Should the Company comatizeiany of the compounds licensed
from Pfizer or any products containing any of thesmpounds, the Company will be obligated to palfizer annual royalties between
approximately 10% and 20% of net sales of all qucidlucts, subject to certain reductions and offset®@me circumstances. The Company’s
royalty obligation continues, on a product-by-prodand country-by-country basis, until the later(9fthe last to expire licensed patent
covering the applicable licensed product in suamtry, or (ii) the earlier of generic competitioor such licensed product reaching a certain
level in such country or expiration of a certamei period after first commercial sale of such Igmshproduct in such country. In the event that
the Company sublicenses the rights granted to tmepg@any under the license agreement with Pfizerttord party, the same milestone and
royalty payments are required. The Company canitete the license agreement at will at any timerafipril 4, 2013 or for safety concerns
each case upon specified advance notice.
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Note 11—Subsequent Events:
Employment Contract:

On January 19, 2012, the Company entered into gulogment agreement with Alan H. Auerbach, the CaomyfePresident and CEO.
The employment agreement governs the terms of Merdach’s employment since September 15, 2010 qicks on September 1, 2014,
unless earlier terminated, with automatic one-yeaewal terms unless either the Company or Mr. Baeh gives written notice of termination
60 days prior to the end of the term. The employragneement provides that Mr. Auerbach will receaweannual base salary of $470,000,
retroactively effective to September 1, 2011, aiitlhe eligible to receive an annual discretionhonus in an amount up to 50% of his base
salary. Per the employment agreement, Mr. Auerbahgranted an option to purchase 200,000 shai@esrapany common stock, which will
vest as to 1/3 of the shares underlying the opdiodanuary 19, 2013, and as to 1/36 of the shadsrlying the option on each monthly
anniversary thereafter, subject to Mr. Auerbacl'stinued employment through the vesting dates.
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Exhibit 10.5

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
2011 INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN

STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE AND
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware corporatibe (tCompany”), pursuant to its 2011 Incentive Award Plan (tHelan "), hereby
grants to the individual listed below (th&ptionee”), an option to purchase the number of sharee@tbmmon stock of the Company (*
Shares”), set forth below (the Option”). This Option is subject to all of the terms ar@hditions set forth herein and in the Agreement
attached hereto as Exhibit(fhe “ Agreement’) and the Plan, which are incorporated hereindfgnence. Unless otherwise defined herein, the
terms defined in the Plan shall have the same eefineanings in this Grant Notice and the Agreement.

Optionee:

Grant Date:

Vesting Commencement Date

Exercise Price per Share $[ ] /Share

Total Exercise Price: $

Total Number of Shares
Subject to the Option: share

Expiration Date:

Type of Option: " Incentive Stock Option ~ Nor-Qualified Stock Optiot

Vesting Schedule: [To come from each individual agreeme

Termination: The Option shall terminate on the Expiration Daeferth above or, if earlier, in accordance whk terms of thi
Agreement

By his or her signature, the Optionee agrees todomd by the terms and conditions of the PlanAtipeement and this Grant Notice. 1
Optionee has reviewed the Agreement, the Plantdadsrant Notice in their entirety, has had an opputy to obtain the advice of counsel
prior to executing this Grant Notice and fully urgtands all provisions of this Grant Notice, theégment and the Plan. The Optionee hereby
agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and fihdkaisions or interpretations of the Administratgpon any questions arising under the Ple
relating to the Option.

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC. OPTIONEE
By: By:

Print Name Print Name:
Title:

Address: Address:

Email:




EXHIBIT A
TO STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Stock Option Grant Notice (tf@r&nt Notice”) to which this Stock Option Agreement (thif\greement’) is attached,
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware corporatibe (tCompany”), has granted to the Optionee an option (ti@ption”) under the
Company’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan, as amended fime to time (the Plan ") to purchase the number of shares of common sbthe
Company (“Shares”) indicated in the Grant Notice. Capitalized terntd specifically defined herein shall have the niegs specified in the
Plan and Grant Notice.

ARTICLE I.
GENERAL

1.1 Incorporation of Terms of PlaiThe Option is subject to the terms and conditifrthe Plan, which are incorporated herein by
reference. In the event of any inconsistency betviee Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Sfall control.

ARTICLE II.
GRANT OF OPTION

2.1 Grant of Option In consideration of the Optionagdast and/or continued employment with or seriode Company or any Affilial
and for other good and valuable considerationcéffe as of the Grant Date set forth in the Graoti¢¢ (the “Grant Date”), the Company
irrevocably grants to the Optionee the Option tochase any part or all of the aggregate numbehafeés set forth in the Grant Notice, upon
the terms and conditions set forth in the PlanthislAgreement. Unless designated as a Non-Quéi8teck Option in the Grant Notice, the
Option shall be an Incentive Stock Option to thexiimaim extent permitted by law.

2.2 Exercise PriceThe exercise price of the Shares subject to fiteo® shall be as set forth in the Grant Noticehaiit commission or
other chargeprovided, however, that the exercise price per share of the Shafgie& to the Option shall not be less than 100%hefFair
Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date. Notwéthding the foregoing, if this Option is an InceetStock Option and the Optionee is a
Greater Than 10% Stockholder as of the Grant Dlageexercise price per share of the Shares suljéice Option shall not be less than 110%
of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the GranteDa

2.3 Consideration to the Compani consideration of the grant of the Option bg @ompany, the Optionee agrees to render faitimidll a
efficient services to the Company or any Affilialéothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall confon the Optionee any right to continue in
the employ or service of the Company or any Affdiar shall interfere with or restrict in any wéetrights of the Company and its Affiliates,
which rights are hereby expressly reserved, tohdigge or terminate the services of the Optionemwatime for any reason whatsoever, with or
without Cause, except to the extent expressly gexviotherwise in a written agreement between thapaay or an Affiliate and the Optionee.
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ARTICLE 111,
PERIOD OF EXERCISABILITY

3.1 Commencement of Exercisability

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof(p#on shall become vested and exercisable in anabunts and at such times as
are set forth in the Grant Notice.

(b) No portion of the Option which has not becorested and exercisable as of the date of the Ogiefl@rmination of Service
shall thereafter become vested and exercisablepéas may be otherwise provided by the Adminigtrat as set forth in a written agreement
between the Company and the Optionee.

3.2 Duration of Exercisability The installments provided for in the vesting stiie set forth in the Grant Notice are cumulativach
such installment which becomes vested and exefeipaipsuant to the vesting schedule set forth énGhant Notice shall remain vested and
exercisable until it becomes unexercisable undeti@e3.3 hereof.

3.3 Expiration of Option The Option may not be exercised to any exterdriyone after the first to occur of the followingeets:

(a) The Expiration Date set forth in the Grant Nefi

(b) If this Option is designated as an IncentivecBtOption and the Optionee is a Greater Than 1@8%¢k8older as of the Grant
Date, the expiration of five (5) years from the @rBate;

(c) The date that is three (3) months from the datbe Optionees Termination of Service by the Company without €&aar by the
Optionee for any reason (other than due to deattisability);

(d) The expiration of one (1) year from the dat¢hef Optionee’s Termination of Service by reasothefOptionee’s death or
disability; or

(e) The start of business on the date of the Op&tanTermination of Service by the Company for @aus

The Optionee acknowledges that an Incentive Stqutlo® exercised more than three (3) months afeGptionee’s Termination of
Service, other than by reason of death or disgibilitll be taxed as a Non-Qualified Stock Option.

3.4 Special Tax Conseguencékhe Optionee acknowledges that, to the extentlteaaggregate Fair Market Value (determined dhef
time the Option is granted) of all Shares with exdfio which Incentive Stock Options, including ption, are exercisable for the first time
the Optionee in any calendar year exceeds $100t06@ption and such other options shall be Nonlife Stock Options to the extent
necessary to comply with the limitations imposedSegtion 422(d) of the Code. The Optionee furtitknawledges that the rule set forth in
preceding sentence shall be applied by taking ht&o® and other “incentive stock options” into asobin the order in which they were
granted, as determined under Section 422(d) oftde and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.

A-2



ARTICLE IV.
EXERCISE OF OPTION

4.1 Person Eligible to Exercisé&xcept as provided in Section 5.2 hereof, dutirglifetime of the Optionee, only the Optionee may
exercise the Option or any portion thereof. Aftex tleath of the Optionee, any exercisable porticgheoOption may, prior to the time when
Option becomes unexercisable under Section 3.3fdre exercised by the deceased Optionee’s pdrsgprasentative or by any person
empowered to do so under the deceased Optioneke@rwinder the then-applicable laws of descentdisttibution.

4.2 Partial ExerciseAny exercisable portion of the Option or the enption, if then wholly exercisable, may be eisrd in whole or
in part at any time prior to the time when the Optor portion thereof becomes unexercisable undeti@ 3.3 hereof. However, the Option
shall not be exercisable with respect to fractisteres.

4.3 Manner of ExerciseThe Option, or any exercisable portion thereadyre exercised solely by delivery to the Secretéthe
Company (or any third party administrator or otherson or entity designated by the Company) dadfalhe following prior to the time when
the Option or such portion thereof becomes unesabde under Section 3.3 hereof:

(a) A written or electronic notice complying withet applicable rules established by the Administrstating that the Option, or a
portion thereof, is exercised. The notice shakigaed by the Optionee or other person then edtitieexercise the Option or such portion of
Option;

(b) Full payment of the exercise price and appleatithholding taxes to the stock administratotted Company for the Shares w
respect to which the Option, or portion thereogxercised, in a manner permitted by Section 4rédig

(c) Any other written representations or documastsnay be required in the Administrator’s sole @igon to effect compliance
with all applicable provisions of the SecuritiestAte Exchange Act, any other federal, state m@ifm securities laws or regulations, the rules
of any securities exchange or automated quotagistes) on which the Shares are listed, quoted dett@r any other applicable law; and

(d) In the event the Option or portion thereof sbalexercised pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof lgypanson or persons other than
the Optionee, appropriate proof of the right oftsperson or persons to exercise the Option.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the Compalglishave the right to specify all conditions oétimanner of exercise, which conditic
may vary by country and which may be subject tangleafrom time to time.

4.4 Method of PaymentPayment of the exercise price shall be by apefollowing, or a combination thereof, at thectilen of the
Optionee:

(a) Cash;
(b) Check;
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(c) With the consent of the Administrator, deliverdya written or electronic notice that the Optieri&s placed a market sell order
with a broker with respect to Shares then issuapé exercise of the Option, and that the brokertfegen directed to pay a sufficient portiol
the net proceeds of the sale to the Company iefaation of the aggregate exercise prim@yvided, that payment of such proceeds is then r
to the Company upon settlement of such sale;

(d) With the consent of the Administrator, surrenaiother Shares which have been held by the @pédor such period of time as
may be required by the Administrator in order toidwadverse accounting consequences and having M&gket Value on the date of
surrender equal to the aggregate exercise pritteedbhares with respect to which the Option oriporthereof is being exercised,;

(e) With the consent of the Administrator, surreredeShares issuable upon the exercise of the Op#vimg a Fair Market Value
on the date of exercise equal to the aggregateiseeurice of the Shares with respect to whichQpton or portion thereof is being exercised,;
or

(H With the consent of the Administrator, suchestform of legal consideration as may be acceptabiee Administrator.

4.5 Conditions to Issuance of Stock Certificat&he Shares deliverable upon the exercise of {iteo, or any portion thereof, may be
either previously authorized but unissued Shareastiry Shares or issued Shares which have tharréaequired by the Company. Such
Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable. dhg@&ny shall not be required to issue or delivgraartificates or make any book entries
evidencing Shares purchased upon the exercise @piion or portion thereof prior to fulfillment tie conditions set forth in Section 11.4 of
the Plan.

4.6 Rights as StockholdeiThe holder of the Option shall not be, nor hawe af the rights or privileges of, a stockholdettteé Company
in respect of any Shares purchasable upon theisgetany part of the Option unless and until sBbares shall have been issued by the
Company and held of record by such holder (as ecel@ by the appropriate entry on the books of the@ny or of a duly authorized transfer
agent of the Company). No adjustment will be mateafdividend or other right for which the recomtelis prior to the date the Shares are
issued, except as provided in Section 13.2 of the.P

ARTICLE V.
OTHER PROVISIONS

5.1 Administration The Administrator shall have the power to intetghe Plan and this Agreement and to adopt suek far the
administration, interpretation and applicationto Plan as are consistent therewith and to intergngend or revoke any such rules. All actions
taken and all interpretations and determinationderiay the Administrator in good faith shall be finad binding upon the Optionee, the
Company and all other interested persons. No meofitee Administrator or the Board shall be perdigriable for any action, determination
or interpretation made in good faith with respecthte Plan, this Agreement or the Option.

5.2 Transferability of OptionExcept as otherwise set forth in the Plan:

(a) The Option may not be sold, pledged, assigméhnsferred in any manner other than by willke@ laws of descent and
distribution or, subject to the consent of the Adistrator, pursuant to a DRO, unless and untilQp&on has been exercised and the shares
underlying the Option have been issued, and alliciens applicable to such shares have lapsed;
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(b) The Option shall not be liable for the debtmtcacts or engagements of the Optionee or theo@gti's successors in interest or
shall be subject to disposition by transfer, alteamg anticipation, pledge, hypothecation, encumbea assignment or any other means whether
such disposition be voluntary or involuntary ordperation of law by judgment, levy, attachmentnggtrment or any other legal or equitable
proceedings (including bankruptcy) unless and wih&lOption has been exercised, and any attem@pdsdition thereof prior to exercise shall
be null and void and of no effect, except to theeekthat such disposition is permitted by Secldt(a) hereof; and

(c) During the lifetime of the Optionee, only thetidnee may exercise the Option (or any portiomebf), unless it has been
disposed of pursuant to a DRO; after the deathefiptionee, any exercisable portion of the Opti@y, prior to the time when such portion
becomes unexercisable under the Plan or this Agratrne exercised by the Optionepersonal representative or by any person empovte
do so under the deceased Optionee’s will or urftetiten applicable laws of descent and distribution

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision in this A&gment, the Optionee may, in the manner deterntipede Administrator,
designate a beneficiary to exercise the righthief@ptionee and to receive any distribution wigpeset to the Option upon the Optionee’s
death. A beneficiary, legal guardian, legal repnéstive, or other person claiming any rights purdua the Plan is subject to all terms and
conditions of the Plan and this Agreement, excepié extent the Plan and this Agreement otherpiiseide, and to any additional restrictions
deemed necessary or appropriate by the Administddtihe Optionee is married or a domestic parinex domestic partnership qualified under
applicable law and resides in a community propstaye, a designation of a person other than theo@g®’s spouse or domestic partner, as
applicable, as his or her beneficiary with respechore than 50% of the Optionee’s interest in@Gipgion shall not be effective without the
prior written consent of the Optionsespouse or domestic partner. If no beneficiarytless designated or survives the Optionee, paysafeti
be made to the person entitled thereto pursuahet@ptionee’s will or the laws of descent andribistion. Subject to the foregoing, a
beneficiary designation may be changed or revoketthd Optionee at any time provided the changewocation is filed with the
Administrator prior to the Optionee’s death.

5.3 LockUp Period. The Optionee hereby agrees that, if so requéstelde Company or any representative of the undemsr(the “
Managing Underwriter”) in connection with any registration of the offeg of any securities of the Company under the 8ges Act or any
applicable state laws, the Optionee shall notaelitherwise transfer any Shares or other secsidtiehe Company during the 180-day period
(or such longer period as may be requested inngriby the Managing Underwriter and agreed to irimgiby the Company) following the
effective date of a registration statement of then@any filed under the Securities Act in connectidtih the Company’s initial public offering
of Common Stock (the Market Standoff Period’). The Company may impose stéqansfer instructions with respect to securitielgjsct to th
foregoing restrictions until the end of such Mar&&indoff Period and these restrictions shall beibg on any transferee of such shares of
Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the-tl&y period may be extended for up to such nurabadditional days as is deemed
necessary by the Company or the Managing Undemtdteontinue coverage by research analysts inrdaoce with NASD Rule 2711 or any
successor rule.

5.4 Tax ConsultationThe Optionee understands that the Optionee nifgr fdverse tax consequences as a result of Hrg, gresting
and/or exercise of the Option, and/or with the pase or disposition of the Shares subject to théo®pTrhe Optionee represents that the
Optionee has consulted with any tax consultantOghgonee deems advisable in connection with threlase or disposition of such Shares
that the Optionee is not relying on the Companyafoy tax advice.
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5.5 Adjustments The Optionee acknowledges that the Option isexltip modification and termination in certain etgess provided in
this Agreement and Article 13 of the Plan.

5.6 Notices Any notice to be given under the terms of thiseggnent to the Company shall be addressed to thp&uy in care of the
Secretary of the Company at the Company’s prinaffade (or the Secretary’s email), and any notwée given to the Optionee shall be
addressed to the Optionee’s last address reflectede Company’s records (or the Optionee’s Compgamngil or, if the Optionee no longer has
a Company email address, to the email addressqed\iy the Optionee at the time of his or her Teatidn of Service). Any notice which is
required to be given to the Optionee shall, if@m@ionee is then deceased, be given to the perddled to exercise his or her Option pursuant
to Section 4.1 hereof by written notice under Béstion 5.6. Any notice shall be deemed duly giween sent via email or when sent by
reputable overnight courier or by certified madt(rn receipt requested) through the United SRbssal Service.

5.7 Optionets Representationdf the Shares purchasable pursuant to the exeofithis Option have not been registered under the
Securities Act or any applicable state laws onféettve registration statement at the time thidi@pis exercised, the Optionee shall, if
required by the Company, concurrently with the eiser of all or any portion of this Option, make Isweritten representations as are deemed
necessary or appropriate by the Company and/opiiasel.

5.8 Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience omlgl are not to serve as a basis for interpretati@onstruction of this
Agreement.

5.9 Governing Law The laws of the State of Delaware shall goveenitterpretation, validity, administration, enfomeent and
performance of the terms of this Agreement regasdtd the law that might be applied under prindpléconflicts of laws.

5.10 Conformity to Securities Lawd he Optionee acknowledges that the Plan andAilisement are intended to conform to the extent
necessary with all provisions of the Securities &utl the Exchange Act and any and all regulatiodsrales promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission thereunder, and state sesuaties and regulations. Notwithstanding anythingelmeto the contrary, the Plan shall be
administered, and the Option is granted and magxbkecised, only in such a manner as to confornu¢t faws, rules and regulations. To the
extent permitted by applicable law, the Plan ansl Agreement shall be deemed amended to the ex¢eessary to conform to such laws, rules
and regulations.

5.11 Amendments, Suspension and Terminatibm the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreetmeay be wholly or partially amended
or otherwise modified, suspended or terminatechgtiane or from time to time by the Administratartbe Board provided, howeverthat,
except as may otherwise be provided by the Plamanmendment, modification, suspension or terminadioihis Agreement shall adversely
affect the Option in any material way without thr@pwritten consent of the Optionee.

5.12 Successors and Assigrshe Company may assign any of its rights underAlgreement to single or multiple assignees, aisl t
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the suamessand assigns of the Company. Subject to theatshs on transfer herein set forth in this
Article 5, this Agreement shall be binding upon @tionee and his or her heirs, executors, admits, successors and assigns.
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5.13 Notification of Disposition If this Option is designated as an Incentive BtOption, the Optionee shall give prompt noticéh®
Company of any disposition or other transfer of 8mares acquired under this Agreement if such diipa or transfer is made (a) within two
(2) years from the Grant Date with respect to sbicares or (b) within one (1) year after the transfesuch Shares to the Optionee. Such notice
shall specify the date of such disposition or othemsfer and the amount realized, in cash, otregresty, assumption of indebtedness or other
consideration, by the Optionee in such dispositionther transfer.

5.14 Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persoh®twithstanding any other provision of the Plartos Agreement, if the Optionee is
subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, therPflaa, the Option and this Agreement shall be stibpeany additional limitations set forth in
any applicable exemptive rule under Section 1éefExchange Act (including any amendment to Rule36f the Exchange Act) that are
requirements for the application of such exemptive. To the extent permitted by applicable lavis thgreement shall be deemed amended to
the extent necessary to conform to such applicadenptive rule.

5.15 No Continued ServiceNothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shalifes upon the Optionee any right to continue tovsers an
Employee or other service provider of the Compangny of its Affiliates or shall interfere with eestrict in any way the rights of the
Company and its Affiliates, which rights are herebypressly reserved, to discharge or terminatsdéces of the Optionee at any time for
reason whatsoever, with or without Cause, excetta@xtent expressly provided otherwise in a emitigreement between the Company or an
Affiliate and the Optionee.

5.16 Entire AgreementThe Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreememi\foling all Exhibits thereto, if any) constitutestantire
agreement of the parties and supersede in thefegnall prior undertakings and agreements ofGleenpany and the Optionee with respect to
the subject matter hereof.

5.17 Section 409A Notwithstanding any other provision of the Pldris Agreement or the Grant Notice, the Plan, Agseement and tr
Grant Notice shall be interpreted in accordancé tie requirements of Section 409A of the Codedtiogr with any Department of Treasury
regulations and other interpretive guidance isgsheceunder, including without limitation any sud@gyulations or other guidance that may be
issued after the date hereofséction 409A"). The Administrator may, in its discretion, adagpich amendments to the Plan, this Agreement or
the Grant Notice or adopt other policies and pracesl (including amendments, policies and procedwitisretroactive effect), or take any
other actions, as the Administrator determineshacessary or appropriate to comply with the requénets of Section 409A.
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Exhibit 10.6

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC.
2011 INCENTIVE AWARD PLAN

STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE AND
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware corporatibe (tCompany”), pursuant to its 2011 Incentive Award Plan (tHelan "), hereby
grants to the individual listed below (thé&ptionee”), an option to purchase the number of sharee@tbmmon stock of the Company (¢
Shares”), set forth below (the Option”). This Option is subject to all of the terms ar@hditions set forth herein and in the Agreement
attached hereto as Exhibit(fhe “ Agreement’) and the Plan, which are incorporated hereindfgnence. Unless otherwise defined herein, the
terms defined in the Plan shall have the same efineanings in this Grant Notice and the Agreeniérg.parties hereto acknowledge and
agree that this Option constitutes the “option”temmplated by Section 5(d)(i) of that certain Empi@nt Agreement by and between the
Company and the Optionee, dated January 19, 28&2 Employment Agreemen?, and is granted in full satisfaction of the Coeng’s
obligations thereunder.

Optionee:

Grant Date: [ ]

Vesting Commencement Date January 19, 2012

Exercise Price per Share $[ ] /Share

Total Exercise Price: $[ ]

Total Number of Shares 200,000

Subiject to the Option: shares

Expiration Date: [

Type of Option: " Incentive Stock Option ~ Nor-Qualified Stock Optiot

Vesting Schedule: Subiject to the Optionee’s continued status as apl@me, the Option shall vest and become exerasalth
respect to one-third (1/8) of the Shares subject thereto on the first amsany of the Vesting Commencem
Date set forth above, and with respect to an amiditi1/36" of the Shares subject thereto on eachihiyon
anniversary of the Vesting Commencement Date tiftereprovided, however, that if the Optionee
experiences a Termination of Service by the Compethout Cause or by the Optionee with Good Reason
(each as defined in the Employment Agreement)itireecase, during the period beginning sixty (68ys
prior to and ending eighteen (18) months afterdb@irrence of a Change in Control, then (i) thei@pshall
vest and become exercisable in full on the laterctur of such termination or the Change in Contant
(i) the Option shall remain exercisable until #elier to occur of the first anniversary of sueitination or
the Expiration Date

Termination: The Option shall terminate on the Expiration Daeferth above or, if earlier, in accordance whb terms o

the Agreement

By his or her signature, the Optionee agrees todomd by the terms and conditions of the PlanAtieeement and this Grant Notice. 1
Optionee has reviewed the Agreement, the Plantdadstrant Notice in their entirety, has had an epputy to obtain the advice of counsel
prior to executing thi



Grant Notice and fully understands all provisiofshis Grant Notice, the Agreement and the Plare Optionee hereby agrees to accept as

binding, conclusive and final all decisions or iptetations of the Administrator upon any questiarising under the Plan or relating to the
Option.

PUMA BIOTECHNOLOGY, INC. OPTIONEE

By: By:

Print Name Print Name: Alan Auerbact
Title:

Address: Address:

Email:




EXHIBIT A
TO STOCK OPTION GRANT NOTICE
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Pursuant to the Stock Option Grant Notice (tf@r&nt Notice”) to which this Stock Option Agreement (thif\greement’) is attached,
Puma Biotechnology, Inc., a Delaware corporatibe (tCompany”), has granted to the Optionee an option (ti@ption”) under the
Company’s 2011 Incentive Award Plan, as amended fime to time (the Plan ") to purchase the number of shares of common sbthe
Company (“Shares”) indicated in the Grant Notice. Capitalized terntd specifically defined herein shall have the niegs specified in the
Plan and Grant Notice.

ARTICLE I.
GENERAL

1.1 Incorporation of Terms of PlaiThe Option is subject to the terms and conditifrthe Plan, which are incorporated herein by
reference. In the event of any inconsistency betviee Plan and this Agreement, the terms of the Sfall control.

ARTICLE II.
GRANT OF OPTION

2.1 Grant of Option In consideration of the Optionagdast and/or continued employment with or seriode Company or any Affilial
and for other good and valuable considerationcéffe as of the Grant Date set forth in the Graoti¢¢ (the “Grant Date”), the Company
irrevocably grants to the Optionee the Option tochase any part or all of the aggregate numbehafeés set forth in the Grant Notice, upon
the terms and conditions set forth in the PlanthislAgreement. Unless designated as a Non-Quéi8teck Option in the Grant Notice, the
Option shall be an Incentive Stock Option to thexiimaim extent permitted by law.

2.2 Exercise PriceThe exercise price of the Shares subject to fiteo® shall be as set forth in the Grant Noticehaiit commission or
other chargeprovided, however, that the exercise price per share of the Shafgie& to the Option shall not be less than 100%hefFair
Market Value of a Share on the Grant Date. Notwéthding the foregoing, if this Option is an InceetStock Option and the Optionee is a
Greater Than 10% Stockholder as of the Grant Dlageexercise price per share of the Shares suljéice Option shall not be less than 110%
of the Fair Market Value of a Share on the GranteDa

2.3 Consideration to the Compani consideration of the grant of the Option bg @ompany, the Optionee agrees to render faitimidll a
efficient services to the Company or any Affilialéothing in the Plan or this Agreement shall confon the Optionee any right to continue in
the employ or service of the Company or any Affdiar shall interfere with or restrict in any wéetrights of the Company and its Affiliates,
which rights are hereby expressly reserved, tohdigge or terminate the services of the Optionemwatime for any reason whatsoever, with or
without Cause, except to the extent expressly gexviotherwise in a written agreement between thapaay or an Affiliate and the Optionee.
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ARTICLE 111,
PERIOD OF EXERCISABILITY

3.1 Commencement of Exercisability

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions hereof(p#on shall become vested and exercisable in anabunts and at such times as
are set forth in the Grant Notice.

(b) No portion of the Option which has not becorested and exercisable as of the date of the Ogiefl@rmination of Service
shall thereafter become vested and exercisablepéas may be otherwise provided by the Adminigtrat as set forth in the Grant Notice.

3.2 Duration of Exercisability The installments provided for in the vesting stifle set forth in the Grant Notice are cumulatizach
such installment which becomes vested and exefeipaiosuant to the vesting schedule set forth énGhant Notice shall remain vested and
exercisable until it becomes unexercisable undeti&@e3.3 hereof.

3.3 Expiration of Option The Option may not be exercised to any exterdriyone after the first to occur of the followingeats:

(a) The Expiration Date set forth in the Grant Weti

(b) If this Option is designated as an IncentivecBtOption and the Optionee is a Greater Than 1@8%k8older as of the Grant
Date, the expiration of five (5) years from the @rBate;

(c) The first anniversary of the date of the Optieis Termination of Service by the Company withGatise or by the Optionee for
Good Reason, in either case, that occurs duringehied beginning sixty (60) days prior to and egdéighteen (18) months after the
occurrence of a Change in Control;

(d) The expiration of one (1) year from the datehef Optionee’s Termination of Service by reasothefOptionee’s death or
disability;

(e) The start of business on the date of the OptianTermination of Service by the Company for @aos

(f) The date that is three (3) months from the dditthe Optionee’s Termination of Service for aagson other than those described
in Section 3.3(a) — 3.3(e) hereof.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the Optionee expeés a Termination of Service without Cause ofood Reason prior to the
occurrence of a Change in Control, the Option gieafiain outstanding and eligible to vest upon aegbent Change in Control for a period of
sixty (60) days following such termination (or dréier, until the Expiration Date). The Optionedmaowledges that an Incentive Stock Option
exercised more than three (3) months after theo@pé’s Termination of Service, other than by reasfaeath or disability, will be taxed as a
Non-Qualified Stock Option.

3.4 Special Tax Conseguencékhe Optionee acknowledges that, to the extentlteaaggregate Fair Market Value (determined dhef
time the Option is granted) of all Shares with exdfo which Incentive Stock Options, including ption, are exercisable for the first time
the Optionee in any calendar year exceeds $100t06@ption and such other options shall be Nonkfet Stock
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Options to the extent necessary to comply withithgations imposed by Section 422(d) of the Coftee Optionee further acknowledges that
the rule set forth in the preceding sentence sigadipplied by taking the Option and other “incemttock options” into account in the order in
which they were granted, as determined under Sedfi@(d) of the Code and the Treasury Regulatibasetinder.

ARTICLE IV.

EXERCISE OF OPTION

4.1 Person Eligible to Exercisé&xcept as provided in Section 5.2 hereof, dutirglifetime of the Optionee, only the Optionee may
exercise the Option or any portion thereof. Aftex teath of the Optionee, any exercisable portidheoOption may, prior to the time when
Option becomes unexercisable under Section 3.3fdre exercised by the deceased Optionee’s pdrsgprasentative or by any person
empowered to do so under the deceased Optionek@rwinder the then-applicable laws of descentdisttibution.

4.2 Partial ExerciseAny exercisable portion of the Option or the enption, if then wholly exercisable, may be eisrd in whole or
in part at any time prior to the time when the Optor portion thereof becomes unexercisable undeti& 3.3 hereof. However, the Option
shall not be exercisable with respect to fracticinres.

4.3 Manner of ExerciseThe Option, or any exercisable portion thereadyrbe exercised solely by delivery to the Secretéthe
Company (or any third party administrator or otherson or entity designated by the Company) affathe following prior to the time when
the Option or such portion thereof becomes unesabde under Section 3.3 hereof:

(a) A written or electronic notice complying withet applicable rules established by the Administrstating that the Option, or a
portion thereof, is exercised. The notice shakigaed by the Optionee or other person then edtitieexercise the Option or such portion of
Option;

(b) Full payment of the exercise price and appleatithholding taxes to the stock administratotted Company for the Shares w
respect to which the Option, or portion thereokxercised, in a manner permitted by Section 4rédig

(c) Any other written representations or documastsnay be required in the Administrator’s sole @igon to effect compliance
with all applicable provisions of the SecuritiestAte Exchange Act, any other federal, state mifm securities laws or regulations, the rules
of any securities exchange or automated quotagistes1 on which the Shares are listed, quoted dettrar any other applicable law; and

(d) In the event the Option or portion thereof Ebalexercised pursuant to Section 4.1 hereof gypanson or persons other than
the Optionee, appropriate proof of the right oftsperson or persons to exercise the Option.

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, the Compalglishave the right to specify all conditions oéttnanner of exercise, which conditic
may vary by country and which may be subject tingleafrom time to time.
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4.4 Method of PaymentPayment of the exercise price shall be by arthefollowing, or a combination thereof, at thectilen of the
Optionee:

(a) Cash;
(b) Check;

(c) With the consent of the Administrator, deliverdya written or electronic notice that the Optieri®&s placed a market sell order
with a broker with respect to Shares then issuapé exercise of the Option, and that the brokertfegen directed to pay a sufficient portiol
the net proceeds of the sale to the Company isfaation of the aggregate exercise prjpmyvided, that payment of such proceeds is then r
to the Company upon settlement of such sale;

(d) With the consent of the Administrator, surremoieother Shares which have been held by the @eédor such period of time as
may be required by the Administrator in order toidwadverse accounting consequences and having M&kket Value on the date of
surrender equal to the aggregate exercise pritteedbhares with respect to which the Option oriporthereof is being exercised,;

(e) With the consent of the Administrator, surreredeShares issuable upon the exercise of the Op#vimg a Fair Market Value
on the date of exercise equal to the aggregateiseeurice of the Shares with respect to whichQpton or portion thereof is being exercised,;
or

(H With the consent of the Administrator, suchetform of legal consideration as may be acceptabiee Administrator.

4.5 Conditions to Issuance of Stock Certificat&he Shares deliverable upon the exercise of {iteo, or any portion thereof, may be
either previously authorized but unissued Shareastiry Shares or issued Shares which have tharréaequired by the Company. Such
Shares shall be fully paid and nonassessable. dhg&ny shall not be required to issue or delivgraattificates or make any book entries
evidencing Shares purchased upon the exercise @jiion or portion thereof prior to fulfillment tie conditions set forth in Section 11.4 of
the Plan.

4.6 Rights as StockholdeiThe holder of the Option shall not be, nor hawe af the rights or privileges of, a stockholdettteé Company
in respect of any Shares purchasable upon theisgertany part of the Option unless and until sBbares shall have been issued by the
Company and held of record by such holder (as ecel@ by the appropriate entry on the books of the@ny or of a duly authorized transfer
agent of the Company). No adjustment will be mateafdividend or other right for which the recomtelis prior to the date the Shares are
issued, except as provided in Section 13.2 of the.P

ARTICLE V.
OTHER PROVISIONS

5.1 Administration The Administrator shall have the power to intetghe Plan and this Agreement and to adopt suek far the
administration, interpretation and applicationtod Plan as are consistent therewith and to intergngend or revoke any such rules. All actions
taken and all interpretations and determinationderiay the Administrator in good faith shall be finad binding upon the Optionee, the
Company and all other interested persons. No mewpftibe Administrator or the Board shall be perdigrigable for any action, determination
or interpretation made in good faith with respecthte Plan, this Agreement or the Option.
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5.2 Transferability of OptionExcept as otherwise set forth in the Plan:

(a) The Option may not be sold, pledged, assigméchnsferred in any manner other than by willke@ laws of descent and
distribution or, subject to the consent of the Adistrator, pursuant to a DRO, unless and untilQip&on has been exercised and the shares
underlying the Option have been issued, and alliciens applicable to such shares have lapsed;

(b) The Option shall not be liable for the debtmtcacts or engagements of the Optionee or theo@gti's successors in interest or
shall be subject to disposition by transfer, alteamg anticipation, pledge, hypothecation, encumbea assignment or any other means whether
such disposition be voluntary or involuntary ordperation of law by judgment, levy, attachmentnggtrment or any other legal or equitable
proceedings (including bankruptcy) unless and wih&lOption has been exercised, and any attem@pddition thereof prior to exercise shall
be null and void and of no effect, except to theeekthat such disposition is permitted by Seckdt(a) hereof; and

(c) During the lifetime of the Optionee, only thetidnee may exercise the Option (or any portiomebf), unless it has been
disposed of pursuant to a DRO; after the deathefiptionee, any exercisable portion of the Opti@y, prior to the time when such portion
becomes unexercisable under the Plan or this Agratrhe exercised by the Optionepersonal representative or by any person empovie
do so under the deceased Optionee’s will or urftetiten applicable laws of descent and distribution

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision in this A&gment, the Optionee may, in the manner deterntipede Administrator,
designate a beneficiary to exercise the righthief@ptionee and to receive any distribution wigpeet to the Option upon the Optionee’s
death. A beneficiary, legal guardian, legal repnéstive, or other person claiming any rights purdua the Plan is subject to all terms and
conditions of the Plan and this Agreement, excepié extent the Plan and this Agreement otherpiiseide, and to any additional restrictions
deemed necessary or appropriate by the Administddtihe Optionee is married or a domestic parinex domestic partnership qualified under
applicable law and resides in a community propstaye, a designation of a person other than theo@g®’s spouse or domestic partner, as
applicable, as his or her beneficiary with respechore than 50% of the Optionee’s interest in@Gpgion shall not be effective without the
prior written consent of the Optionsespouse or domestic partner. If no beneficiarytless designated or survives the Optionee, paysateti
be made to the person entitled thereto pursuahet@ptionee’s will or the laws of descent andribistion. Subject to the foregoing, a
beneficiary designation may be changed or revoketthd Optionee at any time provided the changewocation is filed with the
Administrator prior to the Optionee’s death.

5.3 LockUp Period. The Optionee hereby agrees that, if so requésteldde Company or any representative of the undemsr(the “
Managing Underwriter”) in connection with any registration of the offeg of any securities of the Company under the Bges Act or any
applicable state laws, the Optionee shall notaelitherwise transfer any Shares or other secsidtiehe Company during the 180-day period
(or such longer period as may be requested inngriby the Managing Underwriter and agreed to irimgiby the Company) following the
effective date of a registration statement of then@any filed under the Securities Act in connectidtin the Company’s initial public offering
of Common Stock (the Market Standoff Period’). The Company may impose sttqansfer instructions with respect to securitielgjsct to th
foregoing restrictions until the end of such Mar&&indoff Period and these restrictions shall beibg on any transferee of such shares of
Common Stock. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the-tlay period may be extended for up to such nurobadditional days as is deemed
necessary by the Company or the Managing Undemtdteontinue coverage by research analysts inrdaoce with NASD Rule 2711 or any
successor rule.
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5.4 Tax ConsultationThe Optionee understands that the Optionee nifgr fdverse tax consequences as a result of Hrg, gresting
and/or exercise of the Option, and/or with the pase or disposition of the Shares subject to théo@®pTrhe Optionee represents that the
Optionee has consulted with any tax consultant©ghgonee deems advisable in connection with threlase or disposition of such Shares
that the Optionee is not relying on the Companyafoy tax advice.

5.5 Adjustments The Optionee acknowledges that the Option isesultdp modification and termination in certain etgems provided in
this Agreement and Article 13 of the Plan.

5.6 Notices Any notice to be given under the terms of thiseggnent to the Company shall be addressed to thgp&uy in care of the
Secretary of the Company at the Company’s prin@ffade (or the Secretary’s email), and any notwée given to the Optionee shall be
addressed to the Optionee’s last address reflectede Company’s records (or the Optionee’s Compgamngil or, if the Optionee no longer has
a Company email address, to the email addressqed\y the Optionee at the time of his or her Teatidn of Service). Any notice which is
required to be given to the Optionee shall, if@mionee is then deceased, be given to the perddled to exercise his or her Option pursuant
to Section 4.1 hereof by written notice under Bgxtion 5.6. Any notice shall be deemed duly giwaen sent via email or when sent by
reputable overnight courier or by certified madt(rn receipt requested) through the United SRtssal Service.

5.7 Optionets Representationdf the Shares purchasable pursuant to the exeofithis Option have not been registered under the
Securities Act or any applicable state laws onféectve registration statement at the time thidi@pis exercised, the Optionee shall, if
required by the Company, concurrently with the eiser of all or any portion of this Option, make Isweritten representations as are deemed
necessary or appropriate by the Company and/cpiiasel.

5.8 Titles. Titles are provided herein for convenience omlgl are not to serve as a basis for interpretatiaonstruction of this
Agreement.

5.9 Governing Law The laws of the State of Delaware shall goveenitterpretation, validity, administration, enfomeent and
performance of the terms of this Agreement regasdté the law that might be applied under prinaggéconflicts of laws.

5.10 Conformity to Securities Lawd he Optionee acknowledges that the Plan andhifnisement are intended to conform to the extent
necessary with all provisions of the Securities &ud the Exchange Act and any and all regulatiodisrales promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission thereunder, and state sesuaties and regulations. Notwithstanding anythingelmeto the contrary, the Plan shall be
administered, and the Option is granted and magxbkecised, only in such a manner as to confornu¢t faws, rules and regulations. To the
extent permitted by applicable law, the Plan arngl Agreement shall be deemed amended to the exteessary to conform to such laws, rules
and regulations.

5.11 Amendments, Suspension and Terminatibm the extent permitted by the Plan, this Agreetmeay be wholly or partially amended
or otherwise modified, suspended or terminatechgtiane or from time to time by the Administratartbe Board provided, howeverthat,
except as may otherwise be provided by the Plamnmendment, modification, suspension or terminadioihis Agreement shall adversely
affect the Option in any material way without thr@pwritten consent of the Optionee.

5.12 Successors and Assigrshe Company may assign any of its rights underAlgreement to single or multiple assignees, aisl t
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the suomessand assigns of the Company. Subject to theashs on transfer herein set forth in this
Article 5, this Agreement shall be binding upon @tionee and his or her heirs, executors, admits, successors and assigns.
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5.13 Notification of Disposition If this Option is designated as an Incentive BtOption, the Optionee shall give prompt noticéh®
Company of any disposition or other transfer of 8mares acquired under this Agreement if such diipa or transfer is made (a) within two
(2) years from the Grant Date with respect to sbicares or (b) within one (1) year after the transfesuch Shares to the Optionee. Such notice
shall specify the date of such disposition or othemsfer and the amount realized, in cash, otregresty, assumption of indebtedness or other
consideration, by the Optionee in such dispositionther transfer.

5.14 Limitations Applicable to Section 16 Persoh®twithstanding any other provision of the Plartos Agreement, if the Optionee is
subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act, therPflaa, the Option and this Agreement shall be stibpeany additional limitations set forth in
any applicable exemptive rule under Section 1éefExchange Act (including any amendment to Rule36f the Exchange Act) that are
requirements for the application of such exemptive. To the extent permitted by applicable lavis thgreement shall be deemed amended to
the extent necessary to conform to such applicadenptive rule.

5.15 No Continued ServiceNothing in this Agreement or in the Plan shalifes upon the Optionee any right to continue tovsers an
Employee or other service provider of the Compangny of its Affiliates or shall interfere with eestrict in any way the rights of the
Company and its Affiliates, which rights are herebypressly reserved, to discharge or terminatsdéces of the Optionee at any time for
reason whatsoever, with or without Cause, excetta@xtent expressly provided otherwise in a emitigreement between the Company or an
Affiliate and the Optionee.

5.16 Entire AgreementThe Plan, the Grant Notice and this Agreememi\foling all Exhibits thereto, if any) constitutestantire
agreement of the parties and supersede in thefegnall prior undertakings and agreements ofGleenpany and the Optionee with respect to
the subject matter hereof.

5.17 Section 409A Notwithstanding any other provision of the Pldris Agreement or the Grant Notice, the Plan, Agseement and tr
Grant Notice shall be interpreted in accordancé tie requirements of Section 409A of the Codedtiogr with any Department of Treasury
regulations and other interpretive guidance isgsheceunder, including without limitation any sud@gyulations or other guidance that may be
issued after the date hereofséction 409A"). The Administrator may, in its discretion, adagpich amendments to the Plan, this Agreement or
the Grant Notice or adopt other policies and pracesl (including amendments, policies and procedwitisretroactive effect), or take any
other actions, as the Administrator determineshacessary or appropriate to comply with the requénets of Section 409A.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Alan H. Auerbach, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 106feuma Biotechnology, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedaoes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assereegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presénthad report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgualures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theittemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqmbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Alan H. Auerbach
Alan H. Auerbact

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 29, 2012



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Charles R. Eyler, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 106feuma Biotechnology, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, nk#adisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedanes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presénthad report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andgualures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repog) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s inted control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theittemmmittee of the registrant’s board of directfws persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqmbrt financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Charles R. Eyler
Charles R. Eyle

Senior Vice President, Finance and Administratiod a
Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourdi
Officer)

Date: March 29, 2012



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Alan H. Auerbach, President and Chief Execu@fécer of Puma Biotechnology, Inc. (the “Companyrtify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Segi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, eolibst of my knowledge:

1. The accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-khef€ompany for the annual period ended Decembe2(1, (the “Report”) fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) #o(l) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,rasreded (15 U.S.C. 78m); and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Alan H. Auerbacl
Alan H. Auerbact

President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 29, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.@581and is not being filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities ExchangeofA1934, as amended, and is not to be incorpdray reference into any filing of the
Company, whether made before or after the dateoheepardless of any general incorporation languaguch filing. A signed original of th
statement has been provided to the Company andeviietained by the Company and furnished to tleeir8ees and Exchange Commission or
its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Charles R. Eyler, Senior Vice President, Finaaed Administration and Treasurer of Puma Biotettmg Inc. (the “Company);
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agptatbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxepf 2002, that, to the best of my
knowledge:

1. The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamtifie annual period ended December 31, 2011 (tlepdR”) fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13(a) and 15(d) oftbeurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (150J&m); and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdititon and results of operations of the
Company.

/sl Charles R. Eyler
Charles R. Eyle

Senior Vice President, Finance and Administratiod a
Treasurer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accourdi
Officer)

Date: March 29, 2012

The foregoing certification is being furnished $pl® accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.@581and is not being filed for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities ExchangeofA1934, as amended, and is not to be incorpdray reference into any filing of the
Company, whether made before or after the dateohewgardless of any general incorporation languagsuch filing. A signed original of th
statement has been provided to the Company andeviiétained by the Company and furnished to tleeir8es and Exchange Commission or
its staff upon reques



